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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small
and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to
invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may
be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of TREE Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ER®E

To our Shareholders

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

After 15 years of establishment in Hong Kong, our Group is one of the leading
lifestyle furniture and home furnishing companies in Hong Kong and China. In
Hong Kong, we operate under the brand name “TREE", and engage in (i) the sale
and distribution of furniture and home accessories; (i) the sale and distribution
through licensing in China and USA; (iii) the operation of TREE Café at the
Group's flagship store in Hong Kong; (iv) the provision of styling and consulting
services; and (v) the provision of a furniture rental business.

New endeavours during the financial year included adding a new online
e-commerce platform in May 2019 which eases our reliance on our three
retail stores and provides an additional shopping channel for our customers.
Moreover, we launched a new furniture rental business for the Hong Kong
market in August 2019 to diversify our offering and services to our customers.

Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Hong Kong ltaliving International Co. Limited
("HK Italiving”) focuses on the sourcing and distribution of high-end Italian
made furniture in China. HK lItaliving has offices in Hong Kong and ltaly to
maintain a unique merchandising network with Italian furniture manufacturers,
and offers a wide variety of furniture products to individuals and wholesale
customers, as well as renovation projects throughout China.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the total revenue of the Company was
approximately HK$91.1 million, an increase of approximately HK$5.7 million,
mainly attributable to an increase of commission income from HK Italiving
which was acquired by the Group in December 2018. The gross profit margin of
the Group increased slightly from approximately 67.8% to 71.6%.

The economy and retail business in Hong Kong has been hard hit since the
middle of 2019 due to the political unrest, followed by the unexpected COVID-19
outbreak happening at the end of 2019.

The Group's furniture agency service revenue was also negatively affected
since the COVID-19 outbreak which saw a complete lockdown of certain
Chinese cities. Unfortunately, Italy which is a major source of furniture products
for the China market was also in lockdown for a number of months in early
2020.

Amidst all these challenges, we are pleased to report that the Group has

achieved a net profit of HK$5.2 million, which is HK$4.1 million or 377.7% higher
than the last financial year of HK$1.1 million.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 R1Z R PR A & Annual Report F % 2020

&I
EEHRE
AREERAES CBTAFEE  RER

AEBRTHRELENEERENRERKH AR
Z— o BB BPIAIMREEl MG BB ¥
%o HEB(EHERDHEFRERREE : (i)EB
BHETAREEBRRFPEEER D HE®: (i)
RN & B & B HE 5 48 & TREE Café : (iv) HE
RETRERRT  RVIEHERERERT -

7N B B 2RO ¥ R B FE R 2019 F 5 A HE 2 8T 4
FEFRBFE  BEMAATHDEEET =M
ZEE RARATFPERNEBRE - I R
FIR209FBAH BB EMSRRFINERERE
X REFPRHEEZTLENERLRE -

ET2ENBRAREEEZTERBRESAR
RE([BRABREHRDETFEFZINRERS
HERBAMNERE FEEZHRREBEL
BANRERER  #EESANKERER
MBEAERBAG RaPEAEARBERP
REZTEHEREERRETREER -

MBEE

HE2020F3A3BLEFE AARRKELD A
NIBEBEBIT EBMLSTAEEB L FE2HR
REAEER0BFNRAKBENEBEZHRN
A& U A8 0 BT B - N5 B FI 5K /B 4967.8% 11
FZE716% °

B2019F FLARBUATE 2 EETE - 22019F K

FRABECOVID9 » BEAERLBERTEEBXD
B

A& B R EAIE IR Y & B COVID-19%% 3% 2 71 [
ETHEBETmE2AHAMZIEmTE - B4
BT FRATETSEREEREIZREENE

RHMIRR20205F V) H M BA -

BiEmY EiEEsks - RPIAMAZER - A
EEHBSEANIEER T BLE—VHRFERN
ESEBTIE N E 8B T - 218 K3777% °



THE FUTURE

While | am writing this statement, we continue to see the political and
social unrest happening in Hong Kong and we are still hard fighting with
COVID-19. Our industry continues to be challenged with highly competitive
retail market conditions and the prevalence of weak consumer confidence
and spending in Hong Kong. However, we will continue to take advantage of
growth opportunities to improve our competitive positioning. For example, the
outbreak of the COVID-19 heightened internal awareness of the importance of
g-commerce as a ‘remote’ revenue driver and, as a result, we are focused on
strengthening the operation of our online shopping platform.

Our sales team is working hard to revive the Italian furniture business, and we
are glad to see that Italy is slowly recovering from the COVID-19 crisis.

THE FINAL NOTE

The Group is proud of the TREE brand that was founded in Hong Kong and has
grown with heart and integrity over the last fifteen years. Now, as a much
loved and trusted source of beautiful, high quality home furnishings in Hong
Kong, we are pleased to extend the reach of the TREE brand into the US and
China.

On behalf of the Board, we would like to thank all TREE staff members, our
suppliers, partners and, of course, our customers for their continuous support of
TREE.

Tong Tang Joseph
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
24 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Headquartered in Hong Kong and operating under the brand name “TREE", we
engage in (i) the sale and distribution of furniture and home accessories; (i) the
distribution and licencing of our intellectual property rights; (i) the operation
of TREE Café in our flagship store in Ap Lei Chau (the “Flagship Store”); (iv)
consignment sales of home accessories and furniture agency services; (v) the
provision of styling and consulting services and (vi) provision of furniture rental
business. We offer a variety of (i) furniture including tables, chairs, storage
solutions, sofas and beds; and (i) home accessories including kitchenware,
bed and bathroom related products, jars, cushions, mattresses, utensils and
baskets. In addition, we acquired, Hong Kong Italiving International Company
Limited (“HK Italiving”) in December 2018, and it is principally engaged in
the provision of furniture agency service. Furthermore, a subsidiary, Shanghai
Italiving International Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Italiving”), was incorporated in
July 2019.

As at the date of this report, we operated three “TREE" retail stores in Hong
Kong namely, our Flagship Store, our Sha Tin store, and our Yuen Long store
which we opened in May 2018. We have commercial online sales since May
2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, we generated revenue from the (i) sale
of furniture and home accessories; (ii) distribution and license fee income;
(iii) operation of TREE Café; (iv) consignment sales of home accessories and
furniture agency service; and (v) provision of styling and consulting services.
The table below sets forth a breakdown of our revenue for the years ended 31
March 2020 and 2019:
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Year ended 31 March

BZ3ANBLFE
2020 2019
2020 20194F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAET
Sale of furniture and home accessories HEFRERRE KA 70,721 73,296
Distribution and license fee income DI RFFAIEEWRA 3,286 3,432
Food and beverage income B kR mBA 2,611 2,818
Commission income el A 13,616 2,822
Consulting income AU A 869 3,040
91,103 85,408

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (“FY2020"), our revenue amounted to
approximately HK$91.1 million, representing an increase of approximately
HK$5.7 million or 6.7% from approximately HK$85.4 million for year ended 31
March 2019 (“FY2019"). Such increase was mainly attributable to the increase
in the commission income, partly offset by the decrease in sale of furniture and
home accessories and consulting income.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEF RS

Sale of furniture and home accessories HERERXEOE

TREE primarily sells its products to (i) retail customers who visited our retail  TREEX B ERE T ERFAZEENTER
stores, being the Direct Sales; and (ii) our distributor in the PRC, being the P - ENEHEHE : (iR MANTE S #E - Ao
Distribution Sales. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our sale of ~ $53$5 & ° N R #7120208 R &F /& & 201981 B F &
furniture and home accessories by the Direct Sales and Distribution Sales for R EEHER D HBEES P NERERKER

FY2020 and FY2019, respectively. HEBRM:
2020 2019
20204 20194
% of total % of total
revenue from revenue from
sale of furniture sale of furniture
and home and home
Revenue accessories Revenue accessories
EHEERRA 158 E®RE
& X EE 5 R & BL &
B W FENl ]
g Bok & Bkt
HK$°000 % HK$'000 %
THET Bat FETT Bl
Direct Sales BEEHE
Flagship Store B A T 50,875 7.9 52,410 715
Sai Kung store! FEEN — — 1,117 15
Yuen Long store® TCERIE@ 213 3.8 3,009 4.1
Sha Tin store W H & 11,840 16.7 15,026 205
Online sales® M EEE 3,582 5.1 — —
Sub-total INET 69,010 97.6 71,562 97.6
Distribution Sales DEHHE 1,111 2.4 1,734 24
Total @t 70,721 100.0 73,296 100.0
Notes: P& -
(1) Our Sai Kung store ceased operations in May 2018. (1) FEEIER2018F5AF L& -
(2) Our Yuen Long store commenced operations in May 2018. (2) TCEAJE A20184F5 A 1A & % -
(3) Our Online sales launched in May 2019. (3) 4 ER2019F5/ HEH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWEDN

For FY2020, revenue generated from the Direct Sales maintained at
approximately HK$69.0 million, representing a slight decrease of approximately
HK$2.6 million or 3.6% from approximately HK$71.6 million for FY2019.

For FY2020, revenue generated from the Distribution Sales amounted to
approximately HK$1.7 million, which remains stable as compared to FY2019.

Distribution and license fee income

We entered into distribution agreements with our PRC distributor, and we are
entitled to receive annual non-refundable fees of HK$2.4 million and HK$0.8
million from our PRC distributor for the distribution of our products in Beijing
and Hainan province, the PRC, respectively.

We entered into licence agreements with American Tree, Ltd. (“American
Tree"), pursuant to which, we granted an exclusive licence to American Tree
to use certain trademarks and intellectual property of our Group in the United
States and Canada for a term of three years from the Listing on 25 January
2018, for a license fee based on the revenue of American Tree. We recognised
license fee income of approximately HK$86,000 from American Tree for FY2020
and HK$0.2 million in FY2019.

Our distribution and license fee income was approximately HK$3.3 million
for FY2020 and HK$3.4 million for FY2019, respectively, representing
approximately 3.6% and 4.0% of our total revenue for FY2020 and FY2019,
respectively.

Food and beverage income

Our food and beverage income generated from operating TREE Café in our
Flagship Store was approximately HK$2.6 million and HK$2.8 million for FY2020
and FY2019, respectively. The decrease was mainly due to less customers as a
result of the outbreak of the COVID-19 since December 2019.

Commission income

Our commission income comprised income generated from (i) the furniture
agency service by HK ltaliving and (ii) the sales of consignment goods. The
increase of approximately HK$10.8 million was mainly contributed by HK
[taliving, which was acquired in December 2018.

Consulting income

Our consulting income comprised income generated from providing styling
ideas, advising on furniture to be used and conducting site visits and sourcing
trips for projects. During FY2020, the Group provided less styling and consulting
services in relation to Hong Kong residential show flats as compared to FY2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue increased to approximately HK$91.1 million for FY2020
from approximately HK$85.4 million for FY2019, representing a growth of
approximately 6.7%. Such increase was mainly due to the increase in the
commission income generated from HK Italiving for providing furniture agency
service in FY2020 as compared to FY2019.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our overall gross profit increased to approximately HK$65.3 million for FY2020
from approximately HK$57.9 million for FY2019. Our overall gross profit margin
improved to approximately 71.6% for FY2020 from approximately 67.8% for
FY2019.

Our gross profit margin for the sale of furniture and home accessories remained
stable at approximately 66.7% for FY2020 and approximately 66.5% for
FY2019, the gross profit margin remained relatively stable. Qur gross profit
margin for the Distribution Sales was approximately 50.0% for FY2019 and
approximately 50.1% for FY2020, which remained relatively stable.

Our gross profit margin for the sale of food and beverages remained relatively
stable at approximately 64.3% for FY2020 and approximately 64.0% for
FY2019.

Selling and marketing expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses comprise (i) rental payments and
depreciation of right-of-use assets; (ii) staff costs attributable to the salary of
our staff engaged in sales and marketing activities; (i) marketing expenses; (iv)
payment gateway charges attributable to fees for our payment channels such
as credit cards or EPS; and (v) electricity and water expenses.

Our selling and marketing expenses amounted to approximately HK$33.7
million for FY2020, representing a decrease of approximately HK$3.3 million
or approximately 9.0% from approximately HK$37.0 million for FY2019. Such
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in staff costs resulting from the
decrease in bonus to salespersons for FY2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWEDN

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses comprised (i) staff costs for our administrative
staff and Directors’ emoluments; (i) professional fees which included legal
fees, consultancy fees and auditor’s remuneration; (iii) travel expenses; (iv)
office expenses; (v) depreciation of our property, plant and equipment, and
amortisation of our intangible assets; (vi) repairs and maintenance for our trucks
and retail stores; (vii) insurance expenses which included business insurance,
vehicle insurance and medical insurance; (viii) recruitment expenses which
included fees to the recruitment agents and advertisements on websites; (ix)
bank charges; (x) handling fee; and (xi) others which included motor vehicle
expenses, net foreign exchange losses and entertainment expenses.

For FY2020, our administrative expenses amounted to approximately
HK$19.4 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$0.5 million
or approximately 2.9% as compared to approximately HK$18.8 million for
FY2019. Such increase was primarily due to the handling fee for the operation
of HK Italiving acquired on December 2018, partially offset by the decrease in
recruitment cost.

Fair value change on contingent consideration payable
Fair value change on contingent consideration payable amounted to HK$3.4
million is the fair value recognised in profit or loss on contingent consideration
payable for FY2020.

The fair value of the contingent consideration payable may be affected by
the post-acquisition performance of the HK Italiving. The fair value was
determined by the management with reference to the valuation performed by
an independent external valuer. We will assess the valuation of the contingent
consideration payable annually, and there would be a potential fair value loss
on the contingent consideration payable with a maximum exposure of HK$3.2
million for FY2021.

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly comprised interest expenses on interest-bearing
borrowings and finance charges on lease liabilities. Finance costs were
approximately HK$0.7 million and HK$0.3 million for FY2020 and FY2019,
respectively. The increase was primarily due to the adoption of HKFRS 16 since
1 April 2019.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense for the Group increased to approximately HK$2.4 million for
FY2020 from approximately HK$1.0 million for FY2019. The increase was mainly
due to the increase in taxable profits.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Profit for the year

Our Group recorded an increase in profit by approximately 377.7% from
approximately HK$1.1 million for FY2019 to approximately HK$5.2 million for
FY2020.

KEY FINANCIAL POSITION ITEMS

Inventories

Our inventories consisted of finished goods and goods in transit which we
purchased from our suppliers. The inventories balance decreased to HK$11.6
million as at 31 March 2020 from approximately HK$13.8 million as at 31 March
2019, which was mainly in line with the drop of the sales of furniture and home
accessories.

Trade and other receivables

Our trade receivables consisted of trade receivables from customers and
payment vendors. As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, our trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$43.1 million and HK$24.7 million, respectively.
The increase of approximately HK$18.4 million was mainly due to the increase
in trade receivables of HK Italiving.

Our other receivables consisted of rental deposits, utilities deposits, trade
deposits, prepayments, and prepayment to a related company. As at 31 March
2020 and 2019, our other receivables amounted to approximately HK$9.4 million
and HK$11.0 million, respectively.

Bank balance and cash

Bank balance and cash include cash at bank and in hand. As at 31 March 2020
and 2019, our bank balance and cash amounted to approximately HK$16.8
million and HK$22.8 million, respectively. For the details of cash movement,
please refer to the consolidated statement of cash flows on pages 86 to 87.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWEDN

Trade and other payables

Our trade payables consisted of trade payables to suppliers in relation to the
purchase of goods. There were no credit periods granted by our suppliers. As
at 31 March 2020 and 2019, our trade payables amounted to approximately
HK$7.3 million and HK$4.2 million, respectively.

Our other payables comprised accrued charges, consideration payable which
represent the unpaid cash consideration for the acquisition of HK Italiving,
and provision for long service payments. As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, our
other payables amounted to approximately HK$15.5 million and HK$7.6 million,
respectively. The increase was mainly due to the redesignation of contingent
consideration payable as consideration payable of HK$12.3 million based on
the audited results of HK Italiving for FY2019 which remained unpaid as at 31
March 2020.

Contract liabilities

Our contract liabilities mainly represented unrecognised revenue from
customers where delivery of products is required and pending. As at 31 March
2020 and 2019, our contract liabilities amounted to approximately HK$4.7
million and HK$10.6 million, respectively. The decrease was mainly due to a
drop in our retail sales during February and March 2020 as compared to the
same period in 2019.

Bank borrowings

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, our Group recorded bank borrowings of
approximately HK$5.7 million and HK$0.5 million, respectively. The increase
in bank borrowings was mainly due to the drawdown of a new bank facility
granted to HK Italiving.

Lease liabilities/ Finance lease liabilities

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, our Group recorded lease liabilities/ finance
lease liabilities of approximately HK$20.2 million and HK$1.1 million,
respectively. Such increase was due to the adoption of the HKFRS 16 “Leases”
since 1 April 2019. Our Group recognised lease liabilities relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17 “Leases”.
As at 31 March 2020, our Group has entered into leases for warehouse, office,
shop premises and motor vehicles.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$129.1
million, which is financed by total liabilities and Shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$73.6 million and HK$55.5 million, respectively. The
Group's current ratio at 31 March 2020 was approximately 1.8 compared to
approximately 3.1 at 31 March 2019.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2020 was approximately
46.7% while as at 31 March 2019 was approximately 3.2%. The gearing ratio
increased significantly as a result of the increased bank borrowings and the
adoption of HKFRS 16 during FY2020.

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the total interest-bearing borrowings
and lease/finance lease liabilities divided by total equity at each reporting date.

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure for FY2020 was approximately HK$0.6 million, which
was mainly used for the purchase of furniture and fixtures and leasehold
improvements.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2020, there were no significant contingent liabilities for the
Group.

Commitments
As at 31 March 2020, the Group has no operating lease commitments (2019:
HK$13.7 million).

As at 31 March 2020, there were no capital commitments of the Group related
to purchase of property, plant and equipment (2019: Nil).

Charges on Group assets

As at 31 March 2020, right of use assets with net book value of approximately
HK$20.5 million were held under lease arrangements (2019: motor vehicles with
net book value of approximately HK$1.1 million were held under finance leases).

Segment information
Segment information is presented for the Group as disclosed on Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWEDN

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 25 January 2018. There has been no change in the capital
structure of the Group since then. The share capital of the Group only comprises
of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2020, the Company'’s issued share capital was HK$15,840,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,584,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for FY2020
(FY2019: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

There was no significant investments, material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries and associated companies during FY2020.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any concrete plan for material
investments or capital assets for the coming year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

In the course of conducting business, our Group is exposed to various types
of risks, including operational risks, credit risks, liquidity risk and interest
rate risks. Our Group has established a set of risk management policies and
measures to identify, evaluate and manage risks arising from our operations.

The followings set out some of the primary operational risks our Group faces
that may materially and adversely affect our Group's business, financial
condition and results of operation and our risk management measures:

1. Risk of remaining competitive in a highly

fragmented and competitive market

The lifestyle furniture and home furnishing market is highly fragmented
and competitive with low barriers to entry, and there are no specific
market leaders. Our competitors may have greater financial, marketing,
personnel and other relevant resources compared to us. In particular,
the pricing strategies implemented by our competitors may affect the
pricing of our products. If our competitors significantly reduce their
product prices, we may have to reduce our selling prices or engage in
further marketing to remain competitive. This would likely reduce our
revenue and profitability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Risk of dependent on the shift in customer’s tastes
and preferences

Due to the nature of the furniture retail industry, the customers generally
purchase our products on an infrequent basis. Apart from the PRC
distributor, there is no purchase commitments from our customers and
there is no obligation for them to purchase any products from us in the
future. There is a risk that we may not be able to attract new customers
or existing customers to purchase our products if we fail to successfully
track changing customers tastes and preferences and market trends.

Risk of failure in expanding sales network to new
locations in Hong Kong or through online platform

It may take longer than expected for the new stores to reach breakeven
or achieve investment payback, if at all. There is no guarantee that we
will execute our expansion plans according to business strategies in the
prospectus of the Company dated 12 January 2018 (the “Prospectus”)
successfully, or that we will be able to attract more customers from our
expansion. If we fail to execute our expansion plans, our operations and
results of operations will be materially and adversely affected.

Risk of not entering into any long-term contracts
with our major suppliers

We rely on our major suppliers to supply products to us and we do not
have any long-term contracts with these suppliers. As such, we are
exposed to the risks such as unexpected price fluctuation, shortage of
supply of products, failure to meet our agreed delivery time and refusal
to supply products. In such case, we would have to look for alternative
suppliers and we may not be able to do so in a timely manner and/or
at a similar price with comparable quality. Further, if we fail to replace
our major suppliers when our business relationship is disrupted or
terminated, we may face a shortage in supply of certain products and
our business and results of operations may be adversely affected as a
result.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWEDN

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

As our Group’s revenue and expenses are mainly denominated in HK$ and
most of our Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in HKS$, which is our
functional currency, except for certain overseas purchases, bank balances, bank
borrowings which are denominated in Euro or USD. During FY2020, the Group
has net exchange loss of approximately HK$0.8 million (FY2019: approximately
HK$0.1 million).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a total of 73 employees. Total staff costs,
(including Directors” emoluments) of approximately HK$21.9 million for FY2020
(FY2019: approximately HK$24.1 million).

The Group's remuneration policies were determined with reference to the
performance, qualification and experience of individual employee, as well as
the results of the Group and the market conditions. We have also adopted the
share option scheme which is designed to provide incentives and rewards to our
employees.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Except for investments in subsidiaries, the Group did not hold any significant
investments during FY2020.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

This forthcoming financial year will continue to be challenging as retail market
conditions remain competitive and weak consumer confidence and spending
in Hong Kong prevails while impacted by the outbreak of the COVID-19. These
factors will continue to impact our performance adversely for the forthcoming
year. In addition to running our three TREE retail stores in Hong Kong, the
management recognises the need to expand our revenue streams. The Group
has already seen growth in additional opportunities in styling and consulting
services and will continue to focus on the development of this area of the
business. The Group has also launched our e-commerce store which enables
the opportunity to auto-generate sales 24/7, in addition to establishing a new
furniture rental business, with the view to becoming a key player in this sector.
Both of these ventures are important developments, and investments, by which
the business can enjoy sustainable growth.

The Group has also strengthened its income base and expended the products
offered within its portfolio by providing furniture agency services for furniture
imported from Italy, primarily to customers in the PRC. The Group continues to
look for ways to provide comprehensive services to customers in Hong Kong
and the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the Listing in January 2018, after deducting the
underwriting fees, the Stock Exchange trading fee and the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (the "SFC") transaction levy and
other listing-related expenses in connection with the Share Offer, were
approximately HK$20.3 million.

The actual net proceeds from the issue of new shares of the Company under the
Share Offer was different from the estimated net proceeds of approximately
HK$22.7 million as set out in the Prospectus. The Group adjusted the use of
proceeds in the same manner and in the same proportion as shown in the
Prospectus, which is (i) approximately 71.5% of the total actual net proceeds,
or approximately HK$14.5 million will be used to expand our sales network, (ii)
approximately 10.1% of the total actual net proceeds, or approximately HK$2.1
million, will be used to promote and strengthen brand image and recognition,
(iii) approximately 9.1% of the total actual net proceeds, or approximately
HK$1.8 million, will be used to enhance our styling and consulting services
and distribution sales, and (iv) approximately 9.3% of the total actual net
proceeds, or approximately HK$1.9 million, will be used to enhance operational
efficiencies.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 March 2020, the Group has
utilised HK$12.3 million, or 60.6% of the actual net proceeds from the Listing
for the staff costs of an interior designer; the establishment of an e-commerce
platform; the enhancement of the POS system; and for the leasehold
improvement, marketing, deposit and rental of the Yuen Long store opened in
May 2018.

As disclosed in our Group's announcement dated 19 June 2020, the Board
resolved to change the use of unutilised net proceeds. The revised proposed
change of use of the unutilised net proceeds would be for the settlement of the
future consideration payable in relation to the acquisition HK Italiving, which
was completed on 31 December 2018.

For details, please refer to the announcement of our Group dated 19 June 2020.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENGREER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (& %), aged 60, is our Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer our Executive Director and the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.
He was appointed as our Director on 22 April 2016 and designated as our
Chairman and Non-Executive Director on 6 September 2016 and re-designated
as a Chairman, a Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of the Company
on 1 August 2019. He is also a Director of TREE Limited. He is responsible for
supporting our Group on a strategic level.

Mr. Tong has more than 30 years of experience in the financial industry. Mr.
Tong was an Executive Director of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (stock code: 86),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from December
2003 to January 2016. He also held various senior positions at Sun Hung Kai &
Co. Limited from December 2004 to January 2016 such as the Chief Executive
Officer of its wealth management, brokerage and capital markets and the Chief
Executive Officer of its capital markets and institutional brokerage. Mr. Tong
was also a Director of Bali International Finance Limited (now known as Sun
Hung Kai Structured Finance Limited) from March 2004 to January 2016. From
July 2013 to July 20186, he was an Independent Non-Executive Director of Carry
Wealth Holdings Limited (stock code: 643), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Tong was a Non-Executive Director and the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of Mason Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 273), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from April 2016 to January
2018. He was Chairman of the Board of Directors of Mason Group Holdings
Limited from April 2016 to September 2016, and Joint Chairman from
September 2016 to January 2018. He was also a substantial shareholder of
Mason Group Holdings Limited from May 2016 to December 2017. Mr. Tong was
also an Independent Director of Jih Sun Financial Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 5820), the shares of which are listed on the Taipei Exchange in
Taiwan, between 2009 and June 2019.

Mr. Tong obtained a degree of Bachelor of Social Sciences (Honours) from
the University of Hong Kong in November 1982 and a degree of Master of
Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in October
1988. He was admitted as a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in November 2000 and advanced to fellowship status in November
2005.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington, aged 49, is our Executive Director, Managing
Director and a member of our Nomination Committee. She was appointed as
one of our Directors on 9 March 2016, and designated as our Chief Executive
Officer and Executive Director on 6 September 2016. From 1 August 2019, Mr.
Tong Tang Joseph took over the Chief Executive Officer role on the board. She
joined our Group in February 2010 as the Managing Director of TREE Limited
and is also a Director of TREE Limited. Ms. Babington is responsible for the
strategy of TREE Limited and for the implementation on an operational level,
across all functions including but not limited to internal management, human
resources, marketing, merchandising, sales and delivery.

Ms. Babington has more than 24 years of experience in the retail industry.
From May 1993 to January 2010, Ms. Babington worked in The Body Shop
International PLC.

In February 1993, Ms. Babington graduated from the University of Central
Lancashire in the United Kingdom with a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in
Business and Finance. In November 1996, she obtained a Certificate in Applied
Professional Studies from the University of Brighton in the United Kingdom. She
obtained a degree of Master of Arts in Marketing from the Kingston University
in the United Kingdom in October 1998. In November 2003, Ms. Babington
completed the social systems auditor/lead auditor training course provided by
SGS Hong Kong Limited.

Ms. Babington became an Associate (corporate) of the Chartered Institute of
Marketing in the United Kingdom in December 1996. She was also admitted
as a Member of the Chartered Institute of Marketing in the United Kingdom in
November 1998.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENGREER

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak (& 284 ), aged 38, is our Executive Director, a member
of our Remuneration Committee and our Compliance Officer. He was appointed
as our Director on 9 March 2016 and designated as our Executive Director
on 6 September 2016. He joined our Group in June 2015 as a Director of Tree
Limited. Mr. Tsui is responsible for managing the financial matters of our Group.

Mr. Tsui has more than 15 years of experience in the accounting and corporate
field. Mr. Tsui has been the Chief Executive Officer of AE Majoris Advisory
Company Limited which is principally engaged in the provision of corporate
advisory services, since January 2012. He was the Company Secretary of
Noble House (China) Holdings Limited (now known as Zhonghua Gas Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 8246), a company listed on GEM, from July 2013 to August
2014. From August 2004 to January 2012, Mr. Tsui worked in an international
accounting firm in Hong Kong with his last position as a Manager in auditing.
Mr. Tsui was a Non-Executive Director of CCT Land Holdings Limited (stock
code: 261), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from
January 2017 to April 2018. Mr. Tsui has been the Company Secretary of Ching
Lee Holdings Limited (stock code: 3728), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, since 14 August 2017. Mr. Tsui has been the Non-Executive
Director and Company Secretary of Jiu Zun Digital Interactive Entertainment
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1961), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, since February 2019.

Mr. Tsui was appointed by the Embassy of the Republic of the Uganda in Beijing
as Honorary Trade, Tourism and Investment Consultant/Adviser on China (Hong
Kong and Macau SAR) from November 2016 to June 2019.

Mr. Tsui was appointed as a member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Qinzhou City in Guangxi Province in China since
December 2019.

Mr. Tsui was appointed by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional
Integration of the Republic of Ghana as Honorary Consul of Ghana in Hong Kong
in March 2020.

Mr. Tsui graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
with a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting
in November 2004. He was admitted as a Certified Public Accountant and a
Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in January 2009 and January 2012, respectively.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles (15 32 &), aged 52, was appointed as
our Independent Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also
the Chairman of our Audit Committee and a member of our Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Yeung has over 25 years of experience in accounting, auditing and financial
management. Mr. Yeung has been the Chief Financial Officer and an Executive
Director of GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited (“GCL-Poly”) (stock code: 3800),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since May and
September 2014, respectively, responsible for its financial management and
control. He has also been the Company Secretary of GCL-Poly since March 2017.
Since September 2015, Mr. Yeung has also been a Non-Executive Director of
GCL New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 451), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is also a director of Millennial Lithium
Corp., a company with its shares listed on the TSX Venture Exchange in
Canada.

From May 1994 to March 2014, Mr. Yeung worked at Deloitte China with his
last position being a Partner. From January 2008 to December 2008, Mr. Yeung
was a part-time member of the Central Policy Unit of the Government of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Yeung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business with a major in
Accounting from Edith Cowan University in Australia in February 1992. He was
admitted as an associate and a certified practising accountant of the Australian
Society of Certified Practising Accountants in February 1992 and January 1996,
respectively. He was also admitted as a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in June 1996.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENGREER

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin (& {2 B ), aged 59, was appointed as our Independent
Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also a member of our
Audit Committee and Nomination committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Tsang has extensive expertise in commercial building and interior
architecture and has over 20 years of experience as a leader of design team in a
broad variety of projects. Mr. Tsang has been a Director of AGC Design Limited
since November 1999.

Mr. Tsang graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a degree of
Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in Architectural Studies in November 1982 and
a degree of Bachelor of Architecture in November 1985. He also obtained a
degree of Master of Business and Administration from the University of Toronto
in Canada in June 1992.

Mr. Tsang was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Architects
and elected into membership of the Royal Institute of British Architects
in December 1986 and July 1987, respectively. He was also admitted as a
professional member of the Hong Kong Interior Design Association in 2001
and was a founding member of the World Association of Chinese Architects in
April 2004. Mr. Tsang was accredited a PRC Class 1 Registered Architect of the
National Administration Board of Architectural Registration (Qualification) in
August 2004, and admitted as an APEC Architect by the Central Council of the
Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation in December 2015. He currently holds the
Certificate of Registration of Authorised Person (list of architects) issued by the
Building Authority in Hong Kong and is a registered architect in Hong Kong.

Mr. Tsang is appointed by the Government of Hong Kong as a member of the
Architects Registration Board for the period from May 2016 to May 2020.
He was also appointed by the Government of Hong Kong as a member of the
Contractors Registration Committee Panel from January 2004 to December
2008. He was a member of the Authorised Persons Registration Committee
and the Authorised Persons Registration Committee Panel of the Buildings
Department from January 2006 to December 2011, and an alternate member
of the Advisory Committee of Barrier Free Access of the Buildings Department
from July 2007 to July 2009.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth ( & & Z ), aged 61, was appointed as our
Independent Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also the
Chairman of our Remuneration Committee and a member of our Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Sit has over 30 years of experience in the legal profession. He is a
practicing solicitor and Notary Public in Hong Kong. Mr. Sit was the sole-
proprietor of Kenneth Sit, Solicitors from October 2004 to October 2012,
and has been the Managing Partner of that firm since October 2012. Mr. Sit
has been an Independent Non-Executive Director of Pokfulam Development
Company Limited (stock code: 225), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, since October 2005 and Zijin Mining Group Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 2899 and 601899), a company dually listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange, during 2013 to 2019.

Mr. Sit graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Laws
(Honours) in 1980 and was awarded the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws by the
University of Hong Kong in July 1981. He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in March 1983.
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ESENGREER

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Kong Chi Tong (3T 2{ E), aged 38, is the Senior Merchandiser of TREE
Limited. He is responsible for product sourcing of TREE Limited.

Mr. Kong has over eight years of experience in merchandising. Before joining
our Group in September 2011, he worked at a number of companies, including
(i) OVO Limited from April 2006 to February 2008 as a Merchandiser; and
(i) Impact Creation Limited from July 2004 to January 2006 as an Assistant
Merchandiser.

Mr. Kong obtained a degree of Associate of Arts in General Studies and
a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Business
Management from the City University of Hong Kong in November 2003 and
November 2005, respectively.

Ms. Tang Wai Chun Annie (¥ 18 ), aged 52, is the Personnel Officer of
TREE Limited. She is responsible for the administration and human resources
affairs of TREE Limited.

Ms. Tang has over 13 years of experience in administration, human resources
and personnel management. Before joining our Group in March 2009, she
worked at a number of companies, including (i) Café O Limited from April 2008
to March 2009 as a human resources Assistant, primarily responsible for
human resources matters; (i) Stanley’s Restaurants for at least 6 years ending
December 1996 as a Personnel and Administration Officer and a Personal
Assistant to the Chief Executive and Directors, primarily responsible for
updating and improving the personnel policies of the company, and dealing with
all day-to-day personnel administration; and (iii) the Repulse Bay Restaurants
from May 1989 to April 1990 as an Administration Coordinator, primarily
responsible for all of the administration and personnel affairs of over 100
employees.

Ms. Tang obtained a Diploma in Hotel Management from Swiss Hotel &
Catering Colleges in Switzerland in April 1988.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Lam Yiu Cho (##84%8), aged 38, is our Company Secretary. He joined our
Group in March 2016.

Mr. Lam has more than 11 years of experience in the accounting and corporate
industry. Since March 2016, Mr. Lam has been working for AE Majoris
Advisory Company Limited. From August 2008 to February 2016, Mr. Lam
worked at First Pacific Company Limited with his last position being Corporate
Development Manager in the corporate development department, responsible
for overseeing mergers and acquisitions projects of the company. From January
2006 to August 2008, Mr. Lam worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu with his
last position being Senior in the Audit Department. From September 2004 to
January 2006, Mr. Lam worked at Ernst & Young as Staff Accountant in the
assurance and advisory business services department.

Mr. Lam graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
with a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting
in November 2004. He was admitted as a Certified Public Accountant and a
Certified Public Accountant (Practicing) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in February 2008 and January 2018, respectively.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak is our Compliance Officer. Details of the qualification and
experience of Mr. Tsui have been disclose in the paragraph headed “Executive
Directors” of this section.

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak and Mr. Lam Yiu Cho are the authorised representatives of
our Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRERRE

INTRODUCTION

We are committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate
governance, as our Board believes that good and effective corporate
governance practices are key to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the
Shareholders of the Company and other stakeholders, and are essential for
encouraging accountability and transparency so as to sustain the success of the
Group and to create long-term value for the Shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to the Shareholders
and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value through good corporate
governance. Qur Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to achieve effective
accountability.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate Governance Report as set
out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. In the opinion of the Board, save
as Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company has complied with the CG
Code during FY2020.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of the code of conduct for
dealings in securities of the Company by the Directors as set out in Rules
5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to
all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company, and there was no event of
non-compliance throughout FY2020.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Company is committed to the view that the Board should include a
balanced composition of Executive and Independent Non-Executive Directors
so that there is an independent element on the Board, which can effectively
exercise independent judgment.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the composition of the Board is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this Annual Report.

Responsibilities and Functions of the Board

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of the
Group. The Board sets the Group's mission and standards and ensures that the
requisite financial and human resources support are in place for the Group to
achieve its objectives.

The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to these
Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference which are published on the respective websites of GEM and
the Company. The Board may from time to time delegate certain functions
to senior management of the Group if and when considered appropriate.
The management of day-to-day operation of the Group's businesses and
implementation of the business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the
Board has been delegated to the senior management of the Group.
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EXRERRE

The functions performed by the Board include but are not limited to the
following matters:

° formulating the Group’s strategy and direction and monitoring the
implementation thereof;

° deciding all material contracts, acquisitions, investments, divestments,
disposals of assets or any significant capital expenditure;

. approving of the Group's consolidated financial statements, published
reports, price sensitive announcement and other disclosure required
under the GEM Listing Rules;

° developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance
practices and the effectiveness of the Group's financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems;

° Board appointment and other major appointments or removal; and
° monitoring the performance of the management.

The Directors have full and timely access to information and accounts of the
Group and are entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company's expense.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

In compliance with Rule 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three Independent Non-Executive Directors
representing more than one-third of the Board and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-Executive Director an
annual confirmation of his independence, and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent in accordance with each and the various guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance
Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the Directors’
liability has been arranged by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Directors also participate in continuous professional
development programmes such as external seminars organised by qualified
professionals, to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to
their contribution to the Board. All Board members have received Directors’
training hosted by a law firm which was about, inter alias, the GEM Listing
Rules, Companies Ordinance and Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “"SFQ").

From time to time, the Company Secretary updates and provides written
training materials on the latest developments of applicable GEM Listing Rules
and regulations to the Directors.

All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participate any suitable training to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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MEETINGS OF BOARD AND DIRECTORS'
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The Board will schedule to meet at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days in
advance. The Directors are allowed to include any other matters in the agenda
that is required for discussion and resolution at the meeting. To enable the
Directors to be properly briefed on issues arising at the Board meetings and
to make informed decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers
together with all appropriate and relevant information in relation to the matters
of the meetings are sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended
date of each regular Board meeting and three days or such other period as
agreed before each other Board meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes.
Draft and final versions of the minutes will be circulated to the Directors
for comments and record within a reasonable time after each meeting and
the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection. According to the GEM
Listing Rules, any Directors and their associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) with a material interest in the transactions to be discussed at the Board
meetings will abstain from voting on resolutions approving such transactions
and are not counted in the quorum of the meetings.

During FY2020, four Board meetings and one Shareholders’ meeting (being the
annual general meeting (the "AGM") of the Company) were held. The individual
attendance record of the Board and Shareholders’ meetings is set out as
follows:
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Number of AGM Number of Board

attended/eligible to meetings attended/

attend eligible to attend

BHE GEREE BHE GEREE

Name of Directors EEgE BRREFAGERH EEZEEEARE
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph BEELE 1/1 4/4
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Mary Kathleen Babington 22 == il 4/4
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak mARELE ”n 4/4
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles BXBEE 01 4/4
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin FEBLE 0/1 4/4
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth BB ESE 0/1 4/4
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TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of our Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our
Company on 25 January 2018 and we signed letters of appointment with each
of our Independent Non-Executive Directors on the same day. The service
contracts with our Executive Directors are for an initial term of three years
commencing from the listing date on 25 January 2018 (the “Listing Date") and
can be terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ notice in
writing. The letter of appointment with each of our Independent Non-Executive
Directors are for an initial term until 24 January 2021 commencing from 25
January 2018 and can be terminated by either party giving not less than three
months’ notice in writing.

The service contracts and letters of appointment are subject to termination
in accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts can be
renewed in accordance with our articles of association (the “Articles”) and the
applicable GEM Listing Rules.

According to our Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation at every AGM of the Company, provided that
every Director shall retire from office by rotation and are subject to re-election
at AGM at least once every three years. Directors who are appointed to fill
casual vacancies shall hold office only until the next following general meeting
after their appointment, and are subject to re-election by Shareholders of the
Company.

The Company has taken out directors and officers liability insurance to cover
liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a policy of the Board diversity (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and also enhance the quality of performance of
the Company.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board
members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy. All Board appointments will continue to
be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the
Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge.

The Board Diversity Policy is available on the website of the Company at www.
treeholdings.com for public information.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Pursuant to the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph currently assumes the role of both chairman of the
Company and chief executive of the Company. In view that Mr. Tong has been
assuming day-to-day responsibilities in operating and managing our Group and
the rapid development of our Group, the Board believes that with the support of
Mr. Tong's extensive experience and knowledge in the business of the Group,
vesting the roles of both Chairman and chief executive officer of our Company
in Mr. Tong strengthens the solid and consistent leadership and thereby allows
for efficient business planning and decision which is in the best interest to our
Group. Mr. Tong delegates the role and responsibilities including operations,
management, business development and strategy planning of the Group to
other Executive Directors. The Board will review the need of appointing suitable
candidate to assume the role of chief executive when necessary.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of our Independent Non-Executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with our Company for a term of three years commencing from
the Listing Date, which may terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other. Each of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors is subject to retirement by rotation and re- election at AGM
in accordance with the Articles.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee to
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The Board committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s expense.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set
out in the CG Code which included developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the code provision in the CG Code and disclosures in this
report.
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Audit Committee

We established our Audit Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph C3.2 and
(3.3 of the CG Code Practices pursuant to a resolution of our Directors passed
on 5 January 2018. The terms of reference were amended and restated on
4 January 2019, with respect to the update of the GEM Listing Rules. The
primary duties of our Audit Committee are, among other things, to make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of external auditor, review the financial statements and provide advice in
respect of financial reporting, oversee our financial reporting process, internal
control, risk management systems and audit process, and perform other duties
and responsibilities assigned by our Board.

At present, our Audit Committee comprises Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles,
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth, all being Independent Non-
Executive Directors. Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles is the Chairman of our Audit
Committee.

During FY2020, the Audit Committee held four meetings, at which the Audit
Committee has reviewed and discussed the Company’s consolidated financial
results, including the accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group,
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code, the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control and risk management systems and the Group's internal audit
function and recommended to the Board for consideration the same and the re-
appointment of Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant Thornton”) as the
Company's external independent auditor at the forthcoming AGM.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
www.treeholdings.com for public information.

During FY2020, the attendance of each member at the Audit Committee
meeting during the Relevant Period is as follows:

Name of Directors

o 3

BAWE

EREEY

HAMIE ERGEM L 4R R 5280 R S (&6
SFRIEREBCI2NECIIBNMETE - RIEBEZEER
018F1AHBRAMNABRRRIEZEZEE U
FlIEE M e E - BEEEDN2019F1 748
MEFHCEM ETRAETIERI R EM - EZZEE
EMETERER(HPBREBI)REZTE  BELE
RONEZBMRNESSIREEBSESR  FHY
Bz R B AR - ﬁtﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁiﬁﬁﬁ N
HEE RREEBRALREZBERHE
URETESSRERMEMBERET -

BAl > ERZBEEMHEX0RE  BRERER
BBELRLEEN BE i’ﬂﬁﬁi#%ﬂﬁé$°
BXERREREREZBELR -

R2020 FE - BT %£§a§¢ TOREH &
FEEHRNRARRREVBESE  REAX
SERMNSTRARIER - zk&?a%?ﬁ%
ERTHMBR AEEBRSERRERE R
BANRANSBZDENRN THESGIR
HHEERZAMEE LAET RN EREKERA
FRAGHEERRRGEB) CHMEBEMERA
AI((B R ) B AR R HNIETE 7 4% 2R -

NN T8 Shwww treeholdings.com 32 4 B 4 €0 B &Y

20208 B FE - BB R
BEggambFaimT:

HEMENEZZ

mﬂ)

Number of attendance/
number of meetings

EEgE EBHEREY BITRH
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles (Chairman) B BEE(FE 4/4
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin BELEE 4/4
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth EBESRE 4/4
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Remuneration Committee

We established our Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph B1.2 of
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices pursuant to a resolution of our
Directors passed on 5 January 2018. The primary duties of our Remuneration
Committee are to review and approve the management’'s remuneration
proposals, make recommendations to our Board on the remuneration package
of our Directors and senior management and ensure none of our Directors
determines his/her own remuneration.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
www.treeholdings.com for public information.

At present, our Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, being
our Executive Director, and two of our Independent Non-Executive Directors,
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth. Mr. Sit Hoi Wah
Kenneth is the Chairman of our Remuneration Committee.

During FY2020, the committee met once on 19 June 2019 with 100%
attendance by all Committee members.

Nomination Committee

We established our Nomination Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with paragraph A5.2 of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices pursuant to a resolution of our Directors passed on 5 January 2018.
The terms of reference were amended and restated on 4 January 2019, with
respect to the update of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of our
Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition of
our Board, and select or make recommendations on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships.

At present, our Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Tong Tang Joseph, being
our Chairman and Executive Director, Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington, being our
Executive Director, and our three Independent Non-Executive Directors, Mr.
Yeung Man Chung Charles, Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth and Mr. Tsang Wai Yin.
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph is the Chairman of our Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
www.treeholdings.com for public information.

During FY2020, the committee met once on 19 June 2019 with 100%
attendance by all Committee members.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For FY2020, Grant Thornton was engaged as the Group's independent auditor.
Apart from the provision of annual audit services, Grant Thornton also provided
the non-audit services to the Company.

For FY2020, the remuneration paid or payable to Grant Thornton in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided is set out below:
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Category of services HK$'000
PR % %8 Bl FET
Audit services BEZRE 630.0
Non-audit services EEZ AR 48.6

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is committed to provide a balanced, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects in annual,
interim and quarterly reports, and other financial disclosures required by the
GEM Listing Rules. The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group's
results and cash flows for FY2020 and are properly prepared on a going concern
basis in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements and accounting
standards.

The management will provide the Board with monthly updates giving a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's performance, position
and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties under Rule 5.01 and Chapter 17 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

In addition, Grant Thornton has stated in the Independent Auditor's Report its
reporting responsibilities on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for FY2020.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and review of the
Group's system of internal controls and risk assessment. A review of internal
controls systems of different operations was conducted by an independent
external risk advisory firm to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy internal
controls system.

The Board considered the internal controls system of the Group to be adequate
and effective for FY2020. The Board also conducted a review of the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programs and budget which
are considered to be adequate for FY2020.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the GEM
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should be
announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision.

The Company has established and maintained the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination inside information. The Company
has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the
Directors in accordance with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Other
employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group has strictly
prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or insider information or any use of
such information for the advantage of himself or others. Any inside information
and any information which may potentially constitute inside information is
promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board and for the Board
to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information and other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of GEM and the Company in due course.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yiu Cho (#k#¥848), aged 38, is our Company Secretary. He joined our
Group in March 2016. The biographical details of Mr. Lam are set out under the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management”.

The primary duties of the Company Secretary include, but are not limited to, the
following: (i) to ensure the Board procedures are followed and that the activities
of the Board are carried out efficiently and effectively; (ii) to assist the
Chairman to prepare agendas and Board papers for meetings and disseminate
such documents to the Directors and Board committees in a timely manner; (iii)
to timely disseminate announcements and information relating to the Group;
and (iv) to maintain formal minutes of the Board meetings and other Board
committee meetings.

During FY2020, the Company Secretary of the Company had confirmed that he
had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training the accordance
with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An AGM of the
Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined
by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting (the “"EGM").

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Article 64 of the Articles, EGMs shall be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made
in writing to the Board or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

The requisition must state clearly the name of the Shareholder(s) concerned,
his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s) to convene the EGM
and the proposed agenda.

Procedures for Shareholders to send enquires to the
Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that the Company maintains
on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, use AGM or other
meetings to communicate with Shareholders and encourage their participation.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders through convening the AGM or general meetings, publication of
annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices, announcements, circulars as well
as all the disclosures submitted to the respective websites of GEM and the
Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’'s constitutional documents during
FY2020.

A copy of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is
posted on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company's dividend policy aims to allow Shareholders to participate in the
Company's profit and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for the its
future growth. In proposing any dividend, the Company would consider various
factors including but not limited to (i) the Group’s financial results, {ii) the
financial condition of the Group, (iii) the Group’s working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future expansion plans. (iv) the Group's
liquidity position, (v) economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position
of the Group and (vi) any other factors that our Board may consider appropriate.

There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.

According to the Company’s Articles and the Companies Ordinance, dividends
must be paid in cash or be satisfied wholly or partly in the form of allotment of
shares of the Company. The Board may consider the issuance of bonus shares
on a basis permitted by the applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the dividend policy and reserves the right in

its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
dividend policy at any time.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report has been prepared
in accordance with the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The ESG Report summarizes
our ESG performance, and covers our management policies, mechanisms and
measures in place during FY2020 with respect to environmental protection,
emission reduction, safe workplace, personal training and drills, supply chain
management and community investment and engagement. Focuses are placed
on certain aspects closely relevant to our Shareholders and other stakeholders,
and our full commitment to sustainable development of the Group as a whole.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

Our Group believe a sustainable business should have a positive social,
economic and environmental impact to the local community in which we
operate.

Section A: Environmental

Reducing carbon footprint of our business operations to protect our
environment is the core values of our Group. Our dedicated effort was proven
effective as there was no material issue of non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations related to the environment for FY2020.

Emissions

Our business is closely related to the environment. Environmental protection
and emission reduction are always the top priority at the Group. The emissions
data, which includes both the air emissions and greenhouse gas emissions, is
measured for better understanding of our environmental impacts and taking
meaningful decisions in the future. To present a comprehensive emission
overview, we compared the emission figures and emission intensity in FY2019
to those of FY2020.
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Air Emissions

The Group’s emissions of air pollutants, which include nitrogen oxides (“N0,"),
sulphur oxides ("$0,") and respiratory suspended particles (“RSP"), are
mainly generated by usage of vehicles for delivery. In measurable terms, our
operations produced approximately 212 kg of air emissions in FY2020' (FY2019:
220 kg), which shows a reduction of approximately 4% compared with FY2019.
The corresponding air emission intensity? of FY2020 was approximately 3 kg
per employee (FY2019: 3 kg per employee), which approximately remained
constant compared with FY2019. The overall decrease in air emissions was
mainly attributed to the shrink in the Group's sales and the corresponding drop
in shipping and delivery services, caused by low consumer sentiment due to
the ongoing social movement in Hong Kong, as well as the novel coronavirus
situation started in early 2020. Meanwhile, the reduction was partially offset
by the operation of new storage room in Ap Lei Chau. Although the reduction
in air emissions in FY2020 was primarily a result of external factors, the Group
has put continuous effort in cutting down its emissions, such as delivering
its products in bulk, so as to better utilize the capacity of vehicles and reduce
unnecessary emissions.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Global warming is mainly attributable to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. In
an effort to reduce GHG emissions and carbon footprint, we embrace green
practices in our day-to-day business operations, contributing to environmental
conservation, natural resource preservation and waste reduction.

As an environmentally-friendly enterprise, we uphold the 3Rs principle, namely
reduce, reuse and recycle. In our daily operation, we promote the reduction of
consumptions in paper, water resources, electricity and stationery. Employees
are encouraged to adopt double-sided printing, while single-side-printed paper
is collected for reuse. To further reduce the production of paper waste, we
have been engaging an external recycling company since January 2018 to
collect paper waste from our office for recycling purpose. Waste sorting is also
performed at our office and shops to facilitate the recycling program.

1 By estimating the travelling distance based on the units of fuel consumed by the
vehicles, using the “Transport — Energy Utilization Index” issued by Electrical
and Mechanical Services Department at https://ecib.emsd.gov.hk/index.php/en/
energy-utilisation-index-en/transport-sector-en.

2 The different intensity figures in this report were calculated per employee, which
were 64 employees as at 31 March 2020 (31 March 2019: 72 employees).
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With the 3Rs principle, we are pleased to report that our effort in continuous
monitoring and control of GHG emissions paid off. During FY2020, our
operations produced approximately 319 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
(FY2019: 322 tonnes?), with the corresponding emission intensity amounted to
approximately 5.0 tonnes of carbon dioxide per employee (FY2019: 4.5 tonnes
per employee). While our GHG emission has reduced by 1% compared with
FY2019, our corresponding carbon intensity has increased by approximately
11% mainly due to the reduction in number of employees this year. In view of
the 1% slightly difference, we successfully controlled the GHG emissions to
remain constant when compared to FY2019.
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the data of the carbon emission factor of electricity consumption as well as the
unit electricity consumption of processing fresh water and sewage were not yet
updated by the relevant provider of electricity and the government departments
at the time of preparation of the ESG Report in FY2019. In this ESG Report, the
comparative data of FY2019 were updated according to the different emission
factors announced by the relevant entities for FY2019.
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The emissions of greenhouse gas are classified into three separate categories

as below:

Category 1:  Direct emissions from the usage of fuels by our vehicles
Category 2:  Energy indirect emissions*

Category 3: Indirect emissions due to electricity used for fresh waters and

Greenhouse Gas Emissions by Category

sewage® processing, and business travel by employees, and
methane gas generation at landfill in Hong Kong due to disposal
of paper waste

RERE D HREREHEK
FY2019
20198 BUEE FE

4% 139

Total Emissions

BEERE

321,605 kg
. 321,605 T
0
Category 1 Category 2 Category 3
5l c2Willvi 8713

The carbon emission of China Light and Power ("CLP") was taken as 0.62 kg
C0,e/kWh as announced in their latest Sustainability Report 2019, while the
carbon emission of Hong Kong Electric was taken as 0.81 kg CO,e/kWh as
announced in their latest Sustainability Report 2019.

The unit electricity consumption of fresh water processing was 0.606 kWh/m3, as
announced by Hong Kong Water Supplies Department in the latest Sustainability
Report 2019. Until the date of preparation of this report, there has been no
updated data provided yet, and the unit electricity consumption in 2019 was
taken as a reasonable estimate for the data in 2020.

The unit electricity consumption of sewage processing was 0.28 kWh/unit,
as announced by Hong Kong Drainage Services Department in the latest
Sustainability Report 2019. Until the date of preparation of this report, there has
been no updated data provided yet, and the unit electricity consumption in 2019
was taken as a reasonable estimate for the data in 2020.
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We experienced reduction of approximately 4% and 19% in category 1 and 3
emissions respectively; while a slightly increase of less than 1% in category 2
emission when compared to FY2019. In total, the GHG emissions for FY2020
has been reduced for approximately 1%. In view of the 1% slightly difference,
we successfully controlled the GHG emissions to remain constant when
compared to FY2019.

We have continued to implement a range of measures to promote electricity-
saving in our office, retail stores and warehouse, including the introduction
of energy-saving options (e.g. compact fluorescent lamps) and display of
reminders to employees to switch of idle electronic appliances.

Waste Management

The principal business activities of the Group include (i) sales and distribution
of furniture and home accessories; (ii) consignment sales (being products
consigned from Independent Third Parties for sale in the Group's retail stores);
(iii) distribution and licencing of the Group's intellectual property rights; (iv)
provision of styling and consulting services; and (v) operation of TREE Café in
the Flagship Store. The business operations of the Group produce no hazardous
waste, e.g. chemical wastes, clinical wastes and hazardous chemicals.

One of the major non-hazardous waste produced by the Group in FY2020 was
paper waste, which amounted to approximately 721 kg (FY2019: 733 kg), with
a corresponding intensity of 11 kg per employee (FY2019: 10 kg per employee).
With our continuous effort in waste reduction, the total paper waste produced
decreased by approximately 2%, while the corresponding intensity was
approximately the same as FY2019.

As logging is involved in the paper production process, it provokes both
direct and indirect negative impacts on the environment. TREE Limited have
implemented a range of measures to reduce paper waste, such as encouraging
double-sided printing, as well as collecting single-side-printed paper for re-
use. On top of that, an external recycling company has been engaged since
January 2018 to collect part of our paper waste for recycling purpose, so as to
further cut down our paper waste. Recycling performance report is provided by
the service provider, detailing amount of paper waste collected by month and
the total carbon emissions avoided through recycling. This helps us to further
monitor our paper consumption and motivate our employees to cut down the
consumption of resources. We will continue to monitor and reduce our paper
consumption in the future in a bid to lower our carbon emissions.
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While plastic and metal waste only accounted for a minority of non-hazardous
waste generated by the Group, they are also collected by the recycling bins in
our office and TREE Café, so as to further minimize the waste directly disposed
of in landfills. In FY2020, approximately 60 kg of plastic and 77 kg of metals
were collected and recycled’ by the service provider. We will continue to
advocate the importance of recycling among our employees and customers, and
put more effort into waste reduction.

Use of Resources

The Group pledges to become an environmentally-friendly and sustainable
enterprise. We understand that while the use of resources has significant
impacts on resources preservation, it also involves indirect emissions to the
environment. As such, to reduce carbon emission and footprint, we have
undertaken a range of carbon reduction measures in our daily operations.
Reducing, which is one of the 3Rs principles, is promoted and communicated to
our employees for better use of resources.

Energy Consumption

The total energy consumption for FY2020 was approximately 337,561 kWh
(FY2019: 336,894 kWh), which saw a slight increase of approximately 0.2%
compared with FY2019. The corresponding electricity consumption intensity
was 5,274 kWh per employee for FY2020 (FY2019: 4,679 kWh per employee),
with a increase of approximately 13% compared with FY2019, which was
mainly a result of the decrease in number of employees by 11%. In general, the
electricity consumption remained constant in FY2020.

To reduce unnecessary electricity consumption, the Group encourages every
employee to switch off all idle appliances and ensure that all electronic
appliances had been switched off before they left the office. Apart from this,
the Group will purchase energy-efficient electronic appliances in the future, as
well as upgrading current ones for energy-efficient alternatives in long run. We
promise to put in more efforts in the aspect of energy conservation to further
reduce our carbon footprint.

7 The data was not disclosed in FY2019's ESG report. In order to present a more
comprehensive result, the Group included this data since this ESG report.
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Water Consumption

Water is one of the most precious natural resources. High consumption of water
could undermine the water resources available. In the meantime, processing
of freshwater and sewage require electricity, indirectly resulting in more
carbon emissions. As TREE Café is one of the major businesses of the Group,
it places much emphasis on conservation of water resources. Café staff are
educated not to keep the tap open when doing the washing. In FY2020, the
Group’s water consumption was approximately 2598 cubic meters (FY2019:
333 cubic meters), showing a reduction of approximately 22% compared with
FY2019. The corresponding water consumption intensity was approximately
4 cubic meters per employee (FY2019: 5 cubic meters per employee), with a
significant decrease of approximately 20% compared with FY2019. As our
water is sourced from the Water Supply Department, there was no water
supply issue identified in FY2020. Effective use of water can significantly
whittle down the indirect consumption of electricity during water processing.
The Group encourages its staff to save and use less water by promoting water
conservation among its staff. We will also continue to monitor our use of water
closely, so as to minimize the corresponding carbon footprint.

Paper Usage

To advocate a paperless work environment, we encourage our employees to
use electronic systems and documents instead of printed documents. Effective
use of paper and double-sided printing have been promoted and communicated
to our staff, while single-sided-printed paper is collected for reuse. The Group
consumed approximately 721 kg of paper in FY2020 (FY2019: 733 kg), which
has decreased by approximately 2% compared with that of FY2019. The
corresponding consumption intensity was approximately 11 kg per employee
this Year (FY2019: 10 kg per employee).

Packaging Materials

Generally, no packaging materials are used for the furniture and home
accessories sold at shops. There are only small amount of plastic films used
during the delivery process. However, the usage of packaging materials is hard
to estimate due to the limited availability of relevant data, with the usage of
packaging materials being considered as immaterial. Hence, no disclosure is
made regarding the usage of packaging materials.

Shopping Bags

To further promote environmental sustainability, we promote “bring your own
bag” at shops. However, in case customers do not have their own bags with
them, we would provide them with tote bags, which were in 100% cotton.

8 Water consumption of the 8 months from August 2019 to March 2020 was
estimated by projection based on the data comparison of the first 4 months of
FY2019 and FY2020, as the latest data has not yet been obtained from the Water
Supply Department at the date of preparation of this report.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group believes that business development should not come at the expense
of the environment. Therefore, we have been adopting environmentally-friendly
practices in various aspects. For example, we invested in the acquisition of
compact fluorescent lamps (CFLs) for replacing the traditional light bulbs,
engaged an external recycling company to uphold recycling of wastes, and
educated our employees on the importance of environmental protection.

To further contribute to environmental preservation, not only do we make
continuous donations for planting trees in Indonesia, we also support Earth
Hour by turning off all non-essential lights for one hour every year.

With our determination in minimizing the impacts of our operations on the
environment, we have successfully achieved the following:
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Aspects Achievements
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Air Emission Air emission reduced by approximately 4%
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Greenhouse Gas Emission GHG emission reduced by approximately 1%
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Water Consumption Water consumption reduced by approximately 22%
K FEKE R D 8922%

Paper Usage Paper usage reduced by approximately 2%

A B2 R 42%
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Section B: Social

Employment

Employees are of top priority to the Group as they are the most valuable
assets. We value all our employees’ contribution and dedication to our business
development equally as they contribute to our Group by heart and help us
achieve our corporate objectives. Not only do they serve our customers with
great patience, but also contribute innovative ideas to attain our business
targets. We strive to grow with our employees as it is mutually beneficial to
both the employees and our business development in the long run. Hence, we
adopt an employee-oriented approach in creating our workplace, as well as
recruiting, training and retaining talents for our business development.

Our Employees
Our Group consisted of 73 staff members as at 31 March 2020 (31 March 2019:
72), and the composition of our staff members is set out below:

By Type of Employment
RERERES
5% 3%
92%
Full Time Part Time Temporary
gy Ei s
By Age Group
RERAR 8D
11%
8%
19%
37%
18-25 26-35 36-45
18-255% 26-355% 36-455%
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We believe that our diverse, but yet, inclusive workforce enhances our
creativity, decision-making, as well as communication both among our
employees and with our customers, which are essential to a successful and
sustainable business.

For recruitment and dismissal process, the Group will go through the procedures
according to the policies stated internally. For recruitment, equal opportunities
are provided to all applicants with regards of the considerations of their
experience, knowledge and skills only. The Human Resources Department will
strictly process every application in terms of bringing the best inputs for the
Group. For compensation and dismissal, those employees acting improperly
or breaching of contract terms and code of conduct will be warned or even
terminated, in terms of protecting the Group's interests. Compensations are
provided to those dismissed employees when applicable according to the
relevant laws and regulations.

Employee Benefits

We offer comprehensive employee benefits package to our dedicated and
talented Group members. Compensations are provided fairly according to their
contribution to our business with reference to market practice. We also award
bonus to our employees depending on their performance, which is reviewed
and assessed semi-annually, in a bid to enhance our employees’ performance
and address their needs in terms of career development. Through this, our
employees are able to excel in their jobs and build a career with us. Promotion
decisions are made by the management with careful consideration of a range
of factors, ranging from the employee’s job responsibilities, qualifications,
relevant experience and performance, to his/her conduct and potential.
Promotion and salary increment are also rewarded to all the staff who make
contribution to the Group based on their semi-annual assessment.

In addition, we contribute to the Mandatory Provident Fund and acquire
employees’ compensation insurance with reference to the requirements
of the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong. We also provide medical fee
reimbursements to our employees for the sake of reducing their financial
burden.
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Harmonious Workspace

As an employee-oriented business, we strive for a harmonious and inclusive
working environment, which is free from any harassment and discrimination.
We actively promote and cultivate the understanding of Non-Discrimination,
Anti-Harassment and Non-Bully Policies by communicating these with our
employees through staff handbook and during team meetings. Our employees
are also recruited regardless of their race, color, religion, age, gender, sexual
orientation, national origin, citizenship, health condition, marital status or any
other characteristics. Such equal employment opportunity policy is applicable
towards our staff recruitment, training and development, recognition and
reward, as well as termination and dismissal.

If our employees believe that they are experiencing discrimination and/or
bullying, they are encouraged to lodge their complaint with the management,
who will investigate thoroughly and confidentially. We will take this matter
in a serious manner and continue to strive for a harmonious workplace for our
employees.

We also recognize and support our employees’ religious and cultural beliefs by
extending their break time to accommodate their religious needs on specific
occasions. Employees who are legally married or entering into a formal civil
union / partnership are both entitled to an additional paid marriage leave. Both
maternity leave and paternity leave are provided to our employees as well, so
that they can strike a balance between family and work with our full support.

The Group also regularly organizes different types of employee activities
such as annual dinner and Christmas celebration to foster bonding between
our employees. We believe that a harmonious workplace is beneficial to
our employees’ well-being, which in turn enhances productivity at work and
promote long term relationships between our employees and us.

Work-life Balance of Employees

The Group understands that it is necessary for its staff to take a break from
time to time, which helps to facilitate the process of accomplishing the long-
term goals of the Group. As such, the Group strives to provide a work-life
balance to all its employees. Our employees are also entitled to a number of
special leaves to meet their families’ needs, including marriage leave, family
bereavement leave, maternity leave and paternity leave, etc. Through these
policies, a good work-life balance can be provided to our employees.
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Talent Retention

With the adoption of employee-oriented approach in our internal policies, we
successfully achieved a total retention rate at approximately 91% (FY2019:
96%) in FY2020. While it has dropped slightly by 5% compared with the
FY2019, our retention rate has continued to remain at a high level above 90%.

Moreover, the number of employees serving the Group for 5 to 10 years, as
well as over 10 years, have increased compared with the FY2019. Our effort in
building a family TREE with a strong and deep root was proven effective with a
high employee retention rate, particularly those who has served our Group for a
longer time. With our dedicated employees, our Group can continue to grow and
prepare itself for future challenges.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to safeguarding the safety, health and welfare of all
its employees, and it aims to not only meet the minimum occupational health
and safety standards required by the law, but to exceed them. To realize
our commitment, we have implemented a range of policies with regard to
workplace safety.

Staff handbook, which is distributed to all employees at the commencement
of work, outlines safety requirements and guidelines for accident and injury
management, so that our staff can familiarize themselves with the protocols.
Smoking is strictly prohibited in TREE premises or any of the TREE delivery
trucks. The Group has also equipped its office and shops with adequate
resources for potential accidents. Sufficient fire equipment, such as fire
extinguishers and fire hydrants, have been placed in both back office and
shops. These equipment are under regular checks to ensure that they are in
good condition.

We have two registered First Aiders working at the Flagship Store. In case
of occurrence of accident or injury, they can provide emergency assistance
immediately. The Group's employees’ compensation insurance policies are
closely monitored and regularly adjusted according to the headcounts. In case
of work injury, our employees are entitled to sick leave and/or reimbursements
of medical expenses by the insurance company, so that they can receive the
necessary medical assistance and have adequate rest for recovery.

During FY2020, 7 employees were involved in work injuries, and a total of
907 working hours lost was recorded (FY2019: 3 employees; 79 working hours
lost). Compared with the figures of the FY2019, the number of work injuries
and waorking hours lost have both increased. In order to minimize occupational
hazard and work injuries, we promise to put continuous effort into promoting
our employees’ awareness of workplace safety. The Group will also strengthen
the education by reminding its employees the correct ways of lifting and
handling materials regularly. As aforementioned, our employees are of our
Group's top priority, so we pledge to monitor workplace safety closely and
prevent any work injury or accident by all practicable means.
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The Group strictly complied with the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
in Hong Kong to report any accident to the Commissioner for Labour. The
Group also strictly complied with others relevant health and safety laws
and regulations, such as the local fire services regulations, to provide a safe
working environment to its employees by protecting them from occupational
hazards.

Development and Training

We encourage our employees to continue learning and growing, as we believe
that their personal career development goes hand in hand with our business
development. Employees are encouraged to learn by reviewing their own
performance and setting goals for themselves to achieve.

From time to time, internal training sessions are held to improve our employees’
knowledge about our products, customer services, marketing and corporate
management etc. This helps to equip our staff with the necessary skills for their
job, as well as to keep abreast of the market trends. Prior to product promotion
and new events, training sessions are organized to brief all the responsible staff
the logistics, so as to ensure quality services provided to our customers.

Apart from internal training, if employees identify learning needs, they are
welcomed to share their needs with their managers. Employees’ initiatives
to learn are highly appreciated, and we accommodate to their learning needs
as far as we can. If our employees wish to take external training courses or
examinations relevant to their employment, we can provide corresponding
assistance in the form of flexible working hours, financial assistance and/or
tuition reimbursement. We hope to support all our employees in achieving their
personal career development as we value them as a family member, and this
will benefit our business in the long term ultimately.

In FY2020, we achieved 27% training rate, of which middle management
accounted for the majority of the trained staff. A total of 67 training hours
were provided to our employees, with the average training hours received per
employee amounting to approximately 1 hour. The Group will continue to invest
more resources into its employees’ training and development, so that its staff
can grow together with the Group.
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Labour Standards

The Group complies with all immigration laws and regulations. During the
course of our recruitment process, documents authenticating the applicants’
identity and eligibility to work in Hong Kong are obtained and verified, so
as to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations in the aspect of
employment.

Respecting human rights has always been an integral part of the Group's
mission towards sustainability. The Group fully complies with labour laws and
other relevant legislation that prohibit child labour and forced labour. No person
below the age of eighteen has been hired or forced to work at the Group. Any
act of violence, with the purposes of deliberately causing discomfort, threats
and/or bodily harm, as well as forcing employees to work, is strictly prohibited
by the Group. Our employees are welcomed to report to the management
through the whistleblowing mechanism, if they notice any potential violation,
or if they are experiencing forced labour. The management will investigate the
matter and take follow-up actions in serious manner,

In FY2020, there was no material non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations in relation to labour standards.

Supply Chain Management

The Group recognizes that proper management of its supply chain brings
positive impacts to the social environment. The Group has implemented a
number of measures to ensure appropriate supply chain management.

Before entering a contractual relationship with a supplier, merchandising team
of the Group conduct site visits and sample testing to ensure the quality of
products provided by the supplier. Only suppliers with satisfactory result of the
initial assessment will be added to our approved list of suppliers and engage
in business with us. An official list of approved suppliers meeting the Group’s
procurement requirements is kept and regularly reviewed by the merchandising
team through annual assessment. The Group will consider terminating business
relationship with suppliers who are unable to meet our standard.
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During FY2020, the Group had a total of 42 suppliers, which are mainly located
in Southeast Asia, the PRC and Western Europe. With diversified sources
of supply, the Group aims to achieve stable supplies to support its business
operations.
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To mitigate the risk of supply chain disruptions, the Group also maintains a
stock level which is sufficient to meet its customers’ demand for at least three
months.

The Group's suppliers are encouraged to demonstrate corporate social
responsibilities by complying with the relevant codes and business ethics with
respect to workplace operations, marketing activities, social contacts and
environmental responsibilities. On the other hand, any forms of bribery are
strictly prohibited by the Group. Employees are forbidden from providing or
acceptance benefits from suppliers and customers.
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Product Responsibility

Product Quality Control

TREE Limited is committed to providing products and services of high quality
and reliability. For the wooden furniture, FSC certificates of products are
obtained by our merchandising team in order to verify the materials used for the
products. The Company is also a trademark license holder promoting and selling
FSC-certified finished goods. To ensure the quality of goods supplied, all our
suppliers are required to perform quality check on every product prior to their
delivery. A quality control label is then attached to every product as a proof of
satisfactory result of the quality assurance test, which is further verified by
the Group after the products have been shipped over. In our retail stores, our
merchandising team and delivery team are responsible for conducting another
round of inspections on all the furniture and home accessories. If material
defects are found in any of the products, full inspection of the batch of products
will be performed. In serious cases, the Managing Director may consider
requesting replacement of the products delivered by the suppliers, or making
claims for compensation against the suppliers.

After the delivery of products from suppliers, our carpenters will further polish,
fine-tune the design of, and coat the product with OSMO upon customers’
requests, which further enhances the quality of our products and maintain the
unique brand of TREE.

In FY2020, there was no material non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations relating to product liability.

Not only does the Company focus on the product quality, the Company also
places huge importance on the customers’ health and safety issue. The
Company has incorporated health concerns, such as choosing the products
manufactured with qualified materials.

In addition, our advertisements are mainly based on our actual finished
products and word-of-mouth. Not only do them help provide our customers with
confidence towards our products, they also help our customers familiarise with
our brand image.

Customer Service Management

To uphold the quality of its customer service, the Group has established various
channels for its customers to communicate its team and provide feedback.
Customers can approach us through our customer hotline, email, or leave their
comments on our webpage via livechat or feedback form. Feedbacks pertinent
to the attitude of staff, variety of products provided, and the environment of
our stores etc. are all welcomed. The Group's customer service hotline, email
address and website can be found in every postcard of its products. All the
comments received are recorded by our customer service team, who will then
share the feedback with the corresponding team members.
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In FY2020, there were 134 cases of customer complaints received, most of
which were concerned with the imperfections in products upon delivery. The
Group’s customer service team is responsible for handling customers’ enquiries
and complaints.

A customer complaint handling policy has been established and circulated to
the customer service team to ensure that standardised procedures are in place
and properly maintained to handle customer complaints in appropriate manner.
Customers’ complaints are summarised in the customer complaint register,
which are then reviewed by our customer service team with follow-up actions
taken by the corresponding staff. All the follow-up actions are also recorded
in the register, so that our staff can keep track of the progress and status of
each complaint. This ensures that all the customers’ complaints are attended
to in appropriate manner, and the management can investigate the matter if
necessary. We will continue to maintain good relationship with our customers
and uphold our current practice of customer service management.

Confidentiality

TREE Limited has established an Employees” Manual which is circulated to
all its employees to ensure that they are well aware of the importance of
protection over customers’ and suppliers’ information. Customer and supplier
data must only be used for the sole purpose of the Group's operations in a bid
to provide adequate service to its customers. Customers’ data must not be
shared with any other parties outside the Group without prior written approval
from the customers concerned. Verbal or written warning will be given to the
relevant employee who has breached the listed regulations. The employee
concerned may be subject to dismissal in the case of serious misconduct or
repeated acts of misconduct.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group understands the importance of protecting its intellectual property
rights and patent. During the course of patent application, we have examined
whether the patent has already been applied for by third party companies. The
Group has registered its trademarks in Hong Kong, the PRC, the United States
and Canada, with trademark summary established for monitoring the progress
of trademark application and renewals required for the trademarks. We also
conduct regular checks to see if our intellectual property rights have been
infringed by other companies.

Anti-corruption

All forms of bribery and corruption are strictly prohibited by the Group.
Employees should not offer, solicit or accept anything of material value to or
from their colleagues, customers, suppliers or other business partner of TREE
Limited, unless consent has been given by the Managing Director. Directors and
staff should avoid conflicts of interest, in which the Group's interests can be
potentially undermined. Employees are required to report to the management in
case of potential conflicts of interest, declaring that the Group's interest will be
upheld without the influence of their personal interests, in case of any actual or
potential events of conflicts of interest.
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In addition to bribery and corruption, our employees are strictly prohibited
from engaging in any illegal acts, including extortion, fraud, money laundering,
etc. Identified cases will be followed-up with applicable legal actions. It is the
Group's core values for reminding its employees to uphold their integrity and
professionalism as aforementioned.

Whistleblowing

Whistleblowing policies are stated in the Employees” Manual, outlining
the guidelines for employees to report cases of misconduct. Employees are
welcomed to report suspected misconduct of their colleagues, subordinates,
senior management or even suppliers. They can express their concerns through
various channels, including face-to-face conversation, email or phaone call
with the manager, the Human Resources Manager or the Managing Director.
Our management will review and take follow-up actions to investigate
every reported case in serious manner. In case of serious misconduct,
the management will consider reporting to the police or the Independent
Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC").

In FY2020, there was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group or its employees.

Community Investment

“Putting our heart into everything we do” is what TREE Limited is committed to.
Not only do we put our hearts into giving back to our employees and customers,
but also into contributing to the environment and community. In light of this,
the Company has actively participated in various charitable activities, and
encouraged our employees to invest in the community. In FY2020, TREE Limited
has mainly participated in the following activities.

Trees4Trees — supporting reforestation and improving lives of local families

TREE has consistently made donations to Trees4Trees, a non-profit foundation
that empowers local community with reforestation initiatives through
educational programmes. In FY2020, the Company donated approximately
HK$67,300 to Trees4Trees. Not only does the donation support reforestation,
but also help improve the lives of the local community through employing
locals to assist reforestation and educating them about sustainable forest
management. We value tree resources in the environment, so we put our hearts
into giving back to our mother nature through participating in reforestation.
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NSW Rural Fire Service & Brigades Donations Fund — helping alleviate bushfire
in Australia

In FY2020, the Company donated approximately HK$5,100 to NSW Rural Fire
Service and Brigades Donations Fund in light of the bushfire in Australia in
second half of 2019, in which millions of people and animals were affected,
with plenty of valuable resources lost to the fire. All the donations will be used
to support fire service in the area, as well as rebuilding lost homes for both
humans and animals. We hope that through this donation, we can all contribute
to the alleviation of natural hazard and create a sustainable environment again.

World Wide Fund for Nature (Australia) — helping animals affected by bushfire

On top of supporting NSW Rural Fire Service, TREE Limited also donated
approximately HK$5,200 to World Wide Fund for Nature in Australia to
support koalas in need of medical attention. The donation was also used for
reforestation in the affected areas, restoring natural habitats for many of the
wild animals in Australia. We believe that every step matters in creating a
better environment for both humans and animals for the long run.

Redress — promoting sustainable consumption and production

As a dedicated enterprise that upholds environmental sustainability, TREE
Limited actively participates in local events and partner up with other
companies to promote sustainable consumption and production — one of United
Nations" sustainable development goals. In FY2020, TREE Limited donated
furniture with a total value of approximately HK$45,600 to Redress, which is an
environmental charity with a mission to prevent and transform textile waste to
promote circular economy. Redress has collaborated with multiple enterprises
to generate and showcase values in existing waste, raising environmental
awareness among the local community in Hong Kong. By donating our furniture
to Redress, we hope to support their initiative and promote the idea of
sustainable living.

Earth Hour — letting nature shine

TREE Limited is committed to leading a sustainable lifestyle and it has been
supporting Earth Hour every year since 2016 by switching off lights at 8:30pm
on a designated date. In FY2020, we also participated in Earth Hour on 28
March 2020 to show our commitment to letting nature shine. Apart from this
yearly event, TREE Limited is dedicated to minimising its adverse impacts on
the environment in its daily operations. This is achieved through reduction in
emissions and resource consumption, as well as waste recycling.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws and regulations that
has a significant impact on the Group in the aspects of emissions, employment,
health and safety, labour standards, product responsibility and anti-corruption
during FY2020.
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The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for FY2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Headquartered in Hong Kong and operating under the brand name “TREE",
we engage in (i) the sale and distribution of furniture and home accessories;
(i) distribution and licence fee income; (iii) operation of TREE Café; (iv)
consignment sales of home accessories and furniture agency services
and (v) provision of styling and consulting services. We offer a variety of
furniture including tables, chairs, storage solutions, sofas and beds; and home
accessories including kitchenware, bed and bathroom related products, jars,
cushions, mattresses, utensils and baskets.

At date of this Annual Report, we operated three “TREE" retail stores in Hong
Kong namely, our Flagship Store, our Sha Tin store, and our Yuen Long store.

In addition, we acquired, Hong Kong Italiving International Company Limited
(“HK Italiving”) in December 2018, and it is principally engaged in the
provision of furniture agency service.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for FY2020 is set out in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual Report.

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for FY2020 and the financial position of the Company
and the Group as at 31 March 2020 are set forth in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 83 to 171 of this Annual Report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for FY2020.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s issued share capital was HK$15,840,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,584,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the distributable reserves of the Company and
of the Group during FY2020 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during FY2020 amounted to
approximately HK$10,000 (FY2019: Nil).

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Company has taken out directors and officers liability insurance to cover
liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S SHARE
OFFERING

The net proceeds from the Listing in January 2018, after deducting the
underwriting fees, the Stock Exchange trading fee and SFC transaction levy and
other listing expenses in connection with the Share Offer, were approximately
HK$20.3 million.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 March 2020, the Group has
utilised HK$12.3 million, or 60.6% of the actual net proceeds from the Listing
for the staff costs of an interior designer; the establishment of an e-commerce
platform; the enhancement of the POS system; and for the leasehold
improvement, marketing, deposit and rental of the Yuen Long store opened in
May 2018.

As disclosed in our Group's announcement dated 19 June 2020, the Board
resolved to change the use of unutilised net proceeds. The revised proposed
change of use of the unutilised net proceeds would be for the settlement of the
future consideration payable in relation to the acquisition HK Italiving, which
was completed on 31 December 2018.

For details, please refer to the announcement of our Group dated 19 June 2020.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group, as
extracted from the Prospectus and the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the years ended 31 March 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020 is set
out on page 172 of the annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 5 January 2018 (the “Share
Option Scheme”). The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance
with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules and set out below.

(a)

(b)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable our Group to grant
options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to our Group and/or to enable our Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to our Group or any entity in which any member of our Group holds any
equity interest (the “Invested Entity”).

Participants

Our Directors shall, in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme and the GEM Listing Rules, be entitled but shall not be
bound at any time within a period of 10 years commencing from the date
of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme to make an offer for the
grant of an option to any person belonging to the following classes:

(a)  any employee (whether full time or part time, including the
Directors (including any Non-Executive Director and Independent
Non-Executive Director)) of our Company, any of our subsidiaries
(within the meaning of Companies Ordinance) or any Invested
Entity (an "Eligible Employee”);

(b)  any supplier of goods or services to any member of our Group or
any Invested Entity;

(c)  any customer of any member of our Group or any Invested Entity;

(d) any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity;

(e) any Shareholder of any member of our Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of our
Group or any Invested Entity;

(f) any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant, individual or
equity who in the opinion of our Directors has contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of our Group; and
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(c)

(g any other groups or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of
our Group,

and, for the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, the offer for the grant
of an option may be made to any company wholly-owned by one or more
eligible participants.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by our Company for
the subscription of shares or other securities of our Group to any person
who falls within any of the above classes of eligible participants shall
not, by itself, unless our Directors otherwise determine, be construed as
a grant of option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the eligible participants to an offer under
the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by our Directors from
time to time on the basis of our Directors’ opinion as to such eligible
participant’s contribution to the development and growth of our Group.

Maximum number of shares

(a)  The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by our Group shall not exceed 30% of
our share capital in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other share option
schemes adopted by our Group if the grant of such options will
result in the limit referred herein being exceeded.

(b)  The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of our Group) to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
our Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of our share capital
in issue as at the date on which dealings in our shares first
commence on the Stock Exchange, being 158,400,000 shares (the
“General Scheme Limit").

63

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(c)

EZgWE

DERAENREDLE BAXKHR
FEMEBRENT A AKED
BRIERFHEROEAMEME
Rl RIS EE -

(a)

AEpERESAEMS  ARA—RHE
FRBER2REZERANEMRAGRER
HERERE 2L -

RREERME  ARRRBRALAERS
8 E SRR A A TR A BB AR - A
REAEENRNDAEMES HAFGT
BRRERREBRET SR LERE
HEERTREENSERR °

REBRESS AN ER2EER
BERBEBSENNER  AREFEITRIER
HEZAER2RERAEEER RIY
EFAEEBOBRIRE -

IR0 BB LR

(a)  FEREBBRE S RANEBE RN
MEMEBEREFICSEEMA
FITENZEMEARTTEBRERET
EmMAETHNESROBE  TF
BT D BITRANRI30% © Wik E
B IOHE BT B 3K AN 52 (B P SR A O (4]
HoAh B8 A% 4 51 81 4% HAE ) BB AR AR S
BRBHABERAREE  BIBAE
RO B RHBRE -

) FEREBEEBREAEERAEETHE
fib B A% AR BT B S T IR A0 2 20 RS R
(BT E - TEREREERES
B N A S B ] EAth BE IR ST B9
BRELXBWBARE) EITEmY
BIHRMES AETEBRBAR
BhesrERIHABREEZADE
BEITIANEY10% (BN158,400,000/% A% 17)
(I—MstBIRED -

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 R#ZR BBR A & Annual Report G ¥R 2020



64

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EZgWE

(d)

(c) Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (d) below, our
Company may seek approval of our Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided that the
total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of our Group shall not exceed 10% of
our share capital in issue as at the date of approval of the limit
and for the purpose of calculating the limit, options (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of our Group) previously granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Group will not
be counted.

(d) Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (c) above, our
Company may seek separate Shareholders” approval in general
meeting to grant options under the Share Option Scheme
beyond the General Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the extended
limit referred to in (c) above to eligible participants specifically
identified by our Company before such approval is sought.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Subject to (v) below, the total number of shares issued and which
may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of our
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each eligible
participant who accepts the offer for the grant of an option under the
Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”) in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of our issued share capital for the time being. Where any
further grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to a grantee
would result in our shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and proposed to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Group in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of our share capital in issue, such
further grant shall be separately approved by our Shareholders in
general meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
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(e) Grant of options to core connected persons

(a)

(b)

Without prejudice to (b) below, the making of an offer under the
Share Option Scheme to any of our Director, chief executive or
substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective associates
shall be approved by our Independent Non-Executive Directors
(excluding any Independent Non-Executive Director who or
whose close associate is the proposed grantee of an option under
the Share Option Scheme).

Without prejudice to (a) above, where any grant of options under
the Share Option Scheme to a substantial Shareholder or our
Independent Non-Executive Director or any of their respective
associates, would result in our shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options under the Share Option Scheme
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of our share capital
in issue; and

(2) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
our shares at the offer date of each offer, in excess of
HK$5 million;

such further grant of options shall be approved by our
Shareholders in general meeting. The proposed grantee, his
associates and all our core connected persons shall abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting.

For the purpose of seeking the approval of our Shareholders under
paragraphs (iii), (iv) and (v) above, our Company shall send a circular to
our Shareholders containing the information required under the GEM
Listing Rules and where the GEM Listing Rules shall so require, the vote
at the Shareholders’ meeting convened to obtain the requisite approval
shall be taken on a poll with those persons required under the GEM
Listing Rules abstaining from voting.
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(f) Time of acceptance and exercise of an option
An offer under the Share Option Scheme shall remain open for
acceptance by the eligible participant concerned (and by no other
person) for a period of up to 21 days from the date, which shall be a
business day, on which the offer is made to the eligible participant.

An offer shall have been accepted by an eligible participant in respect
of all shares which are offered to such eligible participant when the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
eligible participant together with a remittance in favour of our Company
of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
our Company within such time as may be specified in the offer (which
shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date). Such remittance
shall in no circumstances be refundable.

Any offer may be accepted by an eligible participant in respect of less
than the number of shares which are offered provided that it is accepted
in respect of a board lot for dealings in our shares on GEM or an integral
multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in the duplicate
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by such eligible
participant and received by our Company together with a remittance in
favour of our Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof within such time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not
be later than 21 days from the offer date). Such remittance shall in no
circumstances be refundable.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified
by our Directors to the grantee thereof (provided always that such period
shall not be more than 10 years from the offer date of that option), and
in the absence of such determination, from the date of the grant of such
option to the earlier of (aa) the date on which such option lapses under
the relevant provisions of the Share Option Scheme; and (bb) the date
falling 10 years from the offer date of that option.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme and there was no share option outstanding as at 31
March 2020.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme of the Company as disclosed above, there
is no equity-linked agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during
FY2020 or subsisted at the end of FY2020.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company's shares were successfully listed on GEM on 25 January 2018.
Save as the Listing, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
FY2020.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During FY2020, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for about
68.0% of the Group's cost of materials and the largest supplier accounted for
about 21.1% of the cost of materials.

During FY2020, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for about
16.6% of the Group's total revenue and the largest customer accounted for
about 9.9% of the total revenue.

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the shares) had
any beneficial interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers
referred to above.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Articles provides that the Directors, Secretary and other officers and every
auditor for the time being of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made
all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Company and its subsidiaries during FY2020.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during FY2020 and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Nicole Lucy Haslock (resigned on 1 August 2019)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth

Brief biographical details of Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management”.

Article 112 of the Articles provides that any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Article 108(a) to 108(c) of the Articles provides that (1) one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is a not multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at
each AGM, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years; (2) A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting
at which he retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far
as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation) any
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election.

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph, Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington and Mr. Tsui Wing Tak
will retire at the AGM and all of them, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the AGM.

The Company has received written confirmations of independence from each
of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Yeung Man Chung
Charles, Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth, pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules. As at the date of this Annual Report, the Company
still considers the Independent Non-Executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Saved as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which any of the
Company, or any of its holding companies or fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company or his or her connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of FY2020 or at any time during FY2020.

COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE
NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING FROM

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, each of Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (“Mr. Tong") and
Tiptop Honour Limited (“Tiptop”) (the “Controlling Shareholders”) have entered
into the deed of non-competition undertakings (the “Deed of Non-Competition
Undertakings”) in favour of the Company (for its own and on behalf of all members
of the Group) on 5 January 2018, pursuant to which each of the Controlling
Shareholders, irrevocably and unconditionally, undertakes and covenants with the
Company that during the period that the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings
remains effective, each of the Controlling Shareholders shall not, and shall procure
that none of his/her/its associates (except any member of the Group), directly
or indirectly (other than through the Group) carry on, participate, hold, engage,
being interested in, acquire or operate, directly or indirectly, or provide any form of
assistance to any person, firm or company to conduct any business in competition
with or likely to be in competition with the Group's existing business activity and
any business activities which may be undertaken by the Group from time to time.
Details of the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings have been set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition
Undertakings™ in the Prospectus.

The Company has received the annual declaration from each of the Controlling
Shareholders in respect of their respective compliance with the terms of the
Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings during FY2020. The independent
non-executive Directors, having reviewed the annual declarations and made
reasonable enquiry, were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders have
complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings during
FY2020 and up to the date of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

Each of our Independent Non-Executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with our Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was established for reviewing and determining
the remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and senior
management with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.

Interests and short positions of the Company'’s
Directors and chief executives in the Company'’s
shares, underlying shares and debentures and the
Company’s associated corporations

As at 31 March 2020, the interests or short positions of the Company's
Directors in the Company's shares, underlying shares or debentures which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
in which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFQ),
or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register as referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the “required standard of
dealings” as contained in Chapter 5 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

(i)  Long position in the Company's shares

Name of Director Nature of interest

EEHM
EFHHHBERRNE M BREM 02 -

EEMEBER
AARERUFMERE  BERNRET T
FRERERENHFMERE IR EFES
EAAAAXNNFS - EFN LR H R
EURKEEHRER -

AANEEREBTHABRKAT
B EEROREREURAAT
AR o I o 2 R R

20209F3A31H - KRR EETHAARAF KRG -+
RO ERET  BEREZLARBEED
EXVESETRE 7B M E AR B M Bk A AT R
m AR REREREEFLBEKRINEH
BXHWEEXRBEANEZ R AR IR
BES KRB EEH E3525 B B BN G ATt
WELMOERSAR - siRIEGEM 8 Al
EREMBIRHBTIEEIBNG AR A K
TR ERSSRAR DT

i) RELXIROGOGFRE

Number of Percentage of

shares held™ shareholding

EEnR EatE FERGHEA REB DL

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (“Mr. Tong”)  Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,108,800,000 (L) 70.00%
(Note 4)

FEEEE(ELEED ) RNEEEZENER (M 32)

Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Interest in a controlled corporation 59,400,000 (L) 3.75%

("Ms. Babington”)
Mary Kathleen Babington % +
([BabingtonZ 1)

(Note 3)
P ¥ VA 1B A R s (BT 5 3)
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Notes:

1. The letter “L" denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part
XV of the SFQ) in such shares.

2. The Company is owned as to 70.00% by Tiptop. Tiptop is wholly-owned
by Mr. Tong. Under the SFO, Mr. Tong is deemed to be interested in the
same number of shares held by Tiptop.

3. The Company is owned as to 3.75% by Rothley Investment Limited
(“Rothley”). Rothley is wholly-owned by Ms. Babington. Under the SFO,
Ms. Babington is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares
held by Rothley.

4. Mr. Tong was re-designated as an executive director and chief executive
officer of the Company with effect from 1 August 2019.

Saved as disclosed above, as of 31 March 2020, none of the Company’s
Directors and chief executives and their respective associates had or is deemed
to have any interest or short positions in the Company’s shares, underlying
shares or debentures or the Company's associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register as referred
to herein, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the “required standard of dealing” as contained in
Chapter 5 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Interests and short positions of substantial
Shareholders in the Company’s shares, underlying
shares and debentures and the Company’s associated
corporations

As at 31 March 2020, so far as the Company's Directors are aware, the
following persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company)
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the Company’s
shares or underlying shares which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
who, directly or indirectly, were interested in 10% or more of the issued voting
shares of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances
at general meetings of any member of the Company:

(i) Long position in the Company's shares

FERRRAQXTARMD - HEROK
BREIURARARBE EZE R
BERKXAE

BARNTEEMA - W20205638318 ° FAlA L
(ARRESERERITHABRINRARA K
DEEERDFREER W EABEEREESR
HEIE D EXVERF 2835 5 B M & AR5 K B
REATERAR  REEIEEREWEE
FE R — 1B R T EARRMEAIK B ARRK
BAREERANEMENBREAHBEITARR
B 19 10% 3K LA |+ B9 7 25

(i) RERXIROGHOHER

Interests in Percentage of

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest shares! shareholding
BREEB HE EEME BRGoERO REBDL
Tiptop Beneficial owner (Note 2) 1,108,800,000 (L) 70.00%
=15 Em A A2

Ms. Shum Yuet Wah Anna Interest of spouse (Note 3) 1,108,800,000 (L) 70.00%
SR+ Bic 45 4 2= (P 5E3)

Notes: M 2

1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part 1. FEUEZALTRZEROGFHTE]

XV of the SFO) in such shares.
2. The Company is owned as to 70.00% by Tiptop.

3. Tiptop is wholly-owned by Mr. Tong, the Company’s Chairman, one of the
Company’s Executive Directors and Controlling Shareholders. Under the
SFO, Mr. Tong is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares
held by Tiptop. Ms. Shum Yuet Wah Anna is the spouse of Mr. Tong.
Under the SFO, Ms. Shum Yuet Wah Anna is deemed to be interested in
all the Company's shares in which Mr. Tong is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Directors were not aware
of any other persons/entities (other than the Directors and chief executives of
the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the
issued voting shares of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during FY2020 was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

COMPETING BUSINESS AND CONFLICT OF
INTEREST

As confirmed by the Directors, Controlling Shareholders and their respective
close associates do not have any interests in any business, apart from the
business operated by members of the Group, which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during FY2020.

INTERESTS OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As at the date of this report, except for the compliance adviser agreement
entered into between the Company and Rainbow Capital (HK) Limited (the
“Compliance Adviser”), neither the Compliance Adviser, nor any of its
Directors, employees or close associates has any interests in the securities of
the Company or any other companies of the Group (including options or rights to
subscribe for such securities) pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Directors
confirm that the Company maintained the public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During FY2020, the Group had not entered into any connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions that are not exempted under Rule 20.71 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the significant related party transactions carried in the ordinary
course of business are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company's Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 28 to 40 of
this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event after the reporting period of the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for FY2020 were audited by Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited, the independent auditor, who shall retire and,
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited as auditor and to authorise the Directors to fix its
remuneration.

On behalf of the Board
TREE Holdings Limited

Tong Tang Joseph
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

24 June 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the members of Tree Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tree Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 83 to 171,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA”") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

FRAEEXER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were AR EZEBRBHERMNE L AL - R 54
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of ANEAGRAEMBHRENBZZAEENEIH - &
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit L EEEERMEREEEATKHERLLA
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion = R E#TRIER - AT W iE L= HIEH

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

BERENER -

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
ERERER BMNERNNEEREEXRSE
Impairment assessment of goodwill

BERE

Refer to Notes 2.18, 3 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BREEREM B HRERM E218 ~ 3/K%16 ©

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had goodwill of approximately
HK$23,426,000 arising from the acquisition of a subsidiary.
20203 A31H - EEBEEWE —EHB AR mEL
75 2 4923,426,0007% 7T ©

The Group is required to perform impairment assessment
of goodwill at least annually. For the purpose of impairment
assessment, goodwill has been allocated to the cash-generating
units (“CGU") of furniture agency service. The management had
made an assessment of the recoverable amount of the underlying
CGU, with reference to an independent external valuation
conducted at the end of the reporting period. Management
concluded that the goodwill was not impaired as at 31 March 2020.
EEEAELBFHHEETREN G - RETRE
A AEESEERERERBORSELEN -
EEBE2RNBEMRETNE I EEFT G
HEAReELSEMNAKEOEME EEENERAR
2020F3A3NH - MELERE -

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill as a key
audit matter as the calculation of recoverable amount involves
significant estimates and judgments about future market conditions,
including the growth rate of revenue and discount rate applied in
the calculation.

B PO AT O] BE B BT EDE S K B R R O B 8 KA T
R BREGFETMEANKRERERFTRE
HEMKEERET G SRR ERER -

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of goodwill
included the following:

BMEEREREFENEZEFEENATEERA:

—  Evaluating the competence, capabilities, objectivity and
independence of the external valuer;
STENSEEMEKTE 8N REEEBERERE

VA

—  Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used in the impairment assessment;

AEARAEREOEETERTAE

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions adopted
by the management in calculating the recoverable amount based
on our knowledge of the business and industry;
ERBEMEEBRITENRAFEEREEAER

WEeREBRBIERRIEARE:

—  Testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy and reliance of the
input data used; and

MR TR ARBEEREELATSE K

—  Testing management sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions
to ascertain that selected adverse changes to key assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of goodwill to exceed the
recoverable amount.
RAHEEEHFZMRB[OGURE DN - LAHETE ATE
FERJIOIANBEISEEFENREHEBEB
AT O &5 -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matters
HMEEXER

17

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B RBENRE

EREEZXEE 2

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RMNERNAEERREREE

Valuation of contingent consideration payable arising from acquisition of a subsidiary

WE-EHNBARFMELENENRRARENEE

Refer to Notes 2.9, 3 and 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.
BLBERE M HRERN 29 - 3K32 -

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had contingent consideration
payable of approximately HK$18,033,000 arising from the
acquisition of a subsidiary, which are due to be payable in 2021 and
2022.

2020453 A31H - B B FE YW — B L F W E &
O JE < 31 SR R B 49 418,033,000 70 + :Z KB 15 7220214F
20225 B BRFE S o

The Group recognised contingent consideration arrangement for
acquisition at fair value at the date of acquisition and is remeasured
at fair value at each reporting date. Any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. For the year ended 31 March 2020, a
loss of HK$3,385,000 was recognised.
EEERKEERRAABERRRBESTENIAR
B UTREHMEARAANEBEENGE - EMH
GEENKGEREERERAR - BEXECHERH
202043 A31H -5 JE 79 &5 $83,385,00058 7T

Fair value measurement of contingent consideration payable
requires management’s estimation and significant judgment
on post-acquisition performance of the acquired business and
the discount rate used. The fair value was determined by the
management with reference to the valuation performed by an
independent external valuer.
ERNSARENAABETEFTEZEREHEWESE
BOWEERBERMANREER G RERAE -
AABEHEEE2RE LI BMEERMETHGEERE
F oo

We focused on this area as the assessment made by management
involved significant estimates and judgments in relation to the post-
acquisition performance of the acquired business and discount
rates applied, which may be affected by unexpected changes in
future market and economic conditions or significant events and
circumstances related to the acquired business.

MR EIREEH R 5 N E W R W B 1%
RPALFTEBMTIREGENERE R HE - A
BEEXIARTELEERRNBIINELHED I
BEBBEHEANEREMHRBEAZE  WEAMEENREH

i -

Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of contingent
consideration payable included the following:

BHPHEEENAARENHENEZIEFEEATRIEA:

—  Evaluating the competence, capabilities, objectivity and
independence of the external valuer;
SEINELEEREKT B8  REEBREAE

VA

—  Checking the contingent consideration payable calculation
prepared by management against the terms as set out in the
sales and purchase agreement;

SREEHRBINETRETEERHENEN K
RREFHEX:

—  Evaluating the reasonableness of the assumptions adopted in
the performance forecasts for the contingent consideration
payable calculation; and
AERBEEATRANBRREENIAREAE

EEEE X

—  Testing the mathematical accuracy of the underlying calculation
of contingent consideration payable and agreed them to the
performance forecasts prepared by management for the specific
financial period stipulated by the sales and purchase agreement.

AARNIARERBTEANBRBERE A8
ZEERERBEEBAM TN EM T HRERER

HRBIRR R E — B -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

EREEZXEE 2

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
HREXEE BN ERONEEERERSE
Allowance of inventories

FEBE

Refer to Notes 2.11, 3 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.
FELHERE M EREMNE211 - 318 ¢

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had inventories of approximately
HK$11,602,000. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net
realisable value.

M20204F3A31H - BE& B/ T E 4 /411,602,000 7T °
FEUMARSKAER FEMERNREEALR -

Allowance for inventories require management to make significant
accounting estimates and judgments. These include identification of
damaged, slow moving and obsolete inventories and assessing the
level of allowance required by estimating the net realisable value
of inventories, which is the actual or estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

GFERBREREEBEFHERGHEERALN - EH
HERHAGBEEHENER FHEHEREFEULER
M FEUERFEGINASERRERNER KM
5T & B 1E 8 & P R B il 5T AR AS) RF 4 P 7R 4 K

We focused on this area because of the estimation of the net
realisable value of inventories involved significant estimates and
judgments made by management. These estimations are also
subjected to uncertainty as a result of change of competitor actions
and market condition.
HRAHFEEAZERFESRBEEREFELNERG
ARG BBEMEERER ARG ETSRFEE
TREMASHERNTHERAZLE -

Our audit procedures in relation to allowance of inventories included
the following:

BMBABFERENEZEFEREATSE:

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the basis used by management
in identifying damaged, slow moving and obsolete inventories;
EEREREMNESR FHAREFEREAY

HEZDAE:

—  Attending the year-end inventory count to observe the physical
conditions of inventories and identify damaged or obsolete
inventories;

LEFREFERY UBRFENETRMRIRHZR
BRAREFE:

—  Testing the accuracy of the inventory ageing report, on a sample
basis, by checking to the purchase source documents;
FRREBEIRXY  mEAENFERR®RE
BAERE

—  Testing the net realisable value of inventory items, on a sample
basis, to the selling price subsequent to the year end; and
MEAAGFEHARER FERFABREE R

—  Evaluating the appropriateness of management’s assessment
of the estimated future utilisation of inventory items
without subsequent sales with reference to their ageing and
marketability of the relevant inventory items.
S2EZRBEEEENRRIEHEGE  FEEEES
R EREHENBEA T FEHEANME RKER
BERAEENFEETHE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B RBENRE

EREEZXEE 2

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
HMEEXER BMWERNAEEERERSEE
Provision for impairment of trade receivables

ESRWHBERERE

Refer to Notes 2.10, 3 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.
EFELHEE M EREMEE210 - 319 ©

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had trade receivables of
approximately HK$43,111,000 (net of ECL allowance of
approximately HK$700,000), which falls within the scope of
expected credit losses ("ECL") model for impairment assessment.

M2020F3ANE BEEBENEBEZREKRARELR
43,111,000 7T (B #1 Bk 38 B {5 & /&5 18 4% X £9700,0007%8
) MBENENEEREREEEEREBEENA -

The Group recognises ECL allowance based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgment
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation based on the Group’ past history, existing
market condition and forward-looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period.
EEERBEARBEBRLIENEEXRREHEE
BEEE - EEERNELERZRIEBUREFTEMA
BABEBER 2R E£EBAELR BRITMAK
FHREMARM AT BT ER A -

We identified the impairment loss of trade receivables as a key
audit matter due to its significance to the consolidated financial
statements and significant degree of management’s estimation and
judgment are involved in assessing the credit risk under the ECL
model.

HRESEEFRENREEEHEEVBRRBELE
5 HRBEENCEBERLIGEERRIREE
BREEHERMGFRAE  HRMBEERBREZ
£

Our audit procedures in relation to provision for impairment of trade
receivables included the following:
BMEEEZRIWKRERERENEZIEFEENUTE
15 :

—  Understanding management'’s assessment of ECL allowance on
trade receivables;
THREEBYBSRNFERBEEBEGEENT
s

—  Assessing the reasonableness of estimates and judgment made
by management on ECL allowance by examining the information
used by management to form such judgments and evaluating
whether the loss rates are appropriately adjusted based on
current economic conditions and forward-looking information;
FREEERENNEREEBEGEIEL N
RERBHER ULKTEEREXSTEERRITE
BRARBIELENZRHE  FEEEERES
FEBERBEELOGFTRAHABES S

—  Testing on a sample basis the ageing report by comparing with
the relevant invoices and other supporting documents; and
7 3B b AR A B 22 B H A FE AR SO I BORI R R e
wE R

—  Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy of ECL allowance
using the ECL rates adopted by the Group.
R EXEMRANESREEREX mEms
RHEEFEBESTERE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBERE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the 2020 annual report of the Company, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagements and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 iR 5 FR A & Annual Report %R 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

° conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

B R BARE

B MEBEXGES KRR AE
WEEe)

EERBRERBKENRE  ETEHRERRE
BEREIETHESR  BEEEAERKRAL
TFER B BB R o 8RBT A RK
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AR A M MERAELMRERE  AIBAREK
SRR R AT W ARIEE K -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 12

28 Hennessy Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

24 June 2020

Kwok Siu Kwan, Sylvia
Practising Certificate No.: P06616
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
reREREMEEKRER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2020 2019
20205 20194F
Notes HKS$'000 HK$ 000
b &F FET FET
Revenue I = 4 91,103 85,408
Cost of sales 5 E R A (25,842) (27,497)
Gross profit EF 65,261 57,911
Other income E A g A 5 155 204
Selling and marketing expenses HERMISZHER X (33,652) (36,982)
Administrative expenses TTH R X (19,361) (18,821)
Fair value change on contingent ERNHARBORAABEEH
consideration payable (3,385) —
Provision for impairment of trade receivables £ 5 & 4% 3 T8 (B & 1 (700) —
Finance costs B 75 B R 6 (741) (269)
Profit before income tax kR Fir 18 Bt Al % F 7 1,571 2,043
Income tax expense T8’ f 2 9 (2,361) (951)
Profit and total comprehensive income FRANFEZFHABMEENR
for the year attributable to equity 2HEHKEHEE
holders of the Company 5216 1,092
Earnings per share attributable to AR RBEEAELEERER
equity holders of the Company (AT BB Y 7R)
(expressed in HK cents per share)
— Basic and diluted —EBEARREE 17 0.33 0.07

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019, using the modified ~ N2 [ 722019454 18 LA A& 2438 1 7K ) 44 FE B

retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not & /8 B 75 3R & 2 B 51658 It 505 L& E

restated and the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 is recognised ~ I E 5| - MANAE BT AT F iR L £ 5

in accumulated losses at the date of initial application. See Note 2.2. BB R ERVIREABRRE R EIER
R BIFE22 -

The notes on pages 88 to 171 are an integral part of these consolidated 5588 171E Fff & MY 5% Jh RN 45 & B 75 3R R M0 4H AKX
financial statements. ANy
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

As at 31 March 2020 #20204F3H31H

2020 2019
2020F 20194F
Notes HK$ 000 HK$ 000
N3 FET FE T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BENEE 13 22,320 3,546
Intangible assets EmREE 14 332 222
Goodwill SRS 16 23,426 23,426
Cash surrender value of life insurance AERBNBHRSEE 17 1,789 1,755
Deferred tax assets RIEF IR E E 25 416 286
48,283 29,235
Current assets REEE
Inventories rE 18 11,602 13,763
Trade and other receivables E 5 K E b Y 5K IA 19 52,470 35,655
Tax recoverable AJ Y [0 Fi — 255
Bank balances and cash RITHEBERE 20 16,773 22,795
80,845 72,468
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B & HMEMFIE 21 22,119 11,846
Contract liabilities aHaE 22 4,680 10,592
Tax payable JE 18 2171 258
Bank borrowings RITEE 23 5,704 469
Lease liabilities/Finance lease liabilities HEaE WMEMEAE 24 10,785 248
46,125 23,413
Net current assets REBEEFE 34,720 49,055
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERABEE 83,003 78,290
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities/Finance lease liabilities HEBE BMEMEARE 24 9,425 896
Contingent consideration payable JERT AR AE 346 18,033 26,987
27,458 27,883
Net assets FEE 55,545 50,407
EQUITY ER
Share capital N 26 15,840 15,840
Reserves 1 27 39,705 34,567
Total equity BRER 55,545 50,407
Tong Tang Joseph Tsui Wing Tak
B mEE
Director Director
EFE EFE

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019, using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not
restated and the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 is recognised

in accumulated losses at the date of initial application. See Note 2.2.

The notes on pages 88 to 171 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 iR 5 FR A & Annual Report %R 2020

AREEF2019F4 818 KIS BB BE ¥ 16 FE R
EBYERMELBNBIGH - LA HEBE
B EEs - MyIREARSHBHRELELSE
BB ENYBERABHE RS IER
R BFE22 0

FEBSENTIE FTH KT I AR & B A5 3R R A9 78 A

=i



85

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

(Accumulated

losses)/
Share Share Capital Retained Total
capital premium* reserve* profits* equity
(REER)/
BA  ROBE* BRAREET REBEA mER
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
Balance at 1 April 2018 R2018F4 BB M & 8 15,840 31,564 5,474 (3,563) 49,315
Profit and total comprehensive income & 3 FIl X 2 B &
for the year | — — — 1,092 1,092
Balance at 31 March 2019 and R201953A31A K
1 April 2019 20194 1AM 8% 15,840 31,564 5,474 [2.47) 50,407
Adjustment from adoption of RARAMBRE
HKFRS 16 (Note 2.2) A2 BI 1657 0 1 1 £
REM222) — — — (78) (78)
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2019 R2019F4 818K
R 15,840 31,564 5,474 (2,549) 50,329
Profit and total comprehensive income 4 PO3&E I Jo 2 T U 25
for the year B — — — 5,216 5,216
Balance at 31 March 2020 R2020F3A31H A5 6k 15,840 31,564 5,474 2,667 55,545

*

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019, using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not
restated and the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 is recognised
in accumulated losses at the date of initial application. See note 2.2.

The notes on pages 88 to 171 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

The reserves accounts comprise the Group's reserves of HK$39,705,000 (2019:
HK$34,567,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

* BERLEALSERGAVBERRARPOHE
39,705,0005% 7T (20194 : 34,567,000 7T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2020 2019
20205 20194F
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETHFERERE
Profit before income tax B BT 15 B B i 1,571 2,043
Adjustment for: MTAIEBEL AT
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M- BMELEHETE 9,443 1,785
Amortisation of intangible assets EmE E N 160 107
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment & ¥ % - BB M & & 0 U = — (40)
Interest income A E A (12) (13)
Interest expenses AERE M 154
Provision for impairment of trade receivables B 5 e W F IR R B BB 700 —
Fair value change on contingent ERRKARBHNAABEE
consideration payable 3,385 115
Fair value gain on cash surrender value ASRBHBRAOBSEED
of life insurance AR BENR R (34) (66)
Operating profit before working capital changes &iE § T EEBATR L E E N 21,960 4,085
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FERmALGEMm) 2,161 (2,388)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 N o FE IR IR I8 N (17,515) (1,664)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables éf%&ﬁﬁﬁféﬁ SRIEE A CRl ) 2,094 (2,840)
Decrease in contract liabilities ABHBEERD (5,912) (961)
Cash from/(used in) operations remE/ (AR 2,788 (3,768)
Income tax paid B EH (317) (2,348)
Income tax refunded Fr 15 Bt R 4 — 1,127
Interest received 2 B 12 13
Net cash from/{used in) operating activities AE ST BRI ) 2 FEE 2,483 (4,976)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHFEEERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEDE BWELERE (561) (1,385)
Additions of intangible assets RNEEWEE (270) —
Payment for acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash 4% B — R B 2 B B9 4 Z (B 0 %
and cash equivalents acquired (Note 32) FTESHRERRESEEY)
(Ht:#32) — (2.,307)
Subsequent payment for acquisition of Wi —FHNB AR ER MR
a subsidiary (Note 32) (K1 #£32) (3,500) —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BRERZETERIE
equipment — 45
Net cash used in investing activities RETHAHE 2 FE (4,331) (3,647)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2020 2019
20205 20194F
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Cash flows from financing activities RMEITBHRERERE
Decrease in pledged bank deposits EERBITERRLD — 200
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEERSRE 14,760 —
Repayment of bank borrowings BERTEE (9,525) (4,453)
Capital element of lease liabilities/finance lease =~ EBE BMEHEEEN
liabilities ERED (8,668) (135)
Interest element of lease liabilities/finance lease T EBE BEAHEEEN
liabilities MEHLH (645) (32)
Interest paid 2 F A (96) (122)
Net cash used in financing activities & E LB AT 2 FEE (4,) (4,542)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERBESZEYRDFHE (6,022) (13,165)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FNReRBAEEEY
of the year 22,795 35,960
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year, FRESREASEEY
represented by bank balances and cash URITEBRREREAR 16,773 22,795

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019, using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not
restated and the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 is recognised
in accumulated losses at the date of initial application. See note 2.2.

The notes on pages 88 to 171 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Tree Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company's registered office is P.O. Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort
Street, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman lIslands. The address of its
principal place of business is 28/F., Horizon Plaza, 2 Lee Wing Street, Ap

Lei Chau, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sale and
distribution of furniture and home accessories, distribution and licencing
of intellectual property rights, the provision of styling, consulting and

furniture agency services and the operation of a café.

The directors consider the immediate and ultimate holding company
of the Company to be Tiptop Honour Limited (“Tiptop”), a company

incorporated in Samoa.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020 were approved for issue by the board of directors on 24 June 2020.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
21 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the accounting principles generally accepted in

Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and include the applicable disclosure requirements of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The significant accounting policies that have been used in
the preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are summarised below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The
adoption of new and amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the
Group's consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed in

Note 2.2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

21

Basis of preparation (Continved)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for cash surrender value of
life insurance and contingent consideration payable which are
carried at fair value. The measurement bases are fully described
in the accounting policies below.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries, and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousands (“HK$'000"), except when otherwise
indicated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on the management’s
best knowledge and judgment of current events and actions,
actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3 below.

2. FTESHTHEME )

21

RBEE )

RAMBMETIRE LR AR ER
8. EABRBROBOBELEER
FEA SR AR BIR A R BETIER SN
HEEENT XK E R -

RAVBHRRAARRRENRER
AN EBETZEY  BEF=E
EREN MEBEDNEERE
EETA(TETD -

BHEIE RUESGHBHRIKE
EREFEFRER - BERAZER
ANEREEEHBMEHRITEN
RERMARHE(EL  BRERE
REKAIEEBRGE TR - B R
FRERHEBREMRREENEE
IR METESEAVERRBE
R H B S Y A3 EE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)

New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2019

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following new and amended HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group’s operations
and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 April
2019:

HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to
HKFRS 9

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to
HKAS 19

Amendments to
HKAS 28

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments

Other than as noted below, the adoption of the new and
amended HKFRSs had no material impact on how the
results and financial position for the current and prior
periods have been prepared and presented.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 iR 5 FR A & Annual Report %R 2020

2.

FTESHEREBE )
22 EXBEXRBEESH
(a) M2019F4F1EREEZRBHN

EEHMEE RN REST
EBTBREER

RAFEE AEEEERER
EEQHMASHEmEASE
B R2019F4 BRI FEE
HEMEEREERAEED
RAMEHREME ARMUAT
FEI BRI BB REE
Al

EXUBHRE ME
AR 21657
ERUBHE REEX
AE BI| 5955 19 B
BT A B E
BB GRER  FEHEET -
1955 1 48 R 3%
BRI A Bt
BERGRER ABESE
2857 1Y k&g h
(EHE Elc0
RHER
BB BB
AW & 2R
BRI 2015F &=
201745 A
HHFE
o
&7 (B BT 15 %t 55 12
B % R H) N E
REZES) i3
—BE
$235%
BT XEEREI - FHRIET &

RETNT AR RES LAY
MR I 251 7% HA R B A TE H
FERBBEMRRE T AL &
EAFE-



91

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(a)

New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2019
(Continuead)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 “Leases” replaces HKAS 17 “Leases” along
with three Interpretations (HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”, HK(SIC)-Int
15 “Operating Leases — Incentives” and HK(SIC)-Int 27
“Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease”). HKFRS 16 has been applied using
the modified retrospective approach, with the cumulative
effect of adopting HKFRS 16 being recognised in equity
as an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated
losses for the current year. Prior years have not been
restated.

For contracts in place at the date of initial application, the
Group has elected to apply the definition of a lease from
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 and has not applied HKFRS
16 to arrangements that were previously not identified as
lease under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4.

2. FTESHTHEME )

22 S BERRBEEES &)

(a)

R2019F4AMEREHBBEHN
FEHBMERNETTREMEET
ERMBREERE)
BB & ER E16%E
[FHE]

BB WS ER 265k
IR E B g &R E175R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)
(a)  New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for

annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2019
(Continued)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

As a lessee

The Group has elected not to include initial direct
costs in the measurement of the right-of-use assets
for operating leases in existence at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, being 1 April 2019. At this
date, the Group has also elected to measure the rights-
of-use assets as if HKFRS 16 had always been applied
since the commencement date but discounted by using
the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial
application.

Instead of performing an impairment review on the right-
of-use assets at the date of initial application, the Group
has relied on its historic assessment as to whether leases
were onerous immediately before the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16.

On transition, for leases previously accounted for as
operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than
12 months, the Group has applied the optional exemptions
to not recognise right-of-use assets but to account for the
lease expense on a straight-line basis over the remaining
lease term.

For those leases previously classified as finance leases,
the right-of-use asset and lease liability are measured
at the date of initial application at the same amounts
as under HKAS 17 immediately before the date of initial
application.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied
to lease liabilities recognised under HKFRS 16 was 4.6%.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 iR 5 FR A & Annual Report %R 2020

2.

FTESHEREBE )

22 X BEXRBEESEH &)

(a)

R2019F4A1EREBZMEN
FENBERNFITREST
ERMBREERE)
BB RS ERF 165
[HE (&)

EHRAEBEA

TR BB RS ER F165%
R EABE(BN2019F4A18)
ERENKEREMS A%
ECERERTEFERAEEER
TerABREEKAE - FA -
REBTCEBESAEFHESR
E - MmBEEMEREENS
B ERBRBRE—EER
W RVIRERARMIEE(E
BRIEYIHE -

AEEYERBEXERERY
ERREEETRERE M
EREEE S EREEERE
FRMBEREERF6RE A
EREMAREEREE -

BIEHRE - HREMARIR
KEMERSRTEBDRI2(E
AMEE  AEBECEEMAIER
HEEHe  THEREEEAN
R BRBRTEHAANERE
ERBEMZ AR -

HRENDBAREMEENE
E EREEEMEAERET
RERERBHZRERER
ERAHARIERE G LR
FURNEREEAE -

ERMNIRIBR BV H RS ER
FE16SRER 2 HE B E R
FHIREEEN KR RLE% °



93

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEEHERRBE#

POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 22 EFBERBEEES )
(Continued)
(a)  New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for (a) HA2019F4B1EHEEZBRBAN
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2019 FEHBERNET REMEET
(Continued) ERMBREERE)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued) BB & ER E16%E
[FHE (%)
As a lessee (Continued) EBEBANE)

AR A 7R2019 3 A31H M) 48 &
T E A B RE B 2019 4 A1
ARHEAEaEYER:

The following is a reconciliation of total operating lease
commitments at 31 March 2019 to the lease liabilities
recognised at 1 April 2019:

HK$'000
FET
Total operating lease commitments disclosed at R2019F3ANBRENKERE
31 March 2019 HHE 1A 13,743
Recognition exemptions: ABRE®:
— Leases with remaining lease term of less than ~ — &2 NF D12 A&

12 months (4,144)
Operating leases liabilities before discounting MRAZKEHERE 9,599
Discounting using incremental borrowing rate as at ¥ R2019F4 AL EEE

1 April 2019 M EHTIR (533)
Operating lease liabilities KEHEAE 9,066
Finance lease liabilities BMEAMEARE 1,144
Total lease liabilities recognised under HKFRS 16 at 7201954 1B IR B FE A M 1§ R &

1 April 2019 AR ERNEEEEATE 10,210
Classified as: DR

Current lease liabilities MEBEERE 5,436

Non-current lease liabilities FmEBEEEE 4,774

10,210

Total impact arising from transition to HKFRS 16

The following table summarises the impact of transition
to HKFRS 16 on the Group's consolidated statement of
financial position at 1 April 2019:

BB BN R EEL

BT EA M EESE

TERBMBEEFBUB RS
4E BI| 51655 ¥ 74N & B 5220194F
LATENEE B R A RN
2 .

HK$ 000
F#E T

Increase in right-of-use assets presented in property, R ¥ % « B M & E 258
plant and equipment FRAEEEEN 10,064
Increase in lease liabilities HEAESLM 10,210
Increase in accumulated losses RETEEEm 78
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)  Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs
have been published but are not yet effective, and have
not been adopted early by the Group:

Amendments to COVID-19-Related Rent

HKFRS 16 Concessions?
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
Amendments to HKFRS  Sale or Contribution of Assets

10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business®

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material’

and HKAS 8

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June
2020

E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

4 Effective date not yet determined

8 Effective for business combinations and asset

acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after
the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)
(b)  Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the
first period beginning on or after the effective date of
the pronouncement. The new and amended HKFRSs are
not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

2.3 Consolidation

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for business combinations by the Group (refer to Note 2.4).

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between group companies
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Where necessary, amounts reported by
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the
Group's accounting policies.

Separate financial statements

In the Company’'s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment
loss. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable at the reporting date. All dividends whether
received out of the investee's pre or post-acquisition
profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as

incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured

initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition—date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the fair value on the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised

immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

24

2.5

Business combinations (Continued)

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and considered as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
being made against goodwill or gain on bargain purchase.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the measurement
period about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date. Measurement period does not exceed one
year from the acquisition date. The subsequent accounting for
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounting for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as a financial liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates at fair value with corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign currency translation

(a)  Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial information of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company's functional and presentation currency.

(b)  Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continusd)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value
in foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or
loss.

Group companies

The results and financial position of the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

o income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates over
the reporting period (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

° all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHTHEME )

POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment 2.6
Property, plant and equipment (other than cost of right-of-

ME - BERER
WME - BB R O 21457 0 5

use assets as described in Note 2.14) are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the assets to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Depreciation of assets commences when the assets ready
for intended use.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is provided to
write off the cost less their residue values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

Over the lease term
20%—30%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and fixtures and office equipment
Motor vehicles 30%
The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and useful

lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting
date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance
are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an
asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date).
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any)
over the Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition
date.

If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested
annually for impairment (Note 2.18).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount
of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the
amount of gain or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Website development costs

Cost directly associated with the development of specific
websites, which include external direct costs of materials and
services consumed in developing the website are capitalised.
The capitalisation of such costs ceases no later than the point
at which the websites are substantially completed and ready for
its intended purpose. Website development costs are amortised
on a straight-line basis over a period of 5 years, which represent
the expected useful life of the website. Capitalised website
development costs stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Research and other development costs relating to website
development and website maintenance costs are expensed as
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

29

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continved)
Trademarks

Trademarks are initially recorded at cost. After initial recognition,
these trademarks have a finite useful lives and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis
over a period of 10 years. Amortisation commences when the
trademarks are available for use.

Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the
financial asset and substantially all of its risks and rewards
are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is
extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

(a) Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured at
the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15, all
financial assets are initially measured at fair value, in case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss
are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial assets, other than those designated and
effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the
following categories:

—  amortised cost;

— fairvalue through profit or loss; or

— fair value through other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continved)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

The classification is determined by both:

—  the entity’s business model for managing the
financial asset; and

—  the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets
that are recognised in profit or loss are presented
within “finance costs”, “other income” or other financial
items, except for expected credit losses (“ECL") of trade
receivables which is presented as a separate line item
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
financial assets measured at amortised cost which is
presented within administrative expenses.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Debt instruments
Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if
the assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as fair value through profit or loss):

—  they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect
its contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the financial assets give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in “other income”
in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect
of discounting is immaterial. The Group's trade and other
receivables and bank balances and cash fall into this
category of financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continved)

(a)

(b)

Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets that are held within a different business
model other than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and
sell” are categorised at fair value through profit or loss.
Further, irrespective of business model, financial assets
whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments
of principal and interest are accounted for at fair value
through profit or loss. The Group's cash surrender value of
life insurance falls into this category of financial assets.

Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, bank borrowings, lease liabilities/finance lease
liabilities and contingent consideration payable.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities/finance
lease liabilities) are initially measured at fair value, and,
where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless
the Group designated a financial liability at fair value
through profit or loss.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease
liabilities/finance lease liabilities) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method except
for derivatives which are not designated and effective as
hedging instruments and financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss, which are carried
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in
an instrument’s fair value are reported in profit or loss.

2. FTESHTHEME )

29 €M I Az

(a)

(b)

eHEEE)
CRMEEMNHETE(E)
ERITAGE)

7 18 18 25 15 2 0 (B 1B B AR A
THEE

P T4 18 U B ) 3k [ 435 1 Ui B K2
HE AN R E EFER R
BENGREENBERERE
HIEANEAENE - BE - T
WEBER B GHRESR
TEAYHAS R ENE
RMEEDNNEBREBERIEZAAE
BHENTRAAR - RNEEA
ERENENRSEEABR I
HemEE -

EEEE
ERAENDBRGE
AEENEREEEREIR
Hih e 50R - RITIEE - B
EaE MEBNEABEREN
HARAE -

eRmaE(HEARE BEM
EaERM MR ARER
AECOYEBEERBATIRS
RAHE  BRIERNEEEES
BEEEBBERRAREED
AR RUBR Sh o

Hiz - 2maBE(EEaE/
REMERBRINERAER
MEERILBER ARG E - DT
ETHEQEIFEERE B
TR REEEBBEDZBRAR
EBEIENSREBEBERERANR
AABEEK  MkEER
EUNSESE- N

i 8 A B8 S 1 (038 )
TAMAABEESBIMANS
% -

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 =R #Z B2 5 PR 2 & Annual Report € 3R 2020



104

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continved)

(b)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(Continued)

Accounting policies of lease liabilities/finance lease
liabilities are set out in Note 2.14

Bank barrowings
Bank borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,

net of transaction costs incurred. Bank borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the bank borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Bank borrowings are classified as current liahilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their

fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Contingent consideration payable

Contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair
value at the end of each reporting period with gain or loss
on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

2.10 Impairment of financial assets
HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use more forward-looking

information to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”.

Instruments

within the scope included loans and other debt-type financial
assets measured at amortised cost and trade receivables.

The Group considers a broader range of information when
assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including past events,

current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that
affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the

instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEBTHEHBEw)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continved)

210 EREEREE)

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made
between:

—  financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or
that have low credit risk (“Stage 1”); and

— financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly
in credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit
risk is not low (“Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective
evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category while
“lifetime ECL" are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial
instrument.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL and recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECL at each reporting date. These are the expected
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the potential
for default at any point during the life of the financial assets. In
calculating the ECL, the Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience and external
indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continved)

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial assets at the reporting date with
the risk of default occurring on the financial assets at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

210

21

212

213

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the end of each reporting period. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of
default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill
its contractual cash flow obligations. For internal credit risk
management, the Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collateral held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables and
other financial assets measured at amortised cost are set out in
Note 34.2.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where
applicable, other costs that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition, is calculated
using the weighted average method. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less
applicable variable selling expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue
(Note 2.17). A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (Note 2.9).

2. FESHHEEHBE 2

210

21

212

213

TRMEERE®
BEELMRERE  BEMEBIAER
SWmEMARETREFEEERR -
AIRNEEREESIANEERR
BYRBERAURLT REESR(L -1
BEETAMBEORRE  BEAA
BEMAEHNENEGORE MR
% MEEREERRNBRRAN

A EBH A (ERB)HIBEE

Ef& ’]fﬁuﬂi//m%ﬂ_{%m 'H,i\

i‘“lﬂ%mﬁﬂﬁﬁwm,\ b2 o Bt
NEBEERREEMS ”‘W*B%IJ

ET@@\\*BX/J?HX WERBETE
BATKAIGE RS M EEA(BER
EE)ERKRFAEAEEFFNE
fAEFm) A RNEERABELEED
=4

B BB 5 e W R TR N IR 5H A AR T
ENEMEMEENTEREEBHE
AT i O B AR O AT B BT FE34.2 ©

7
FERKAMEATERFENEES
FIBR - AR (BIERE B E AU K
(EEEBAT) AtmASFERRE
WM R EZRBARRTEED
B AS) Th {58 AR #E ¥ 0E 5 =4
fﬁi%’f@?%aﬁﬁi‘%iﬂ%qﬂm%ﬁ%
BRERNAZHEE R

RERREEEY
ReRASEEYBERRITRT
BHRE -

EHNRE
AMEEEEFRAEEREREME
Mg 5 B S A5t R (B B B (O 22 2.7) o
1 7 S B 9 4 O 1 ) 76 7 S D
521 B M 5 BT MO 1R R
RAEMARE - EHRMERT  ~%E
I i 52 4R B B MO (P £E2.9) ©

Eolj

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 =R #Z B2 5 PR 2 & Annual Report € 3R 2020



108

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.13 Contract liabilities (Continved)

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated

contracts are not presented on a net basis.

2.14 Leases
Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
Policy applicable from 1 April 2019
Definition of a lease

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 April 2019, the
Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A
lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys
the right to use an identified asset (the underlying asset) for a

period of time in exchange for consideration’.

To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract

meets three key evaluations which are whether:

o the contracts contains an identified asset, which is either
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified
by being identified at the time the asset is made available

to the Group;

° the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within

the defined scope of the contract; and

. the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use. The Group assess
whether it has the right to direct 'how and for what
purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.
However, for leases of warehouse, office and shop premises in
which the Group is a lessee, the Group elected not to separate
non-lease components and will instead account for the lease and

non-lease components as a single lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHTHEME )
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Leases (Continued) 214 HE(#)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)
Policy applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated statement of
financial position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost,
which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end of
the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease
commencement date (net of any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-
line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of
the end of the useful life of the right-of-use assets or the end of
the lease term unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership at the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses
the right-of-use assets for impairment when such indicator
exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
payments based on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties
for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced
for lease payments made and increased for interest cost on the
lease liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed
payments. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)
Policy applicable from 1 April 2019 (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)
When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and
loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset
and lease liability, the payments in relation to these leases are
recognised as an expense in profit or oss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.

On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-of-use
assets have been included in property, plant and equipment.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value
at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Policy applicable before 1 April 2019

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines that
the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets
for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of
payments. Such a determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether
the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer
to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as being held under finance leases. Leases
which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group are classified as operating leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHTHEME )
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Leases (Continued) 214 HE(#)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)
Policy applicable before 1 April 2019 (Continued)

Finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance
leases, the amounts representing the fair value of the leased
asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease
payments of such assets, are included in “property, plant and
equipment” and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance
charges, are recorded as “finance lease liabilities”.

Subsequent accounting for assets held under finance lease
agreements corresponds to those applied to comparable acquired
assets. The corresponding finance lease liability is reduced by
lease payments less finance charges.

Finance charges implicit in the lease payments are charged to
profit or loss over the period of the leases so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining
balance of the obligations for each accounting period. Contingent
rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

Operating leases
When the Group has the right to use of assets held under

operating leases, payments made under the leases are charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
except where an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased assets. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent
rental, if any, are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

215

2.16

217

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount
of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
to reflect the current best estimate.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have been
issued. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of
shares are deduction from share premium (net of any related
income tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs
directly attributable to the equity transaction.

Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from the sale and distribution of furniture
and home accessories, distribution and licencing of intellectual
property rights, the provision of styling, consulting and furniture
agency services and the operation of a café.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a
5-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer
2. Identifying the performance obligations
3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance
obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s)
are satisfied
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHTHEME )
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Revenue recognition (Continued) 217 W= BR (2

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their
relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for
a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third
parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time,
when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by
transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Sale of furniture and home accessories

Revenue from the sale of furniture and home accessories are
recognised at a point in time when the Group transfers the
control of the assets to the customers upon delivery.

Distribution and license fee income

Fixed upfront distribution and license fee is recognised over time
on a straight-line basis over the terms of distribution agreement
and license period. License fee income from the licensing
arrangement is recognised over time on an accrual basis in
accordance with the terms of agreements.

Revenue from café operation

Food and beverage income from the operation of a café is
recognised at a point in time when the related services are
rendered to the customers.

Commission income

Commission income from (i) consignment sales are recognised
at a point in time when the goods are sold by the Group; and (ii)
furniture agency service is recognised at a point in time when the
services have been performed.

Consulting income
Consulting income is recognised at a point in time when the
services have been performed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

2.

year ended 31 March 2020 & £ 202038318 IFF /&

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Revenue recognition (Continued)
Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using
the effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of

ECL allowance) of the asset.

2.18 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary, other intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) and the Company’s investment in a subsidiary are subject

to impairment testing.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life
or those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment
whenever there are indications that the asset’s carrying amount

may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time

value of money and the risk specific to the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHERBE
POLICIES (Continued)
2.18 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

218 FemEERE®)

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent from
those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some
assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested
at cash-generating unit level. Corporate assets are allocated
to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be identified. Goodwill in particular is allocated to those cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies of
the related business combination and represent the lowest level
within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purpose and not be larger than an operating
segment.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying
amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged
pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods. In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Employee benefits

Retirement benefit
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined
contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(the “MPF Scheme”), for all of its employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as employees render services during the year. The Group's
obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed percentage
contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulative compensated absences such as sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Equity-settled share-based compensation

In January 2018, the Group adopted a Share Option Scheme
(Note 28) under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the services received in exchange for
the grant of the equity instruments is recognised as expense.

The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference
to the fair value of options granted including any market
performance conditions; excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions; and including the
impact of any non-vesting conditions.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

219

Employee benefits (Continued)
Equity-settled share-based compensation (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. The
Group recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates,
if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares.
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium.

2.20 Borrowing costs

221

Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

Accounting for income tax
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting
date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit
or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other
unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit, including existing taxable temporary differences, will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Accounting for income tax (Continved)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or
the asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable
income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
the average tax rates that are expected to apply to the taxable
income of the periods in which the temporary differences are
expected to reverse.

The determination of the average tax rates requires an
estimation of (1) when the existing temporary differences will
reverse and (2) the amount of future taxable profit in those years.
The estimate of future taxable profit includes:

— income or loss excluding reversals of temporary
differences; and

—  reversals of existing temporary differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.21 Accounting for income tax (Continved)

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net
if, and only if,

(@)  the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities in net if, and only if,

(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b)  the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(ii) different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liahilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.22 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
makers (the “CODM"). The CODM, who are responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors that
make strategic decisions.

2.23 Related parties

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, a
party in considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Related parties (continued)
(b)  the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group.

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below:

Estimation of goodwill impairment

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.18. The
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined
based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the use of
estimates about future cash flows and discount rates. In the process of
estimating expected future cash flows, management makes assumptions
about future revenues and profits. These assumptions relate to future
events and circumstances. The actual results may vary and may cause
a material adjustment to the carrying amount of goodwill within the
next financial year. Determining the appropriate discount rate involves
estimating the appropriate adjustment for market risk and for asset
specific risk factors. Details of the estimates of the recoverable amounts
of cash-generating units containing goodwill are disclosed in Note 16.

Valuation of contingent consideration payable

For acquisitions accounted for under HKFRS 3, future anticipated
payments to vendors in respect of earnouts are based on the
management’s best estimates of future obligations, which are
dependent on future performance of the interests acquired and assume
the operating companies improve profits in line with management's
estimates and are included in liabilities greater or less than one year as
appropriate. These estimates will likely differ from future actual results
of operations and cash flows, and it is possible that these differences
could be material. Changes to earnouts are recorded in the profit or loss.
Details of contingent consideration payable are set out in Notes 32 and
34.6.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Allowance for inventories

Net realisable value of inventories (Note 18) is the actual or estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of competitor
actions in response to changes in market condition. Management
reassesses these estimations at the end of each reporting period.

Estimation of impairment of trade receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost within the scope of ECL under
HKFRS 9

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL (including trade
and other receivables) based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgment in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period as set
out in Note 2.10. As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of trade and
other receivables amounted to HK$47,901,000 (net of ECL allowance of
HK$700,000) (2019: HK$29,626,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$nil)).

When the actual future cash flows are different from expected,
such difference will impact the carrying amount of trade and other
receivables within the scope of ECL under HKFRS 9 and credit losses in
the periods in which such estimate has been changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

Wk oBER
R B2 AT AT R DM T ¢

2020 2019

20205 20194F

HKS$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Sale of furniture and home accessories RERREEMEBEE 70,721 73,296
Distribution and license fee income DR EBERA 3,286 3,432
Food and beverage income By R M A 2,611 2,818
Commission income Bl A 13,616 2,822
Consulting income A A 869 3,040
91,103 85,408

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information reported
to the executive directors for their decisions about resources allocation
to the Group's business components and for their review of the
performance of those components. The business components in the
internal financial information reported to the executive directors are
determined following the Group's major product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments:

o Furniture sale and consultancy services: the sale and distribution
of furniture and home accessories, distribution and licencing
of intellectual property rights, the provision of styling and

consulting services and the operation of a café.

° Furniture agency service: the provision of furniture agency
services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHEEDEBER 2
(Continued)
Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of HREEREREEFTETRAERAL
the product and service lines requires different resources as well as MSZHERETE  WZERENHEEE L
marketing approaches. B o
Furniture sale Furniture
and consultancy agency
services service Total
HEEHEER
BHERE HKERKERK st
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
FE T FET FE T
2020 2020
Segment revenue from external REINBERPH D B
customers I 2= 71,706 13,397 91,103
Reportable segment profit Bl 6,651 4,673 11,324
Reportable segment assets AIZHOEEE 4,621 66,743 108,364
Reportable segment liabilities AEWoEarE 21,459 43,142 70,601
Segment depreciation D EITE 9,443 — 9,443
Segment amortisation o EB # 5 160 — 160
Segment finance costs 53 B B 75 A AR 645 83 728
Additions to property, plant and REME BERE
equipment 19,229 — 19,229
Additions to intangible assets NEETLEE 270 — 270
Provision for impairment of trade 2 5 Ji& Uk 3% 18 I8 (B # &
receivables — 700 700
2019 20194
Segment revenue from external REINIBE D
customers I &= 82,734 2,674 85,408
Reportable segment profit A 2 3k 5 856 % 5,275 1,528 6,803
Reportable segment assets AI2WOEEE 27,430 46,329 73,759
Reportable segment liabilities A2 oA aE 11,887 37,743 49,630
Segment depreciation o Eb T E 1,785 — 1,785
Segment amortisation o EB i 5 107 — 107
Segment finance costs 53 B B 75 K AR 32 115 147
Additions to property, plant and REWME BEREH
equipment 2,242 — 2,242
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

4, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHERDBER 2
(Continued)
(a) Segment accounting policies (a) AEEFTHE
The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting segment AEBEREE BV KRS ERESHR
results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its financial R EDHEERAMG RN
statements prepared under HKFRSs, except that certain finance BREEBVBREE R BRE
costs, income tax expense and corporate income and expenses FrkAEMRR - EETFTEHKA -
which are not directly attributable to the business activities FEHAIARTIIEEERBRT
of any operating segment are not included in arriving at the AEEDENER TSR A
operating results of the operating segment. EATREBRED DK EEE
B NEIEEA -
Reportable segment assets exclude cash surrender value of life o HEETRIEASREDN
insurance, deferred tax assets, tax recoverable, bank balances % %’] JEQ CEBE - BELEHBEE A
and cash and unallocated corporate assets (mainly include e RITEBERSARK
certain intangible assets and certain other receivables). ERARIEE(XERESFTREEE
ERETHMEWRIE) -
Reportable segment liabilities exclude tax payable and EmMOFEABETEBREMRER
unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly include certain other 5fi BEARBE(EEEETEM
payables and certain bank borrowings). FERRIE A FRITEE) -
(b) Reconciliation of the reportable segment (h) TEFRDIREF  -EBEER
profit, assets and liabilities E B RV ¥ AR
Reportable segment profit, assets and liabilities are reconciled EWmHEEN  EERBEHER
to results and total assets and total liabilities of the Group as % BENEERBEERBAEHR
follows: W
2020 2019
20205 20194
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Reportable segment profit 2D EE F 11,324 6,803
Unallocated amounts: ili o B FE
— Finance costs — BF R AR AR (13) (122)
— Corporate income and expense —REllRA KX (3.734) (4,638)
Profit before income tax BR BT 18 B AR R 1,511 2,043
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Reconciliation of the reportable segment

4.

WHERDHER =)

(b) A2HDHEFN  BER

profit, assets and liabilities (continved) BEENHERE®
2020 2019
2020 20194F
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FE T FEr
Reportable segment assets A2 D EEE 108,364 73,759
Unallocated assets: RAOMEE -
— Cash surrender value of life insurance ~ — AZREHBHRSEE 1,789 1,755
— Deferred tax assets —IREFRIAE E 416 286
— Tax recoverable — A g B — 255
— Bank balances and cash —RTTEHBRERS 16,773 22,795
— Unallocated corporate assets —ROBEAFIEE 1,786 2,853
Total assets EEH#E 129,128 101,703
2020 2019
2020 20194F
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FE T FEr
Reportable segment liabilities AIZHoE ARG 70,601 49,630
Unallocated liabilities: KOREIE:
— Tax payable — BN BIIA 2,171 258
— Bank borrowings —RITIEE 200 469
— Unallocated corporate liabilities —ROBERARAEE 605 939
Total liabilities EEHAE 73,583 51,296
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts c) RAEFEHWE
with customers
2020 2019
20205 20194F
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Timing of revenue recognition Iy 2% T 2R
At a point in time LSk 87,817 81,976
QOver time & B 3,286 3,432
91,103 85,408

During the year ended 31 March 2020, HK$9,100,000 or 10%
of the Group's revenues depended on a single customer in the
furniture agency service segment (2019: HK$1,463,000 or 1.7%).

REZE2020F383NA L FE - AEE R
79,100,000/ 7T 3 10% F B RER B RB »
BB — & B — & F (20194 : 1,463,000 7T
1.7%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

WEEDEHER @

(Continued)
(c) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts c) FABEFEHNWE®
with customers (Continued)
As at 31 March 2020, 70.2% of the Group's gross trade 202043 A31H - REEEE H W
receivables was due from this customer (2019: 86.6%). FRIEFT70.2% T5 FE W 3% & = (20194F -
86.6%) °
As of 31 March 2020 and 2019, all of the non-current assets 720204F N 2019F3 A31H - A& B
(other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets) of the EHIERDEE(CRITAREE
Group were located in Hong Kong and all revenue of the Group BHEEERIINCNRES BXRE
during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 were originated H 220209 & 2019F3A31H EFER
in Hong Kong. 2EHWEIREES -
The transaction price allocated to the remaining unsatisfied or MRIANE  DEEHTREBELOXE
partially satisfied performance obligations as at 31 March are as MOBHNEBARZEROT
follows:
2020 2019
20205 20194
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Within one year —FR 3,200 3,200
Over one year —F 1% 800 4,000
4,000 7,200
As permitted by HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated WNE S BTG RS YE R B I5SRFT S ET
to unsatisfied contracts for periods of one year or less is not PEEAB—FHUARKRETEN
disclosed. MR ZERTTHEE -
5. OTHER INCOME Ha g A
2020 2019
2020 20194F
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Bank interest income |ITH B M A 12 13
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HE W ¥ ~ 5 K& & K & — 40
Sundry income IR A 143 151
155 204
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

FINANCE COSTS 6. BFFEH A
2020 2019
2020F 20194
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITEENSHAX 9% 122
Finance charges on lease liabilities/finance leases T EEBE FEH S EEH
liabilities fs 2 645 32
Fair value change on contingent consideration ERXAREHRIALEBE
payable b= — 115
m 269

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

1. BRFTS B A A
BB BEAT R DA B GEA) AT &

HBE
2020 2019
2020 20194F
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET F&r
Auditor's remuneration % SR B & 630 600
Cost of inventories recognised as expense EREAIMFEMKAR 24,933 25,142
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME- BELERHTE
— Owned assets —BEEE 1,239 1,685
— Assets held under finance lease —BEHETHAENAE — 100
— Right-of-use assets —(REEE 8,204 —
Amortisation of intangible assets B AEHH 160 107
Lease charges: HETH:
— Warehouses, office and shop premises held —KEHETEEN
under operating leases BE - HAERIER — 12,657
— Leases with lease term shorter than 12 months RAEFE R BB 15
as at initial application of HKFRS 16 ¥ & 4R A 165k B
HEBER2EANHEE 4,144 —
— Variable lease payments — A EHEENK 19 —
Provision for impairment of trade receivables B 5 e W FRIE R (B BB 700 —
Net exchange loss & BB FE 822 116
Fair value gain on cash surrender value of life ASRBHRBROBSEED
insurance NABEERZE (34) (66)
Fair value change on contingent consideration ERSARENRAEE
payable 2 3,385 115
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 8. EEGAFXX(BREES

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) <€)
2020 2019
20205 20194
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Salaries, bonus and allowances e B MRy 21,118 23,229
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RARAR A ET B 5 823 869
21,941 24,098
9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FIEHAEX
2020 2019
20205 20194F
Note HKS$ 000 HK$'000
b & FET FE T
Current tax — Hong Kong BEBiE — &8
Current year KEE 2,511 950
Over provision in respect of prior years BEFEBBEE (20) (30)
2,491 920
Deferred tax IE 7 B 1E
Current year rEE 25 (130) 31
Income tax expense e 2,361 951
The difference between the actual income tax charge in the RiFeEahEMEE B EROERER
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive SBRETHEARKRAESHANEMNERE T
income and the amounts which would result from applying the enacted MEMSRBEHEZBAHEKOT:
tax rate to profit before income tax can be reconciled as follows:
2020 2019
20205 20194F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Profit before income tax RR A 18 B AR R 1,571 2,043
Tax on profit before income tax, calculated atthe & FT 15 ¢ Al & A1) &9 B 18
rates applicable in the tax jurisdictions concerned (32 #ERI R AR K
WRARETE) 2,450 1,154
Tax effect of non-taxable income AR T R & (7 (20)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses NAIMBERAYOHEEEE 103 12
Tax effect of two-tiered tax regime MRS 6 ENRGEEE (165) (165)
Over provision in respect of prior years BAFEBERE (20) (30)
Income tax expense FTS B 2,361 951
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) income tax

The Company’s direct subsidiary in BVl was incorporated under the BVI
Business Companies Act, 2004 and accordingly, is exempted from BVI
income tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 31 March
2020 and 2019 is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits
for the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. Under the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of assessable
profits of qualifying entities are taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits
above HK$2,000,000 are taxed at 16.5%.

The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) enterprise income tax

No provision for PRC corporate income tax has been made as the
Company’s indirect subsidiary in PRC did not generate any assessable
profit for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: nil).

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to equity
holders of the Company is based on the following:

10.

1n.

REHEZe

Mt
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

MEHBEMEH
ARAFRRERAEHSRFAENRSES
AR AERRERAR - B E®
RHREEHEMEMN -

HEAHEABRERESH
RAARIREBHB RSN EENEBER
AR 2004 F EBHER R HEEEDR
AETEM AL - B T B e A
BRBEHMEH -

EBANEH

HE2020F R2019F3A3NA L FENE B
IS BB T IR F M 5 FE R B R 7 A
165%1 & - HAEE KB ARG RF
BHEMEHEHETREEERABRI -
EFEHRABRHEHEET  aEKREEE2
B & B TR A N B B R 58.25% -
28 &8 T 89 B SR B s R T R R16.5% o

FEARENB(HED CEREH
HAARRRFENEERNBAREHE
2000F3A3NBIEFE Y MELTMER
Bt A (20194F « #8) - M EATIR R B
EREHBE-

BB
R E E20204F K&2019F3831H IEFE - &
AENEIR KT RE S -

BERER

(a)

BREXERF
ARBEBEHBARGEERERD
FTBERUATEREE -

2020 2019
2020 20194F
Profit for the year attributable to equity AAREZFAEAEBGEFER
holders of the Company (HK$'000) i A (F & 7T) 5,216 1,092
Weighted average number of ordinary ARFTEERERENH
shares for the purpose of calculating basic & 3% % hn 42 £ 5 & (F %)
earnings per share (thousands) 1,584,000 1,584,000
Basic earnings per share (expressed in HK & 2 7 2 F (LA AR S AL
cents per share) Z ) 0.33 0.07

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share equals to the basic earnings per share
as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence
during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

(b)

BREBEER

A E £ 2020 X 2019F3 4318 LEF
EATEBEBISETRARK BWER
BERFNENRTRERETF -
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12. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND FIVE 12. EEHEMRAEEESHFMAL
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS i &
(a) Directors’ remuneration (a) EE=FH N

RIZGEM EM R A~ BARRHESIE
WMNER AR (RBEEENEER)
BROIF 2R RENEEMES T

Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Retirement
benefit
Salaries and scheme
Name of director EEHR Fees allowances contributions Total
HER  RAEA
we R FHEIfER et
Notes HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
Bt & FET FET FExT FET
Year ended 31 March 2020 % £202053H31H Lt
FE
Executive directors: BITES:
Ms. Babington Babington % &= (i) 120 2,064 18 2,202
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph EERE (i) 120 = — 120
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak mAELEE 120 — — 120
Non-executive director: EHITES:
Ms. Haslock Haslock 22 1= (iii) 40 — — 40
Independent non-executive B FHITEE :
directors:
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth ERELAE 144 = = 144
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin EBLELE 144 — — 144
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles 15 X 4t & 144 — — 144
832 2,064 18 2914
Year ended 31 March 2019 & £2019%F 348318 It
FE
Executive directors: HITES:
Ms. Babington BabingtonZZ & (il — 2,057 18 2,075
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak wEABEE 120 — — 120
Non-executive directors: FHITEE:
Ms. Haslock Haslock 22 4= (i) 120 — — 120
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph EERE (if) 120 — — 120
Independent non-executive B FHITEE:
directors:
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth EBEL L 144 — — 144
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin BEELE 144 — — 144
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles 5 3 8 %t 4 144 — — 144
792 2,057 18 2,867
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HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)
Notes:
(i) Ms. Babington resigned as the chief executive officer on 1
August 2019.

(b)

(i) Mr. Tong Tang Joseph, a non-executive director for the year
ended 31 March 2019, was re-designated as an executive
director and the chief executive officer on 1 August 2019.

(iii) Ms. Haslock resigned as a non-executive director on 1 August
2019.

There were no arrangements under which a director of the
Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

Five highest paid individuals

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the five individuals whose
emoluments were the highest in the Group include one (2019:
one) director, whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. Details of the emoluments of the remaining
four (2019: four) highest paid individuals are as follows:

12. ESEFMHREBESHFMAL

M€ )
(@) EEHM =)

(b)

(i) Bahington %2 + 7A20194E8 818 &t (£
THAE -

(ii) HE2019F3A318 L FERIEANTT
BEEEELAEN2019F8818 AT
WMITEERTHEH -

(i) Haslock 22 & FA20194E8 518 &% F 3F
HITES -

H =20204F 2019438318 I+ &
W EBEBARREENENR
ERETMEFHOLEE -

o W SR

5

TEBREFMAL

HE20F3ANBLEFE - A%LER
ZEme A LR BE—R (20195 :
—R)EE HBEREXEINS
MR - BEHTMAQNIF: XM
BIRBTFMALTHOMSEBOT

2020 2019

20204 20194F

HKS$ 000 HK$ 000

FET FET

Salaries and allowances e MR 1,768 2,540
Discretionary bonus ) 15 7€ 41 123 294
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRE BT & 3R Vi 65
1,962 2,899

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

BMehFLATEE:

2020 2019
20204 20194F

Emolument bands B < #B
Nil — HK$1,000,000 = — 1,000,000 7T 4 4

For the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

HE2020F F2019F3ANB IEFE -
AEBTERNINESSIAEES
FMATZNMES  EABBERES
IOAA S B sk A 1A K £ B B R R
SHIERBERFEE -
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% BRERRK®E

Furniture
and fixtures

Leasehold and office Right-of-use
improvements equipment  Motor vehicles assets Total
BEREE
EBUR
HEMEXE BARE AE FREEE @t
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS000 HK$ 000
FET FHET FHET FET FHET
At1 April 2018 R201854 818
Cost PR 7,825 3,003 1,757 — 12675
Accumulated depreciation ZEME (5,802) (2,620 (1,159) - 9.581)
Net book amount REFE 2023 473 598 — 3,094
Year ended 31 March 2019 BZ2019F3831B 1L
EE
Opening net hook amount FOERRFE 2,023 473 598 — 3,004
Additions nE 968 374 900 — 2,242
Disposal HE (5) — — — (5]
Depreciation weE (1,046) (365) (374) — (1,785)
Closing net book amount FRREFHE 1940 482 1,124 — 3546
At 31 March 2019 201938318
Cost AR 8,161 3421 1938 — 13520
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE 6,221) (2,939) (814) — (9,974)
Net book amount as at R2019F3IANAH
31 March 2019 RHEHZEE 1,940 482 1124 — 3,546
Adjustment from the adoption of REBARTBRE
HKFRS 16 Note 2.2) % R 1655 1 4B &
HRE M H22)
— Cost — A — — 1,389) 16,380 14,991
— Accumulated depreciation —Z:ME — — 313 (6,316) (6,003)
Net book amount as at 1 April 2019, 720194518 £
restated REFE KEI 1,940 482 48 10,064 12,534
Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ2020538N8 1
EE
Opening net hook amount FOREFE 1,940 482 ] 10,064 12,534
Additions NE 254 307 — 18,668 19,229
Depreciation nE (891) (312) (36) (8,204) (9,443)
Closing net hook amount FREEFHE 1,303 41 12 20,528 2320
At 31 March 2020 R202063A31A
Cost N 8,415 3728 549 35,048 41,740
Accumulated depreciation ZEHME (1112) (3,251) (537) (145520) (25,420)
Net book amount REFE 1,303 an 12 20,528 22,320
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continved) 13. ¥ BERERE2
As at 31 March 2020, included in the net carrying amount of property, M20209F3R31H - W% - MEMZRERA
plant and equipment are right-of-use assets (2019: motor vehicles of net FREPEECAEEE (019F - REFE
book value of HK$1,076,000 are held under finance lease) as follows: 1,076,000 TR E IR ERMEHERFH)
U
Carrying amount Depreciation
FESE e
As at As at For the year
31 March 1April  ended 31 March
2020 2019 2020
20205 120195 B £20205F
3A31H 4818 3ANBILEEE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000
FAET FET FHET
Buildings gF 19,868 8,988 (7,788)
Motor vehicles A EH 660 1,076 (416)
Total F 20,528 10,064 (8,204)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the total additions to right-of-
use assets included in property, plant and equipment amounting to
HK$18,668,000 which is attributable to buildings.

REZE2020F3A3BILEFE W% BE
LEETRETRABEENEFRAER
%E18,668,0005% 7T o

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 =R #Z B2 5 PR 2 & Annual Report € 3R 2020



136

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

14.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

14.

BREE
Website
development

costs  Trademarks Total
WuhBa R
2% i st

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000

FET FET FE T
At 1 April 2018 R20185F 4818
Cost B AR 530 5 535
Accumulated amortisation RET (205) (1) (206)
Net book amount REFHE 325 4 329
Year ended 31 March 2019 B E2019F3A3NBLEE
Opening net book amount FURMFRE 325 4 329
Amortisation b 3| (106) (1) (107)
Closing net book amount FREERFE 219 3 222
At 31 March 2019 2019438318
Cost (DN 530 5 535
Accumulated amortisation RETH 5 (311) (2) (313)
Net book amount RME S 219 3 222
Year ended 31 March 2020 BIE2020F3A3MA L FE
Opening net book amount FURMFRE 219 3 222
Additions NE 270 — 270
Amortisation 5 (160) — (160)
Closing net book amount FREEFHR 329 3 332
At 31 March 2020 720205 3H31H
Cost B AR 800 5 805
Accumulated amortisation RET 5 (471) (2) (473)
Net book amount REFE 329 3 332
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SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 and 2019

15. KB

* E B A 7 520204 201953 H318 #Y

were as follows: AN
Country/Place of Issued and Equity interest held
Name of company incorporation paid-up capital by the Company Principal activities
AR L BEAR
DR AR BR/ % BRERE ARARBENRE TEXH
2020 2019
2020%F 20195
Directly held by the Company
APREERE
Tree Investment Group Limited BvI Us$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
("Tree Investment”)
Tree Investment Group Limited HEERRES E 100% 00% BELZK
(Tree Investment])
Indirectly held by the Company
APRBELREE
Tree Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100%  Sale and distribution of furniture and
home accessories, consignment
sales, distribution and licencing
of intellectual property rights, the
provision of styling and consulting
services and the operation of a café
ABERDE BE VBT 100% 100% SHERDHERERRKELRS  F
EHE DHRFIERIH
ER - RERAREAREN
REE— MR
Hong Kong ltaliving International Co., Limited  Hong Kong HK$500,000 100% 100%  Provision of furniture agency service
("Italiving”)
EREZERERESBRAA BE 500,0007% 7T 100% 00% REEERERY
(=E3:4)
Shanghai Italiving International Co., Ltd PRC Nil 100% N/A" Inactive
("Shanghai Italiving”) (Note)
FBEEXBESERAA HE i 100% TER EEXH

(LEssExa)(Hz)

Note: Shanghai ltaliving was incorporated on 11 July 2019 as a limited
liability company and as at 31 March 2020, the registered capital of
RMB1,000,000 has not yet been paid by Italiving.

The financial years of the above subsidiaries are coterminous with
that of the Group, except for ltaliving and Shanghai Italiving which
have a financial year ending 31 December. The consolidated financial
statements are adjusted for significant transactions or events, including
those between Italiving and Shanghai Italiving and group companies,
between 1 January and 31 March.

Biat: EBBEEIA2019F7ANB MRS
RAEBREERAR - MR2020563A4318 -
EF R R AR %1,0000007T
HEMER -

REZERE EESEEEZRNTHRFEER
NANBERIN - LB R R K B F
EHEAEEE B - GEMKERERERE
ARSHEMHAE  BIF1ABEIANA
MEFHRR FEEREREEB AR
HITHE -
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For the

16.

17.

TREEH

year ended 31 March 2020 & £ 202038318 IFF /&

GOODWILL

The carrying amount of goodwill can be analysed as follows:

16. HE

HENRESEITNT

2020 2019
2020 F 20194

HKS$ 000 HK$ 000

FET F# T

At 1 April R4F18 23,426 —
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 32) W b — M B AR (B 7#32) — 23,426
At 31 March M3A31E 23,426 23,426

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating unit
of furniture agency service.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was determined
from value in use calculations based on cash flow projections from
formally approved financial budgets and forecasts covering a five-year
period with an average revenue growth rate of 2.4% (2019: 5%). The
cash flows for the subsequent years are extrapolated from the fifth year
cash flow using 3% (2019: 3%) revenue growth rate, and discounted
using a pre-tax discount rate of 21.5% (2019: 20.5%).

CASH SURRENDER VALUE OF LIFE
INSURANCE

The Group has invested in an insurance policy for Ms. Haslock, a director
and a key management personnel of the Company. On 15 January 2020,
the life insurance was changed from Ms. Haslock to Ms. Babington, an
executive director and a key management personnel of the Company.
The Group is the beneficiary of such investment. The carrying amount
represented the cash surrender value of the policy and approximates
its fair value at the end of the reporting date. As at 31 March 2020
and 2019, the life insurance was pledged to a bank to secure banking
facilities of the Group (Note 23). Details of fair value measurement are
set out in Note 34.6.
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FENREEIREHRERERBE Y
REeELEM-

REEEBMMARE S EUEBEERT
BEETFE TERBEEXB ENITKE
HEHMRSRBENRRERFHNTE
B (PR S 3 R R 52.4% (20194F 1 5%)) ©
HBEFEMNBREREEEAFTREMNRAESR
B A3% (2019F : 3%) M =G REHEH -
It {6 PR A% B 47 ER R 21.5% (20194F : 20.5%) 47
B o

ABRBNBORSEE

REBEEAARAEERTEZEEEASE
Haslock 22 + 1% B8 — 79 48 f&t o 7 2020F1 A
158 R B 5 {& A B Haslock 22 &= 5 25 & A<
NEITE EFE ZE 12 A 8Babington 2L
T o REBAZERENTEZA - RES
HERENBOESERE BRFEERX
WA REBEESE - K20204F %201943A31
H ZASRESLERTERT  DUEAX
EEERTHE (HE23) MIKE - AREE
BEr EFFIEH A M FE346 o



18.

19.

139

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

INVENTORIES 18. &8
2020 2019
2020 20194F
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FE T
Finished goods X oh 11,099 12,608
Goods in transit EHEER 503 1,155
11,602 13,763
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. ESREMERKE
2020 2019
2020 201948
Notes HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
N3 FET FET
Trade receivables ESERRE
From third parties JEWE= 43,811 24,451
From a related company e U — [ B B R R) 31(c) — 232
Trade receivables — gross BoEWHIE — 2% 43,811 24,683
Less: ECL allowance W TEHEE BEEEEER (700) —
Trade receivables — net B SR FHIE — F58 (a) 311 24,683
Other receivables H fth fE W R 18
Deposits, prepayments and other E&  BRNFREREAMER
receivables P QL] 6,566 6,375
Prepayment to suppliers T8 15F 44 FE 7 SR 1A 1,579 2,197
Prepayment to a related company TEAS — A B B 2 B 3R B 31(c) 1,200 2,400
Amount due from a related company JiE Wy — ) B8 B 2 B 3R I8 31(c) 14 —
(b) 9,359 10,972
52,470 35,655
The directors of the Group considered that the fair value of trade AEBEEERR -  BARE S K EMERK
and other receivables are not materially different from their carrying HREARNIBHHRERE - WEAAE
amounts because these amounts have short maturity periods on their EHERASHITESAEZR -

inception.
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continved) 19. EZREMEKRRE S
(a) Trade receivables (a) BEZEWRIE
Majority of the Group’s sale of furniture and home accessories to AEERNBZFEEHRBIRER
its customers are settled by cash, credit cards, or by other forms REMRMBEDIUNRE - FAFK
of electronic payments (such as EPS). There was no credit term HihEFRNRERX (S PE) AT -
granted to the customers and distributors, but the Group allows AEBITEAZTPE S HEREE
credit period of 2 to 7 days to the payment vendors and up to 120 B -G TNRRBHERER
days to customers of furniture agency service. The Group seeks ERERBEEFSIZEIB R &S
to maintain strict control over its outstanding trade receivables 0B EEH - KEBEZ KEKETE
to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly FlEARBENESEUIGRIE i
by senior management. Further details on the Group's credit FERBBRERE BHERESR
policy are set out in Note 34.2. BEEETHR AELAEERE
BB E— B EHAM 342 o
The ageing analysis based on revenue recognition date of the E 5 M W kT8 A N W 5 HE R B HA Y
trade receivables is as follows: R DT -
2020 2019
2020F 20194F
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
0-30 days 0-30H 6,787 8397
31-90 days 31-90H 12,626 6,268
91-180 days 91-180H 23,698 10,018
43111 24,683
The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables is as BZRBFIENEREEEBE®K
follows: g
2020 2019
2020F 20194F
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Balance at 1 April RARBE R & & = -
Recognised during the year F AR 700 -
Balance at 31 March RIANE R & & 700 -
(b) Other receivables (b) HhpEWFKIE
As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, no ECL allowance was 720204 K 2019F3A31H » I E\IER
recognised. FHHEEBEERE -
20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 20. SRITEBRES

Bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates.
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

BEEZREMENRE

2020 2019
2020 20194F
Note HKS$'000 HK$ 000
b 5F FET FET
Trade payables EZENRE
To third parties ERE= (a) 7,300 4,238
Other payables Hfth fE{S KB
Accrued charges and other payables et B AR E A ENFKIE 3,044 4108
Amount due to a related party FET — B A 5 5k I8 31c) 9% —
Consideration payable ERAE (b) 12,339 3,500
15,479 7,608
22,779 11,846

All amounts are short-term and hence the carrying values of the
Group's trade and other payables as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 were
considered to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values.

FIERBEHAES RN AEENES N
H ity & 5 F0IE 720204 2201943 A31H &9
RABEREARAABENAEIILUE -

(a) Trade payables (a) EZEMNNKE
There was no credit period granted by the suppliers of the Group. REEHHEBTERHEESR-
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as EoRENFREEREZAMOERE
follows: AT
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$000 HK$000
FET FE T
0-30 days 0-30H 6,522 4,215
31-90 days 31-90H 285 18
Over 90 days 90H A £ 493 5
7,300 4,238
(b) Consideration payable (b) ENARE

As at 31 March 2019, the amount represents the unpaid cash
consideration for the acquisition of Italiving (Note 32). As at
31 March 2020, the amount represents the redesignation of
contingent consideration payable as consideration payable
based on the audited results of Italiving for the year ended 31
December 2019. Such consideration payable remained unpaid as
at 31 March 2020 and was included in other payables.

R2019F3H3E - ZeEEREES
R AR E S KRB FE32) - B
2020F3A31H  Z e BEEAEREFT
REE2019F1283NB tFEEHKE
BEEBENIARBENEER
FERTAR(E o 3% E TR B 1202043
ASENARIA - WE A E A ER

IR e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. EHEE
2020 2019
2020 201948
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FE T
Contract liabilities arising from advance payments FEWERF R IBE £ K

from customers BREE 4,600 10,478

Contract liabilities arising from gift vouchers sold & H {8 Kk & B 19 12 %4
but not yet redeemed EENEGHNEE 80 114
4,680 10,592

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from the advance payments
made by customers while the underlying products or services are yet to
be provided.

Contract liabilities amounted to HK$10,592,000 (2019: HK$7,453,000)
have been recognised as revenue during the year ended 31 March 2020.

AEENEGHABEEEREEFPAMK -
AR B 2 aa S AR A% M R AR 4 o

5 #10,592,0007%5 7T (20194F : 7,453,000 7T)
MAENBEDREE2020F383NBIEFE
R A -

23. BANK BORROWINGS 23. SRITBE
2020 2019
2020F 20194
Notes HKS$'000 HK$ 000
i e FETT FET
Secured aHEMA (i) 200 398
Unsecured A (i) 5,504 7
5,704 469

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, all of the Group's bank borrowings
contain a repayable on demand clause and are shown under current
liabilities. The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are considered to be
a reasonable approximate of their fair values. As at 31 March 2020 and
2019, the Group's bank borrowings, based on the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements, were repayable as follows:

M20204F } 20194638310 - NE B B R
TEEHBSEREREENER  LRR
PHABETH R - BOEENEESEW
BEARBENEIBIILLUE - B20209F K&
20194F3A31H - ERE R EFTEH AT &
EXAH AEEMNRITEEAERTIEH
RIEE:

2020 2019

2020F 20194F

HKS$ 000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one year or on demand —FARAHEEKX 5,704 266
In the second year REZF — 203
5,704 469
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

23. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(i) As at 31 March 2020, the bank borrowings of HK$200,000 (2019:
HK$398,000) are secured, repayable by monthly instalments with terms
of 7 years and bears interest at floating rates. The bank borrowings are
denominated in the United States Dollars (“USD"), with effective interest
rate of 2.7% (2019: 4.3%) per annum as at 31 March 2020. As at 31
March 2020 and 2019, the bank borrowings are secured by the Group's
life insurance policy with sum insured of USD1,000,000 (Note 17).

(ii) As at 31 March 2020, the bank borrowings of HK$5,504,000 are
unsecured, repayable within 3 months after the reporting date and bear
fixed interest rate with effective interest rate of 4.5% per annum.

As at 31 March 2019, the bank borrowings of HK$71,000 are unsecured,
repayable by monthly instalments with terms of 5 years and bears
interest at floating rates. The bank borrowings are denominated in HKS,
with effective interest rate of 4.1% per annum as at 31 March 2019. The
bank borrowings was fully repaid during the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Group's banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants
which are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group was to breach the covenants, the draw down
facilities would become payable on demand. In addition, the bank loan
agreements contain clauses which give the lender the right at its sole
discretion to demand immediate repayment at any time irrespective
of whether the Group has complied with the covenants and met the
scheduled repayment obligations. The Group regularly monitors its
compliance with these covenants, whether it is up to date with the
scheduled repayments of the loans and does not consider it is probable
that the bank will exercise its discretion to demand repayment so long
as the Group continues to meet these requirements.

BITEE®

(i) #20204F3A318 + A& #0200,0007% st (2019
F 398,000/ ) MERTTIEE A AIEE -
BARIEHNEASHEELIZZHH
Ket B o ZERITHBENETAHE R
2020F3A3E M B R F F = 52.7% (2019
F 1 4.3%) o FA20204F K 20194F3A318 © %
FRITEBE LA B 7% (R 58 /41,000,000
ETLHASREEEIF PR -

(i) #202043H31H - 7 %£5,504,0007% 7T & 3R
TEREREER  ERHEREEAR
1838 I 12 B BR R M R /5 4.5% B0 B E A R
R

201963 A318 » A& #71,0008 7T 1 iR 17
BEAEIER BRSFHANEADHE
BUWIRZHFIRTE - ZZRITIEEMN
HBITEHE - 201953 A3IB B R E M X
A% - ZERITIEEE R E E202093
ANALEERHEE -

AEBERRITRE AP BERBELOE
ERBhERENRAEBTERIUEE -
WAREZRBRRH  RIMRDEEE
BIMBREE - I ZFRTERBH
AKX B TERARNAT2ER B
REKNKER  TwAKEESECET
BHZRLRBETREEERNEL - A&H
ERERETZEZENBR  BEKE
B IRRARBAKEEBETZER
o RITETIAAREITEERBEEER

yom
B e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

24,

year ended 31 March 2020 & £ 202038318 IFF /&

LEASE LIABILITIES/FINANCE LEASE
LIABILITIES

The analysis of the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease
liabilities (2019: finance lease liabilities) is as follows:

HEAE REHEEE

AEHEEAGEQIF - REHEARE)
BIENIBMBENTNT:

2020 2019
2020F 20194F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Total minimum lease payments: =EBEENRERE:
— Due within one year B —F N5 E 11,492 301
— Due in the second to fifth years RE_FEEFRAFHH 9,779 974
21,211 1,275
Future finance charges on lease liabilities/finance T E&E FEHE2EH
leases liabilities R 2 (1,061) (131)
Present value of lease liabilities/finance leases HEaE MEMEAEN
liabilities RE 20,210 1,144
Present value of minimum lease payments: ZEBEENRHIEE:
— Due within one year °®—F N5 E 10,785 248
— Due in the second to fifth years RE_FEZERFIH 9,425 896
20,210 1,144
Less: Portion due within one year included under ~ J8l: B BEBE TR —F R
current liabilities E| BRI E) B (10,785) (248)
Portion due after one year included under non- FREBEEE TR —FI&
current liabilities EHRE) B 9> 9,425 896

Note:

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach and adjusted the opening balance at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease
liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17. These liabilities have been aggregated with the brought forward
balances relating to leases previously classified as finance leases. Comparative
information as at 31 March 2019 has not been restated and relates solely to
leases previously classified as finance lease. Details for transitions to HKFRS 16
are set out in Note 2.2.

As at 31 March 2020, lease liabilities amounting to HK$20,210,000
(2019: HK$1,144,000) are effectively secured by the related underlying
assets as the rights to the leased asset would be reverted to the lessor
in the event of default by repayment by the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the total net cash outflows for
the leases are HK$13,476,000.
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AEBMERABLERBWEVREAS BT
RAEER 165 - WHABER2019F481BHF )
HEHUBRBUARBES B S ERFEIRDE
AREHENHENTHERRE -SaGBER
MUGELEARMEHENNELAENERS
s R2019F3A3NEM L B E R RETF) - £
HAM EAREMNENTHESRH - BEESE
MRS LR B E N M E22 -

7202038318 $620,210,000/8 T (20194 :
11440008 T MHEEBEM ST - AR WA
SEERER  HEEENEFNKEE
HRA RER EUAAEEEERRF -

HE00F3ANAILEE  HERE R
H %8 A £ 513,476,00078 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

LEASE LIABILITIES/FINANCE LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

Details of the lease activities
As at 31 March 2020, the Group has entered into leases for warehouse,
office, shop premises and motor vehicles as follows:

2, HEEE BMEHEESw

HETBFRS
R2020863R318 AE BB EE . R
EEHMEAEILNTHEE:

Financial statements Range of
Types of items of right-of-use Number of remaining
right-of-use assets assets included in leases lease term Particulars
CRELZEMED
EREEERD BERKRER HEHE BTHEBER &E
Warehouse, office and shop  Buildings under right-of-use 5 1103 years e One of the contracts contains an option to renew
premises assets the lease for additional 2 years after the end of the
contract by giving a three-month notice to landlord
before the end of the contract
e Some of the contracts contain additional variable
lease payments depends on the gross receipts
during the contract period
BE -BMAEREH EREEAETHNEF 5 1 o Hbh—RENEEERE RENHERE

Motor vehicles Motor vehicles under 3 210 4 years

right-of-use assets

nE EREEETHAE 3 2

The Group considered that the extension option of one of the leases
would be exercised but no termination option would be exercised at the
lease commencement date.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has entered into finance leases for
certain motor vehicles. The lease periods are for 5 years. Under the
terms of the leases, the Group has the option to purchase the leased
assets at prices that are expected to be sufficiently lower than the fair
values of the leased assets at the end of the leases. The leases do not
include options to renew or any contingent rental. The finance leases
bear interest at fixed rates.

MEAAEIZH=EARAM TRANH
BEm EH2F

o BPANRARNUBHEENR 28R
FRNBR B RATE

o All of the contracts contains an option to purchase
the motor vehicles at the end of the lease term

o 2HENEERAATLEREEERRE
MEEE

REEHRBREY  AEERA  HP—1A
HENEHRERERETE  ELER
IR ERESETRE -

R2019F3H31H - NEERE TITER L
HEAFHRERE - BREBAEGER -
AEBBRNBHEEABELREGE
EEERAAEENEBREEHNEEE - %
EHEVTREERESTRNEHAS -
BEMEEREEMETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

25. DEFERRED TAXATION

The net movement in the deferred tax assets during the year is as

25. IE B8

RAFEE BEEREABEENESHFEN

follows: T:

HK$'000

T T
At 1 April 2018 720185F4 518 289
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 32) U B — M B A | (K7 7£32) 28
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) K= AR Z9) (31)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 72019453 A31H 201944 A1H 286
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) RiEm AR (A 229) 130
At 31 March 2020 7A2020%3H31H 416

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting of

MAFE  HER-RBEERANS

balances within the same tax jurisdiction) during the year is as follows: A BEEWBEERBENESHNOT:
Deferred tax assets ELEHEEE
Accelerated
accounting
depreciation Provision Tax losses Total
EE s
e B®E HIEEE et
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET F&r
At 1 April 2018 7201844 A1H 338 — 338
Acquisition of a subsidiary U B8 — I BT 8 R A
(Note 32) (Kt #t32) — — 28 28
Recognised in profit or loss R AR (21) — (28) (49)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 7201943 A31H &
20194 A1H 317 — — 317
Recognised in profit or loss M= AR 34 115 — 149
At 31 March 2020 7202038318 351 115 — 466
Deferred tax liabilities EEBEAR
Accelerated tax
amortisation
2 B 0E 6
HK$'000
T
At 1 April 2018 7 20184E 4 F18 (49)
Recognised in profit or loss K= AR 18
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 #201943 8318 201944 518 (31)
Recognised in profit or loss RE= AR (19)
At 31 March 2020 72020438318 (50)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

SHARE CAPITAL 26. R
Number of Nominal value of
shares shares
RGEAR IR 1 T B
HK$ 000
FET
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, 201854718 -
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 201943 A318 -
20194F4 B18 &
202073 A31H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid CRTIEIHE
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, 201854418 -
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 20194F3A318 -
2019F4 B1H &
20203 A31H 1,584,000,000 15,840
RESERVES 2]. &

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(a)

(b)

Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the proceeds from
issuance of the shares of the Company over its par value, net of
share issuance expenses.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account of the Company may be applied for payment
of distributions or dividends to the shareholders provided that
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve
Capital reserve arises from capital contribution by the
shareholder of the Company.

AEEARERESDHHBERREL
BT TR

(a)

(b)

B 17 a (&

B3 i B R A2 R B AT IR MO R 18
SR EEEN S (nRR #
7BI%) -

RERSHERRE  ARAHK
7 4 (B BR AT A 4F 23k 3k B 0 [ B ER
REERBE - R EREZE D KK
BRER  ARBBEEERINBERE
BREPEEEINAER -

N
EREERARDARRMNIA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

28.

year ended 31 March 2020 & £ 202038318 IFF /&

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the written resolution of shareholders dated on 5 January
2018, a share option scheme was adopted by the Company and is valid
and effective for a period of 10 years from 5 January 2018 (the “Share
Option Scheme”)

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit
and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (the “Invested Entity”).

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes adopted by the
Group shall not exceed 30% of share capital in issue from time to time.
No options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other
share option schemes adopted by the Group if the grant of such options
will result in the limit referred herein being exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Group) to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of share capital in issue as at the date on
which dealings in the Company's shares first commence on the Stock
Exchange, being 158,400,000 shares (the “General Scheme Limit").

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group shall not exceed 10% of share capital in issue as at the date
of approval of the limit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding options) to each eligible participant who accepts the offer
for the grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”)
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of issued share capital for
the time being. Where any further grant of options under the Share
Option Scheme to a grantee would result in the shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and proposed to be granted
to such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of share capital in
issue, such further grant shall be separately approved by shareholders
in general meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

The subscription price in respect of any option shall be at the discretion
of the directors, provided that it shall not be less than the highest of
(a) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of
the Company’s shares on the offer date; (b) the average closing price of
the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for trade in one or more board lots of the Company's shares for
the five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (c) the
nominal value of the shares.

An offer under the Share Option Scheme shall remain open for
acceptance by the eligible participant concerned (and by no other
person) for a period of up to 21 days from the date, which shall be a
business day, on which the offer is made to the eligible participant.

An offer shall have been accepted by an eligible participant in respect
of all options which are offered to such eligible participant when the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
eligible participant together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company within such time as may be specified in the offer (which shall
not be later than 21 days from the offer date). Such remittance shall in
no circumstances be refundable.

No option was granted under the Share Option Scheme during the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

28.

LURHOAEERNEERZ ®

P21 A EIRE - BRI B IRE R 8 &
AEBEAEMBEREFSEREONER
B (BREITEICRTTEBRE) EITEM
BRI BEA R T BT MR E B R E
ERLBRENENNGER2EE (K
BADZETHNEROES  TEERERD
BATRORE91% = fis AR 4% B8 A 4 5t 81 1) 7
BAE-—TREOBRESERRESE
—SELEAEREER(BEZA) AL
1218 A B - EARZ IS IR R 8 A R (B
THEMBREFEHCEREERZA
ITRENEHBEREERERTRE O
HRARITEBRE) ETEMESHTES
BTMRRD - AHEBBDEITRAN%
AlE— PRI ARABRELCAKLERR
BRRELEATHAE  MEHARARELE
BHEAEWZARARBEAL ]
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EAEEENRBERHESEHNBERE -
HERFERATSEFNESE @R
EHRY BXMEBRRERABEE—F
FNEEBEEEMHNARRB RO AT
MARRRR DI HE: R EZELBEH
AMAEEXE BIXAEABRERNER
—FHIU L EBEFTEMHNARRARN A
M AR A B FHWTHE R ?
[EIRER

BREFIETHNEOSREREHEE
R2EERBENEA(LWAREXEA)E
ARZNBHEAHTERAERSRE
(ETSHEMALIER -

EARARARELNAIREIANKR(TFE
REZHNEBRHNB) AEEKSERE
HEZRBFEFENENENNFES  ER
AARB XN TER(ERERBK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  29. 72 &) B9 Bf % ik i 3%

COMPANY

2020 2019
20205 20194F
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ERBARMEE 20,249 20,249
Intangible assets BEEE 23 31
20,272 20,280
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments B IR 231 190
Prepayment to a related company Bl ) VNN E 1,200 2,400
Amount due from a related company JFE W — [ B B 2 =) ) SR 1B 14 —
Amount due from a subsidiary JE W — RS B B A R A9 3R T8 16,574 19,512
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR MRS — 45
18,019 22,147
Current liabilities rEBEE
Other payables H e 5118 604 939
Net current assets REBEEFE 17,415 21,208
Net assets EEFE 37,687 41,488
EQUITY =
Share capital & A 15,840 15,840
Reserves (Note) & (0 7F) 21,847 25,648
Total equity Mg 37,687 41,488

202056 240 & & =g HE o MR E T

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 June

2020. B o
Tong Tang Joseph Tsui Wing Tak
B HhEE
Director Director
EF =4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OFTHE 29. XA T B MR R K2
COMPANY (Continued)
Note: K it -
The movement of the Company's reserves are as follows: ARRKEEESHOT:
Share Accumulated
premium* losses Total
B’ 5% E* ey ] #wEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2018 F20184F1H 51,813 (21,604) 30,209
Loss for the year FREE — (4,561) (4,561)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 720193 A31H K 20194481H 51,813 (26,165) 25,648
Loss for the year FRNEE — (3,801) (3,801)
At 31 March 2020 7202056383180 51,813 (29,966) 21,847

30.

Share premium represents (i) the excess of the proceeds from issuance
of the shares of the Company over its par value, net of share issuance
expenses; and (i) the difference between the carrying value of Tree
Limited acquired on in prior years over the nominal value of the share
capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

* F% 1 )4 B 48 (i) AR 2 R 3% 77 B 19 WO P 1S 3K
TH B E A R (B B £ B 1T R
) RVBEFEWREABBRARN
BREE BB AR RME R 3 1T M
AH{EMNZER -

LEASE COMMITMENTS 30. FHE&E
As at 31 March 2020, the Group has no lease commitments. As at 31 2020563 A318 » AN E I A B AHE -
March 2019, the total future minimum lease payments payable by the 20193 A318 » 2N 5 B4R 55 1 0] H8H 4
Group under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: EHERNMARZERENRBTE N
T

2020 2019

2020 20194F

HKS$ 000 HK$'000

FET F&r

Within one year R—FA — 9,609

In the second to fifth years REFEERF — 4,134

— 13,743

As at 31 March 2019, the Group leases its office, warehouses and
shop premises under operating leases. The leases have varying lease
terms and renewal rights. Certain leases of shop premises include
contingent rentals which are determined by applying the pre-determined
percentages to gross receipts less the basis rentals of the respective
leases.

M2019F3A31H - AEERBEEHEMR
BERAZE  BERMG ZZHEASF
TRAMERREERE ATHHEEE
BEEABKANETES L RAREE
MEAASETHRABS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

LIRS

AEEEBBEH TN S ERRNME224
BE -BUESSEAMBEHRREMiT R
By ARz AEBEEKS S

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31.

The Group’s accounting policies on related parties are disclosed in Note
2.24. In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in
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these consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following

material transactions with related parties:

(a) Name and relationship with related parties
During the year, the related parties that had transactions with

the Group were as follows:

Name of related parties

EITTHNEARRS:

(a) BABEL BN MHERBE
RAFE  BAREETRS0H

BeogmT

Relationship with the Group

BEENER KA B @R

Tiptop Ultimate holding company

278 Sy YN

Mr. Tong Director of the Company and the controlling shareholder of
Tiptop

EEHE RABMESZREBTENZERRKRRE

Mr. Han Yi Director of a subsidiary

BREE —FHfEARNES

Ms. Babington Director of the Company

Babington 22 4= RAGIWES

Ms. Haslock Director of the Company prior to 1 August 2019

Haslock 22 = MR2019F8A1ARI B ARAIMNES

American Tree, Ltd. (“American Tree”)

American Tree, Ltd. ([American Tree])

AE Majoris Business Development Company Limited
("AE Majoris”)

AACEXERAERAG(HARNBE]D

Rothley Investment Limited (“Rothley”)

Rothley Investment Limited ([Rothley))

Controlled by Ms. Haslock
5% Haslock 2z = 42 &l
Controlled by Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, a director of the Company

RARANERIRAB I EEH
Controlled by Ms. Babington
5% Babington 22 + 4% |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Transactions with related parties
During the year, the transactions with related parties of the
Group carried in the ordinary course of business were as follows:

BEBMAERSE)

HEBITNX S
PR B 153812 o 52 25 4 B B
BT ETHRSMT

2020 2019
2020 20194F
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FAET FETT
American Tree (Note) License fee income* Al B A
American Tree (47 5%) 54 232
AE Majoris Investor and public BEHRAHEBIE
NS relationship AR 75 % *
service fee* 1,200 1,200
* These related party transactions constitute connected * ZE B R 5 K GEM LT AR

transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Note: American Tree is controlled by Ms. Haslock, who resigned as a
non-executive director on 1 August 2019, American Tree is no
longer a related party of the Group since 1 August 2019.

Pursuant to a licence agreement dated 1 June 2015 entered
among Tree Limited, American Tree and Ms. Haslock, Tree
Limited has granted American Tree an exclusive royalty-free
licence to use certain of the Group’s trademarks and intellectual
property rights in the United States of America and Canada for
an initial period of 20 years (the “Licence Period”) for annual
revenue-based licence fee. Pursuant to the Supplemental Licence
Deed dated 16 December 2016 entered among the same parties,
the Licence Period commenced on 1 June 2015 shall expire on
one day preceding the listing date and shall be automatically
renewed for the second term commencing on the listing date and
expiring on one day preceding the third anniversary of the listing
date, which may then be extended automatically for successive
further terms of three years each.

AIE—TEMRENBERS K

K74t - American Tree 52 Haslock 2 == 58 ]
i Haslock 22 + 2 74 20194F 8 A 1H &t
EIEFHITESE + B American Tree B
2019F8 BT B AAEEH
BAEE S -

RIERE BRAF - American Tree £
Haslock 22 o= FT 57 32 B BB &201546 A
BRI A AR AR M
American Tree 5 (1 A EFI B2 & R &
MeEXERARAEENE TEEUAR
M EENBR RIS ER E -
12 BABR A204 ([Fra] REHARR 1) - IR
AR ZAEROFETTES -
RIBERRRTZ A ATE] 3 HH A20164F
12A6ER AT A 2% - Fra R
PRA2015F6 ARR M - #50 EMHE
BRI —REH - WEBERSE — @
HAR (M EMBHMARL BN EH
AR E=BFa—REH) &
BEAE—SHBESR BA=F-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) N BBAXRIZ®)
(c) Amounts due from/(to) related parties (c) FEW ~(FEST)EBAEE 5 FKIE
2020 2019

2020F 20194F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET

Trade receivables B S EWRE

American Tree (Note (i)) American Tree (#7 72 (i)) = 232

Prepayments T RIE

AE Majoris (Note (if)) BA K 1 2 (Y 77 (i) 1,200 2,400

Other receivable H{th fE W K18

Rothley Rothley 14 —

Other payahle Hfth {4 RIE

Mr. Han Yi EEEAE (96) —

Note: M at -

(i) American Tree is controlled by Ms. Haslock, who resigned as a (i) American Tree 52 HaslockZz =441 » 1

non-executive director on 1 August 2019, American Tree is no
longer a related party of the Group since 1 August 2019.

(ii) The amount represents the prepaid investor and public (ii)
relationship service fee to AE Majoris for the period from 1 April

2018 to 31 March 2021.

Amounts due from/(to) related parties are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand, except for prepayment to AE
Majoris. None of the amounts due from related parties were

either past due or impaired.

The maximum outstanding of amounts due from related parties

Haslock 22 = B 720194F8 A1H & £
JEHTTEE © B American Tree 52019
FOAA T H A K £ B R B

7 oo

BRASBEEMAADNEAENBE2018
FL4R1E R E20219F3 8318 (- B
WREERALBERSSE -

BB R b X BB FRIEN
OB BB REREER &
B RARBERER o WEEKE
TRRIBB R ERE

& W

FRRKEE D KENRSREE

during the year is as follows: SR
2020 2019
2020F 20194F
HKS$ 000 HK$000
FET FET
American Tree American Tree 232 232
AE Majoris AR 2,400 3,600
Rothley Rothley 14 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continved) N BEBRAIAXRZ®
Guarantees provided by a related party d H—EEBEIRENER
During the year ended 31 March 2019, Mr. Tong has provided HZE2019F383NHIEFE B E
personal guarantee to a bank in respect of certain banking RAEBEERETHRITEE A—
facilities granted to the Group in which the bank borrowing MIRITIRMEEAER - BERTE
has been fully repaid during the year ended 31 March 2019. No ECREE2019F3A3IBEFEE
personal guarantee provided by Mr. Tong during the year ended HIEE - HE2020F3ANHILFE -
31 March 2020. A AR EAER -
Key management personnel remuneration e) FEEBEAEHM
Key management of the Group are members of the board of AEENTEEREEARAESTRAS
directors and senior management. Included in employee benefit MEEBEEKE - FFAREBRAMAX
expenses are key management personnel remuneration which NEZERBABHHERENTEE
includes the following expenses: FZ:
2020 2019
2020 20194F
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FE T
Salaries and allowances e kOERM 3,591 3,716
Discretionary bonus BB 4L 55 205
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & ¥R #& F 51 21 i 7 53 58
3,699 3,979
32. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 32 WEE—EME AT

On 14 December 2018, Tree Investment, a subsidiary of the Group,
Perfect Bright Management Company Limited, an independent third
party, and Mr. Han Yi, an independent third party, entered into a sales
and purchase agreement (the “Sales and Purchase Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Group agreed to acquire the entire share capital
of Italiving (the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition was completed on 31
December 2018 (the “Completion Date”).

The transaction was made to broaden the income base of the Group and
facilitate the development of the Group’s business.

K208 128148 - A &£ B i B 2 7
Tree Investment * %8 32 58 = J5 Perfect Bright
Management Company Limited 2 ¥ 37 55 = /5 &
BELFVEEGHE Bt - A5ERE
WEEEHRN2HRA(TKESIE] -
I B IEE R2018F12 A318 ([ BE))
TR e

ZRXGEEBAASENBAER R
REASENEBHR -
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A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

32. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

Pursuant to the terms of the Sales and Purchase Agreement, the total
consideration for the Acquisition (the “Purchase Consideration”) are as
follows:

(a) Cash consideration

(i) upon Completion, a sum of HK$3,000,000; and

(ii) within three months from the Completion Date, a sum of
HK$3,500,000;

(b)  Contingent consideration

(i) within one month from the date of the audited account of
Italiving for the year ending 31 December 2019, provided
that the net profit before tax of Italiving for the year
ending 31 December 2019 is not less than HK$5,200,000,
a sum equals two times of the net profit before tax of
[taliving minus HK$6,500,000 paid under (a)(i) and (a)(ii)
above;

(i) within one month from the date of the audited account of
Italiving for the year ending 31 December 2020, provided
that the net profit before tax of Italiving for the year
ending 31 December 2020 is not less than HK$6,200,000,
a sum equals 1.8 times of the net profit before tax of
Italiving; and

(iii)  within one month from the date of the audited account of
Italiving for the year ending 31 December 2021, provided
that the net profit before tax of ltaliving for the year
ending 31 December 2021 is not less than HK$9,300,000,
a sum equals 1.4 times of the net profit before tax of
Italiving.

Notwithstanding the aforementioned payment schedule, Tree
Investment shall not be under any obligation to pay a sum exceeding
HK$40,000,000 in aggregate as the Purchase Consideration or when the
above obligation has been discharged.
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32. WEE—EMHEAS %
RESEGROER  KEEENALRE
(EEREDMT:

@ BEKE

(i) M5 243,000,000/ 7T

&
(i) BEKASMEA=FEARN X
143,500,000 7T
b))  HARE
(i) B =R & 2201912831

AEFEMNKEZERBEARR
AF—EAR MEZEHEREZR
20194F12 A31 85 IEF[E M B B AT
4 FI 7~ 4 745,200,000 5T 0 Bl
TNEEREZHREBH A
40 FI) 9 215 8 _E 32 (a)li) K (aii)
T8 T 1+ #96,500,0007% T 1) &
Lol

(ii) EEHRH E2020F12731
AEFEMNKEZERBEABRR
A—EAR MEZEREZR
2020512 A3 IEF R BT AT
4 FI 7~ 4> 546,200,000 5T 0 Al
T HEEREZH KRG ATL
FrI8EMEEE: &

(i) BEEMXRE EZ2021F12831
HIEFEMNKEEZKEBABR
F—EAR - MEZERER
2021F12 A3 A IEFERIBR TR A
“6 ) A~ 4> 749,300,000 7T - Bl
THEEREZE R ATA
FEIAEH SR -

Tam A FREE R - EABERESK
RIEIT bl LR - Tree Investment i £ (£
o] & F 32+ #2 38 & 3£40,000,000%8 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued) 32. WE—BEKB AR
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Italiving EEUHRNEWEASZMNEERABER
acquired at the Completion Date is as follows: TAEHMRAABERT:
HK$'000
FET
Deferred tax assets EEFIEEE 28
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b fE W 5 IA 22,211
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBR LA 693
Trade and other payables B S & E b e FRIE (8,886)
Contract liabilities EREE (4,100)
Net identifiable assets acquired EREAHRNEEFE 9,946
Goodwill (Note 76) GG 23,426
33,372
Purchase Consideration satisfied by BEREBUATI AN
— Cash —Re 6,500
— Contingent consideration payable, at fair value (Note) ~ — JEfT S ARME - I AR BEN F) 26,872
33,372
Note: K i#

The Purchase Consideration includes a contingent consideration arrangement.
The fair value of the contingent consideration payable of HK$26,872,000 initially
recognised on Completion Date represents the present values of the Group's
probability-weighted estimates of the cash outflows. It reflects management’s
estimates of the probabilities that the net profit before income tax of Italiving
for the years ending 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 will be achieved and the
discount rates. As at 31 March 2019, there have been no change in the estimates
of the probable cash outflows but the liability has increased by HK$115,000 due
to the unwinding of the discount.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the Acquisition is as follows:

BENEEEIARBLE -REXKBBHOL
e 28 ) FE - S AR B A 72 (B (826,872,000 7T -
ERAEBBRESRHOBENEGENRE -
RMEEEHEZHREREZ2019F - 20209
R2021F12 A318 1L E B IR & 5 F115 B Al 48 7
ROBE R DA R IT IR R/ 5 - R2019F3A31A -
HagRentmbtEEEE  BEERN
35 T 4% H0115,0005%8 7T °

WEEENESRAOMWE T :

HK$'000
T T
Cash consideration paid ENRENRE 3,000
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired BoOERESMRITESR LIRS (693)
Cash outflow in respect of the Acquisition W= I/ 3R € 2,307

As at 31 March 2019, the Purchase Consideration for cash and
contingent components of approximately HK$3,500,000 and
HK$26,987,000, respectively, remained unpaid, and were included in
other payables and non-current portion of contingent consideration
payable, respectively. As at 31 March 2020, contingent consideration
payable based on the audited results of Italiving for the year ended 31
December 2019 of approximately HK$12,339,000 was redesignated as
consideration payable and was included in other payables and the fair
value of contingent consideration payable based on the performance
forecasts of Italiving for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021 of
approximately HK$18,033,000 was included in non-current liabilities.

MR2019F3A31H  ME LA HHEE
B 5 Rl #73,500,0007 7T 1%26,987,0005 7T
MRS - W RIFTAE A FER FRIB A K
JER S ARERIER BB ° K20209F3 7
A RBEZEREE2019F12AH 1E
FENKERERTENERNIARE
49123390008 T EF BT AEMNKE I
ATAEMEMRE mMBEEFEREZE
20204 F 20214612 A 318 |- F [ #) 5% 35 7838
T E R FE A s AR AE A S B E 4918,033,000
BILAGTAERBARE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

32.

year ended 31 March 2020 & £ 202038318 IFF /&

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

Goodwill arose in Acquisition as the cost of combination included a
control premium. In addition, the consideration paid for the combination
effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the
assembled workforce. These benefits are not recognised separately
from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets. None of the goodwill arising on the
Acquisition is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$281,000 have been excluded
from the consideration transferred and have been recognised as
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 is HK$1,378,000
attributable to the additional business generated by Italiving. Revenue
for the year ended 31 March 2019 includes HK$2,674,000 in respect of
Italiving.

If the Acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2018, the Group's revenue
would have been increased by HK$5,338,000 and profit for the year
would have been increased by HK$443,000 for the year ended 31 March
2019. This pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is
not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the Acquisition been
completed on 1 April 2018, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.
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g —EM B DRz

B & BF B AN 6 35 1 HE R B - UK
BIEEAEE - W BANTHNRE
TS -0 45 5176 13 13 A - Uk as 3 n
RETISHERBA ST HEH %0
e MR RERSL REHNTHT
B BEMRDIEE MU EEBED
PR EHRNEEEMEENEER
AT R o

U B8 48 B B A5281,0008 T I B & A 8
MRES  TREE2019F38NBIEFE
MEEGESREME2ERSRTPER A
THAX -

HZE=2019F3 A318 LEFE % 4 791,378,000
B RABZHERMEELNBEINER - &
E9FIANBLFEHRZRIEEEE
5% 5 B8 #92,674,00078 JC ©

fith W B = T 20184 F A ANE B A - B A&
B & = 2019F3 A318 1F F 2 8 U 25 5 48 in
5,338,000/ 7T + F Z & FI #5 15 h0443,00078
JL e WEEBRHERARHBPAR  AMEK
I il Y B 5 TE R 20186F4AB1B AR AR
EERFBERORSREEES T F
BIERERIKEHEMTEA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT . EBEERERME
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (a) METBHFELEBNYHE
financing activities
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing AEENRETHEENEES
activities can be classified as follows: PofEmT:
Lease
liabilities/
Finance lease Bank
liabilities borrowings Total
HEAE
mERE
=R RITEE et
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FE T FET FE T
At 1 April 2018 72018418 422 4,922 5,344
Cash-flows: HeERE:
Repayments B (135) (4,453) (4,588)
Interests paid [RENEIPSN (32) (122) (154)
Non-cash: FkRE:
Interests accrued JE 5T A1 B 32 122 154
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE BELREZE
equipment 857 — 857
At 31 March 2019 A2019F3H31H 1,144 469 1,613
Impact on initial application of MpERBT AN B RE
HKFRS 16 (Note 2.2) HERIEBER T E
(K1 :t2.2) 9,066 — 9,066
At 1 April 2019 (adjusted) A2019F4 818 (KAX) 10,210 469 10,679
Cash-flows: ReRe
Proceeds BT 18 3R — 14,760 14,760
Repayments EXR — (9,525) (9,525)
Capital element of lease liabilities HEAaGENARE D (8,668) — (8,668)
Interests paid BEAAE — (96) (96)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEA ﬁ # ) S EB 5 (645) — (645)
Non-cash: FkRE:
Entering into new leases RN FEE 18,668 — 18,668
Interests accrued FEETF S 645 9 M
At 31 March 2020 4202038318 20,210 5,704 25914
(b) Non-cash transactions (b) FERERH
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group entered into REZE2020F3A3NAILFEE - KNEE
certain lease contracts in which additions to right-of-use assets AIVATHESY Bt RHEE
and lease liabilities amounting to HK$18,668,000 was recognised FmAHERFIEEAEEE KHE
at the lease commencement date. During the year ended 31 & 51518,668,0008 7T © MAELE 20194
March 2019, the Group entered into finance lease arrangements SANBLEFE AEERHEHERLR
in respect of assets with a total capital value at the inception of B & N 48 (E857,00008 T & E ] L
the leases of HK$857,000. MERELRH -
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ra MR

For the

34.

year ended 31 March 2020 & £ 202038318 IFF /&

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial
instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment
activities. The financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and market
risk (including interest rate risk and foreign currency risk). The Group's
overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management is
carried out by the senior management of the Group and approved by the
board of directors. There has been no change to the types of the Group's
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risks.

34.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position relate to the following categories of financial

MHRREERAAEBETE

AEERERRXBBREMKZE DT E
Fﬁimﬂlﬂﬁﬁ%jﬂ*ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ“ o I BT

BEEEERR  RBESRRB KSR
M(\Lﬁ.fﬂ%ﬂ 2 RN BR) o AREER

BRERREERESKEEREHAS
ENMBERREKNEETFEE - A
SEERAEENESAEEEETILE
=Zeif - AEER SR T ARKENAR
ERAKHEBELTERABRN AT EE
1t »

I EMEER BENER
EHAMBRART2IINERS
BENTENNSREERSRE

assets and financial liahilities:

EE:

2020 2019
2020 20194F
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at fair value through BBEEBEZEALEBEIEN
profit or loss S EAEE
— Cash surrender value of life insurance ~ — ASZREABHR S EE 1,789 1,755
Financial assets at amortised cost REBEXNTFENSREE
— Trade and other receivables — B S RHEMEKFRIE 47,901 29,626
— Bank balances and cash —IRITEHRES 16,773 22,795
66,463 54,176
Financial liabilities EA R
Financial liabilities at fair value through BBREZEAALEBEIEN
profit or loss TERAE
— Contingent consideration payable — RS ARE 18,033 26,987
Financial liabilities at amortised cost EZBEXTFENTREE
— Trade and other payables — B R HEMERMFIA 21,824 11,201
— Bank borrowings —iRITEE 5,704 469
— Lease liabilities/Finance lease liabilites —HE&E #MEHEBE 20,210 1,144
65,771 39,80

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 iR 5 FR A & Annual Report %R 2020




161
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

34.2 Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash and bank
deposits and trade and other receivables. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets is limited
to the carrying amount at the reporting dates as summarised in
Note 34.1.

(i)

Trade receivables

The Group's policy is to deal only with credit worthy
counterparties. Credit terms are granted to new
customers after a credit worthiness assessment by the
credit control department. When considered appropriate,
customers may be requested to provide proof as to their
financial position. Where available at reasonable cost,
external credit ratings and/or reports on customers are
obtained and used. Customers who are not considered
creditworthy are required to pay in advance or on
delivery of goods. Payment record of customers is closely
monitored. It is not the Group's policy to request collateral
from its customers.

In addition, as set out in Note 2.10, the Group assesses
ECL under HKFRS 9 on trade receivables based on
provision matrix, the expected loss rates are based on the
payment profile for sales in the past 36 months as well
as the corresponding historical credit losses during that
period. The historical rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forwarding looking macroeconomic factors affecting
the customer's ability to settle the amount outstanding.
At each reporting date, the historical default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed. However, given the short period exposed
to credit risk, the impact of these macroeconomic factors
has not been considered significant within the reporting
period.

Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Failure to
make payments within 365 days from the invoice date and
failure to engage with the Group on alternative payment
arrangement amongst other is considered indicators of no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE

(%)

32 EERAK
AEBRERSRBTEIUARE
SR EMERFEBRAEEERR
AEERLSRMEERENZEAEE
AERTHBERBREANETESE (M
B sE341 BT AL L) o

(i)

B2 EWRIE

AEBENBERELREERLT
MRSHFETRS - IEP
ABBEEEEMPIETHGE
EERER TUEREE
Rk - HEERBAT BFA
RE &t 2 SRAR KA B E B %K
AER - ERARENER
T g@RMILEAELHIN
EEAER RIBE o WRA
EENMEMNEPAREMNMNRK
BEMR - AEETINERT
PRI R 8 - REBHHEUR
YHEmEBRFFPEHE M -

I AN o 40 M FE210F7 & 0 AR &
EREFSVEHREEAFE
SRR BB B ST B B R
BEHESREEEE  EHEE
= H PN iE 3618 B a9 88 & 1 &
BRARZPENHEEE S
EEEBETE - AEESHE
FEEFER  URMEERSLE
HARNSEMEENNE R LA
EHELBLCERZ - NSRS
A AEBENELELHE
W AT ATRE A ET A B (L - &
il BRI S E R A
R WZERELBERER
HEHNNFEWR AL TE
j( °

EREAEMKEEME - B
2 P& W R TR & 1 8 (D A% 1
#R) o RERBHZ AL
365 RN+ LA ARG B AR &
B BRI RLBERBE -
BRR AR A A B WO TEH

FEIZ -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
34.2 Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 March 2019, assessed lifetime ECL rate of trade
receivables is not material as there are no recent history
of default and continuous payment received. Based
on historical and forward-looking elements specific to
the customers and the economic environment, it was
determined that no loss allowance provision is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a
significant changes in credit quality of the customers. As
at 31 March 2020, ECL allowance of HK$700,000 was
recognised for trade receivables from the furniture agency
service segment at ECL rate of 1.0% for trade receivables
that are not yet past due and 2.4% for trade receivables
that are past due within 90 days. While ECL allowance is
not material for trade receivables from the furniture sale
and consultancy services segment.

As at 31 March 2020, 70.2% (2019: 86.6%) of the total
gross trade receivables was due from a customer arisen
from the furniture agency service.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include other
receivables and bank balances and cash. In order
to minimise the credit risk of other receivables, the
management of the Group has designated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits and credit
approvals. The management would make periodic
collective and individual assessment of the recoverability
of other receivables based on historical settlement
records and past experience as well as current external
information. Other monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. If the credit risk of debt instruments is considered
to be high, collateral is required before granting the
debts to debtors. In these regards, the credit risk of
other receivables is considered to be low. Thus, no loss
allowance provision was recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2020 (2019: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
34.2 Credit risk (continued)

(ii)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

While bank balances and cash are also subject to
the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the Group
only places deposits in reputable banks and financial
institutions, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

34.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities that
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The
Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade
payables and its financial obligations, and also in respect of its
cash flow management. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants and its relationship with its bankers to
ensure that the Group maintain sufficient reserves of cash and
cash equivalents and committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

Analysed below is the Group's remaining contractual maturities
for its financial liabilities as at 31 March 2020 and 2019, based
on undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of the reporting periods) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay. When the creditor has a
choice of when the liability is settled, the liability is included on
the basis of the earliest date when the Group can be required to
pay. Where the settlement of the liability is in instalments, each
instalment is allocated to the earliest period in which the Group
is committed to pay.

BBEREERAAEETE
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RBETRAR AEENRERTE
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RebReEEMREBEARREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR . BBEBEERAAEBENE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (#)
34.3 Liquidity risk (Continued) NI FREBESEME &)
Specifically, for bank borrowings which contain a repayment BEgms SREEARTADED
on demand clause which can be exercised at the bank's sole BITENREREREROEITHE
discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based on the E ZOoMBRBEBAREERESR
earliest period in which the entity can be required to pay, that is K& F HR O I E A &R 5| B
if the lenders were ta invoke their unconditional rights to call the ERE RO EIGEER) 273887
loans with immediate effect. e
Over Total
Within 1 year but Over  contractual
1 year or on within 2years but  undiscounted Carrying
demand 2years within 5 years amount amount

MERR BBIE BB2E AHKRFHR
REX  BRER  EBRSER BeE RESE
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FET FET FET FET FET

At 31 March 2020 R202053A31A
Trade and other payables B RHMERNRIE 21,82 — — 21,82 21,824
Bank borrowings BITEE 5,704 — — 5,704 5,704
Lease liabilities HEAR 11,492 6,529 3,260 1M 20,210
Contingent consideration payable sk AL (B — 10,004 9,025 19,029 18,033
39,020 16,533 12215 67,828 65,771
At 31 March 2019 R201953A31H
Trade and other payables ESRAMERTE 11,201 — — 11,201 11,201
Bank borrowings RITEE 469 — — 469 469
Finance lease liabilities MEMEER 301 301 673 1275 1,144
Contingent consideration payable ~ f&{ 3k SA (X (B — 10,667 17,166 27,833 26,987
11971 10,968 17,839 40,778 39,801
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
34.3 Liquidity risk (Continved)

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE
(%)

MI3IRBELSRERE)

The following table summarises the maturity analysis of bank
borrowings with repayment on demand clause based on agreed
scheduled repayments set out in the bank loan agreements. The
amounts include interest payment computed using contractual
rates. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with the

TRIBBRITERIGE AN HE TS
EFEREAMATFREREE
RFRMBITEENIIOMN - ZF
ERBEBEUAAHONEAHENF S
R AEEEREREITERE

loan covenants, is up to date with the scheduled repayments
of the loans and does not consider it probable that the bank
will exercise its discretion to demand repayment for so long as
the Group continues to meet these requirements. The directors

MHER Y —EREER LR
RABAEERBEETZERE
RITHTIARATRITEAEANBEEK
BR- - EFHE ZFRITEES

believe that these bank borrowings will be repaid in accordance BERETERBHEAASF AT EE

with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the bank loan

agreements.

HEHEE -

Total

Over 1year  contractual
Within 1 year but within undiscounted Carrying
or on demand 2 years amount amount

MERR HEBIFE SHRFTR
BER R2ER BmeE BREERE

HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS 000 HKS$ 000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 March 2020 72020538318
Bank borrowings RITEE 5,768 — 5,768 5,704
At 31 March 2019 7201943 A31H
Bank borrowings wITEE 416 72 488 469

34.4 Interest rate risk

34.4 R = & b

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in the market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises
primarily from bank borrowings and lease liabilities/finance lease
liabilities. The Group's bank borrowings bearing variable rates
and fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk
and fair value interest rate risk respectively. The Group's lease
liahilities/finance lease liabilities mainly bear fixed interest rates.
The exposure to interest rates for the Group’s short term bank
deposits is considered immaterial.

MERBR RSB TANDAEE
HZRERERTHH X E B MK I
MERERE AEENFZERE
E2RERITEEREEEE BE
HERE RIBREENETER
MIRITEEDAERAEBEAZERS
TEFNERBREAABENERR
AEENEERE REMERRE
TEREEMNXRGFE - AREE
HIRITERAENFREAREM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34.
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continvea) (%)

34.4 Interest rate risk (Continued)
The effective interest rates of the Group’s borrowings at the

344 FRE R (#)
AEEMEERBRS B EEM R

MHRREERAAEBETE

reporting date were as follows: m
2020 2019
2020F 20194F
Effective Effective
interest rate HKS$ 000 interest rate HK$'000
B R A= FET BRI %= FET
Variable rate borrowings FEREEE
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 2.7% 200 4.3% 469
Fixed rate borrowings EEMEEE
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 4.5% 5504 N/A T3 A -
— Lease liabilities/Finance =~ — & &E
lease liabilities BMEMEAE 4.6% 20,210 2.7% 1,144
Total borrowings BEE 25,914 1,613
Fixed rate borrowings as EMEEE
percentage of total MBEEBS L
borrowings 99% 71%

As at 31 March 2020, if interest rate had increased/decreased

R2020F3 8318 -

CLIENS s

by 50 basis points with all other variables held constant, the
profit after income tax would have been HK$108,000 lower/
higher (2019: HK$6,700) and retained profits would have been
HK$108,000 lower/higher (2019: accumulated losses would have
been HK$6,700 higher/lower), respectively, subject to change
based on net exposure.

The assumed changes in interest rates are considered to be
reasonably possible based on observation of current market
conditions and represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rate over the next twelve
month period.

The calculations are based on a change in average market
interest rates for each period, and the financial instruments held
at each reporting date that are sensitive to changes in interest
rates. All other variables are held constant. The sensitivity
analysis included in the financial statements of the year ended 31
March 2019 has been prepared on the same basis.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 iR 5 FR A & Annual Report %R 2020

SOME RS BFrEHEMEHRRET
g BIBRFT1S B8 5 RIS 8L 4 15
HN108,0005% 7T (20194F : 6,7003% 7T)
1R B % F 8 58 > 1 51108,0007% T
(20194F « RET &5 1B 00 Rk 26,700
Bor) BT R BAEFREME °

RIEHRTHRMAE - FEEY
rrrrrrr FHWARLRTLED  TRE
FEEHRRTEABBREA
TP A B B O EP A -

EHRHEDNRESBMFHEMER
EEHURREREBAMIFEFIE
BHHERNCHIEET AR
fth B EUR BN E o B B 2019F3A31
HIEFEMNMBREMBBEED
MR AR E R o



167

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4. BERRBREERAAEBENE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) (&)
34.5 Foreign currency risk 34.5 SR B

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposures to
currency risk arise from its overseas sales and purchases, which
are primarily denominated in Euro (“EUR") and USD. These are
not the functional currencies of the group entities to which
these transactions relate. The Group has bank balances and
cash, bank borrowings and cash surrender value of life insurance
denominated in foreign currencies, primarily in EUR and USD.

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities,

SRR RS TAN R AEE
EARRRERERAINEEZEFHM
KBNERER AKENEER
RAEREESIEERRE =
ZUABTTRETTAE - RTRET
VIIRERDM P EEEENIEE
B AEBEBEERIE (2R
TERET)FHEMRTESRERS -
RITEERASRBOBHREE
(I=RC

MONEEHEMEREERBBEIRK

translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing rates, are as MEXRESBTHT:
follows:
usD EUR
ESpH & T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FExT
As at 31 March 2020 7202038318
Cash surrender value of life insurance ASRENBHRESER 1,789 —
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H b e W sk I8 3 41,975
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 579 1,630
Trade and other payables B 5 & H M ER IR (265) (6,860)
Bank borrowings RITEE (200) (5,504)
Overall net exposure B R AR FRE 2,244 31,241
As at 31 March 2019 720193 A31H
Cash surrender value of life insurance ASRENBHRESEE 1,755 —
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b e W sk I8 1,014 21,551
Bank balances and cash RITHEHB LIRS 1,196 2,944
Trade and other payables B 5 N HE AR A (165) (3,887)
Bank borrowings RITHEE (398) —
Overall net exposure R R FEE 3,402 20,608

The Group does not hedge its foreign currency risks with USD

as HK$ is pegged to USD and thus foreign exchange exposure is

considered as minimal.

ESb g Spve == 2 B N o e L
REW WASENEHHEEXT

BRENIINERER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4. BIKEREERAABETE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (%)
34.5 Foreign currency risk (Continued) 345 SN E R (2)
As at 31 March 2020, if EUR had strengthened/weakened by 720209F3A318 + fw BL T 8 T k£
5% against HK$ with all other variables held constant, the ./ T E5% + B ETA B A 2 BRI
profit after income tax would have been HK$1,304,000 higher/ g RIBRATS B % FIAG M,

lower (2019: HK$860,000) and retained profits would have been
HK$1,304,000 higher/lower (2019: accumulated losses would
have been HK$860,000 lower/higher), respectively, subject to
change based on net exposure.

measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial
position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The
hierarchy groups financial assets into three levels based on the
relative reliability of significant inputs used in measuring the fair
value of these financial assets. The fair value hierarchy has the
following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices) and not using significant
unobservable inputs; and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial
asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on
the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (&)

34.6 Fair value measurements recognised in the 306 R EMBEMR A RERD
consolidated statement of financial position NAEBETEW®R
(Continued)
The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the REETIER A RN T EEE
consolidated statement of financial position on a recurring basis WARBEFENEHREENLERE
are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows: ERARBEEBRSBENT

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

F1E F2fE #E3E ot
Notes ~ HK$'000  HK$000  HKS$S'000  HKS 000
Wi FHET FHExT FET FET

At 31 March 2020 7A202053A31H
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at fair value through & BIEZFE A LEE
profit or loss HIEMEmEE
— Cash surrender value of life — AESRBEBLY  (a)
insurance ReEE — 1,789 — 1,789
Financial liabilities - 8=N ]
Financial liabilities at fair value FHBERRANEER
through profit or loss RS R EE
— Contingent consideration — B RARE (b)
payable — — (18,033) (18,033)
At 31 March 2019 7201943 A31H
Financial assets EWMEE
Financial assets at fair value through B BEZFE QA LEE
profit or loss TIEEN /A E
— Cash surrender value of life — ASRBHBEL  (a)
insurance REEE — 1,755 — 1,755
Financial liabilities cRAaE
Financial liabilities at fair value FERESEANEER
through profit or loss M ERBE
— Contingent consideration — ER SR ARE (b)
payable — — (26,987) (26,987)
During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, there were no H E2020F R 20193 A3IB LFE -
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1, Level 2 FIE - -F2ERFIEZELEDR
and Level 3. BEIENEE -
The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose ARFTEF2BREIEAR f’i [ERED)
of measuring fair values categorised in Levels 2 and 3 are Eiﬁ&ﬁfﬁ&m?ﬁzg&#& FE? GiE
unchanged compared to the previous reporting periods and are LN &L IR T SO

described below.

(a)  Cash surrender value of life insurance (a) ASKRBRHNBIRESER
The fair value of the cash surrender value of life insurance ASRBOBHAECEBENHA
was determined based on the valuation provided by the AEBEDERSREES T
counterparty financial institution by reference to the REMNGEE L2EMBAES
quoted price of the underlying units held. BAMHREMET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020F3A31H It F &

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34.
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
34.6 Fair value measurements recognised in the

(%)

consolidated statement of financial position

(Continued)

MHRREERAAEBETE

36 REGEMBRRRERIN
AAREBEEFTE®E)

(b)  Contingent consideration payable
The valuation technique and significant unobservable
inputs of the fair value of contingent consideration

(b) ENIAKRE
NHARBAREENGE
BRIk EBATNABREEARE

payable are as follows:

Valuation technique

il 1B 52 9l

Significant unobservable inputs

EXRUBERAYE

m

Sensitivity relationship of
unobservable inputs to fair value
AABEHFTEHERAREN

Probability-weighted payout
approach

Probability of achieving the projected
revenue and net profit before tax
of Italiving for the years ending 31
December 2020 and 2021

The higher of the probability, the higher of
the fair value, and vice versa

B 2R D #E 2R

=z =

H F=20204F X201 128318 1E

CAREBEEMES RZI

CEEURERAS B REH A

A A5 A B 4 =
Discount rate

R

The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the Group's
contingent consideration payable classified within Level 3

The higher of the discount rate, the lower
of the fair value, and vice versa
wREYR  AREBEBRK Rz

AEBDBEAABERES
SEHENIARENERE

of the fair value hierarchy is as follows: HEERWAT:
Contingent
consideration
payable
ERRARE
HK$'000
T T
At 1 April 2018 7201844 518 —
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 32) U B8 — BB R R (87 7£32) 26,872
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss REZBANAIAEEBEEZS 115
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 }20194E3 A318 K 201944 A1H 26,987
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss REZBERANAALBEEE S 3,385
Reclassification (Note 21(b)) EX DM E21) (12,339)
At 31 March 2020 7202038318 18,033

Fair value change on contingent consideration payable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3A31H L F

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group when managing capital are to safeguard the
ability of the Group in continuing as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’ value in
the long term.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and makes
adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions. The Group
monitors its capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio. The
gearing ratio is calculated based on total interest-bearing borrowings
divided by the total equity at each reporting date. In order to maintain or
adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, raise new debt financing or sell assets
to reduce debt.

The gearing ratio at each reporting date was:

35.

EXERE
AEBEREANBERREAEEGE
REMRED  BUERBRREREREAE
S ARRNE  TAFKREELAR
BUARAKRERERREEE-

AREBEERE R ERRE  LEERL
BERAZCAELRAE - AKERBEER
BLEREREARE - EERBLEERIE
EWEANBFTESIEERARERTHE -
REFHFHBZLE  NEETEAER
BRIRMNHRE S - BITHRMD
MEBREXHEEENRDES -

s
g5

REREANEERBLERR:

2020 2019
2020F 20194
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET

Total interest-bearing borrowings B EEE
Bank borrowings RITEE 5,704 469
Lease liabilities/Finance lease liabilities HERE MEMEAR 20,210 1,144
25,914 1,613
Total Equity R 55,545 50,407
Gross gearing ratio (%) HEESBLLE(%) 46.7% 3.2%

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the operating results has been
affected by the outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease (the “COVID-19")
in early 2020. A series of precautionary and control measures have
been and continued to be implemented across the world, including
certain level of restriction and controls over the travelling of people and
traffic arrangements, quarantine of certain residents, heightening of
hygiene and epidemic prevention requirements in shops and offices and
encouraged social distancing.

Following to the spread of COVID-19 subsequent to year end,
management has also taken relevant actions to minimise the
unfavourable impact. The Group will pay close attention to the
development of COVID-19 and evaluate its impact on the financial
position and operating results of the Group.

36.

WREHREE
HE2020F33HEFENKLEERT
20204 ¥1/& 2 2w ik & ([CoVID-19)) 2
2o pREMWBEET R —KIBIEHEE
BRYRERZBLHEE S TR
25 HETERETHRE  RamER
MAENHERMEERURRELR
BB -

BEE COVID-I9ORNFREERL - BEIEERD
RBEETE  SEREEETE - K&
%% Y] 8 B COVID19R) B & - I 3T 1 &
HBAREEPBRARNLBEXRENTE -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBEME

FINANCIAL SUMMARY BB E
A summary of results, and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial AEBRBEREAVREFENXEUREEREE
years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements is set out below: MEDRESEELEZGAMBRE W T:

RESULTS E4
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
2020 2019F 2018F 20174 20165
HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS$ 000
FET FHET FHET FET FHET
Revenue Uy & 91,103 85,408 79,073 71,316 81877
Cost of sales HERM A (25,842) (27,497) (25,515) (26,303) 27,029)
Gross profit EX 65,261 57911 53,058 51,013 54,848
Other income Hittg A 155 204 134 286 272
Selling and marketing expenses HERMHEERS (33,652) (36,982) (34,128) (32,806) (30,148)
Administrative expenses THREX (19,361) (18,821) (11,597) (12,118 (10,940
Fair value change on contingent ERIARENAAEEES
consideration payable (3,385) - - - -
Provision for impairment of trade ESREWGBRERRE
receivables (700) - - - -
Listing-related expenses FiEER X - - (15,747) 10,066) (1,269)
Share-based compensation expense IABROAEERNBEERS - - (656) (2,331) (2,487)
Finance costs KA (141) (269) (316) (140) (165)
Profit /(Loss) before income tax RSB ARR,/ (FE) 1571 2,043 (8,752) 6,162) 10,091
Income tax expense FERAZ (2.361) (951) (1,350) 986) (2.297)
Profit /(Loss) and total comprehensive £RAAFEEEFA
income/(loss) for the year EEER/ (BE)R
attributable to equity holdersof the 2E W/ (FB) 4 E
Company 5216 1,092 (10,102) (7,148) 779
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
2020 20194 20184 20174 20165
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FHET FHET FHET FHET
Total assets BEE 129,128 101,703 64,716 29,836 43,061
Total liabilities BEGE (73,583) (51,296) (15,401) (18479) (11478)
Total equity BRER 55,545 50,407 49,315 11,357 31,583

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019, using the modified ~ ZAN52 [ 72019454 518 LA A& BB 1 V& 91 46 FE
retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not & /& B % 3R &5 MBI S£165% - L & L& E
restated and the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 is recognised ~ FIIf #EE 5| - M A E B E BB R &S| E

in accumulated losses at the date of initial application. BB ERVIBERBHERGEER
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